AGENDA
BOARD OF SUPERVISORS
SONOMA COUNTY
575 ADMINISTRATION DRIVE, ROOM 102A
SANTA ROSA, CA 95403

TUESDAY OCTOBER 21, 2014 8:30 A.M.
(The regular afternoon session commences at 2:00 p.m.)

Susan Gorin First District Veronica A. Ferguson County Administrator

David Rabbitt Second District Bruce Goldstein County Counsel

Shirlee Zane Third District

Mike McGuire Fourth District

Efren Carrillo Fifth District

This is a simultaneous meeting of the Board of Supervisors of Sonoma County, the Board of Directors of the
Sonoma County Water Agency, the Board of Commissioners of the Community Development Commission, the
Board of Directors of the Sonoma County Agricultural Preservation and Open Space District, the Board of Directors
of the Northern Sonoma County Air Pollution Control District, the Sonoma County Public Finance Authority, and as
the governing board of all special districts having business on the agenda to be heard this date. Each of the
foregoing entities is a separate and distinct legal entity.

The Board welcomes you to attend its meetings which are regularly scheduled each Tuesday at 8:30 a.m. Your
interest is encouraged and appreciated.

AGENDAS AND MATERIALS: Agendas and most supporting materials are available on the Board’s website at
http://www.sonoma-county.org/board/. Due to legal, copyright, privacy or policy considerations, not all materials
are posted online. Materials that are not posted are available for public inspection between 8:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m.,
Monday through Friday, at 575 Administration Drive, Room 100A, Santa Rosa, CA.

SUPPLEMENTAL MATERIALS: Materials related to an item on this agenda submitted to the Board after
distribution of the agenda packet are available for public inspection in the Board of Supervisors office at 575
Administration Drive, Room 100A, Santa Rosa, CA, during normal business hours.

DISABLED ACCOMMODATION: If you have a disability which requires an accommodation, an alternative
format, or requires another person to assist you while attending this meeting, please contact the Clerk of the Board at
(707) 565-2241, as soon as possible to ensure arrangements for accommodation.

Public Transit Access to the County Administration Center:

Sonoma County Transit: Rt. 20, 30, 44, 48, 60, 62

Santa Rosa CityBus: Rt. 14

Golden Gate Transit: Rt. 80

For transit information call (707) 576-RIDE or 1-800-345-RIDE or visit or http://www.sctransit.com/

APPROVAL OF THE CONSENT CALENDAR
The Consent Calendar includes routine financial and administrative actions that are usually approved by a single
majority vote. There will be no discussion on these items prior to voting on the motion unless Board Members or
the public request specific items be discussed and/or removed from the Consent Calendar.

PUBLIC COMMENT
Any member of the audience desiring to address the Board on a matter on the agenda: Please walk to the podium
and after receiving recognition from the Chair, please state your name and make your comments. In order that all
interested parties have an opportunity to speak, please be brief and limit your comments to the subject under
discussion. Each person is usually granted 3 minutes to speak; time limitations are at the discretion of the Chair.
While members of the public are welcome to address the Board, under the Brown Act, Board members may not
deliberate or take action on items not on the agenda, and generally may only listen.


http:http://www.sctransit.com
http://www.sonoma-county.org/board

October 21, 2014
8:30 AAM. CALL TO ORDER

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA
(Items may be added or withdrawn from the agenda consistent with State law)

BOARD MEMBER ANNOUNCEMENTS

CONSENT CALENDAR
(Items 1 through 42)

PRESENTATIONS/GOLD RESOLUTIONS
(Items 1 through 7)

PRESENTATIONS AT THE BOARD MEETING

Adopt a Gold Resolution honoring Red Ribbon week. (Second District)

Present Certificates of Honor to the generous sponsors of the Schulz Celebrity Golf Classic held
on June 3, 2014, that raised $750,000 to benefit Sonoma County Children's Charities.
(Fourth District)

Adopt a Gold Resolution recognizing Gail Ahlas for her contributions to the Roseland
community throughout her twenty years of pioneering service to the Roseland School District.
(Fifth District)

Adopt a Gold Resolution recognizing the funders and partners who support the Sonoma County
Youth Ecology Corps. (Human Services)

PRESENTATIONS AT A DIFFERENT DATE

Adopt a Gold Resolution recognizing the Jewish Community Center upon their sesquicentennial
- 150 years anniversary. (Second District)

Adopt a Gold Resolution recognizing the Northwestern Pacific Railroad Depot upon their
centennial -100 year anniversary. (Second District)

Adopt a Gold Resolution honoring the North Bay Children’s Center on the Occasion of its 25"
Anniversary. (Second District)



10.

October 21, 2014
CONSENT CALENDAR (Continued)

AGRICULTURAL PRESERVATION AND OPEN SPACE DISTRICT
(Directors: Gorin, Rabbitt, Zane, McGuire, Carrillo)

Fitch Mountain Acquisition -
(A) Adopt a Resolution making certain findings and Approving the phased acquisition of fee title

to certain property on Fitch Mountain for transfer to the City of Healdsburg subject to a
conservation easement and recreation conservation covenant held by the District.

(B) Authorize an exchange of conservation easement interests pursuant to Public Resources Code
section 5540.5 to facilitate the acquisition.

(C) Authorize the amendment of an existing conservation easement on the property.

(D) Authorize the President of the Board to execute all documents to be recorded in connection
with the acquisition, easement exchange, and easement amendment.

(E) Delegate authority to the District’s General Manager to take all necessary and appropriate
action to complete the transaction, and

(F) Dedicate the conservation easement to open space purposes pursuant to Public Resources
Code section 5540. (Fourth District)

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT COMMISSION
(Directors: Gorin, Rabbitt, Zane, McGuire, Carrillo)

AND
BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

Concurrent approval for:

(A) The Board of Supervisors and Board of Commissioners to approve the Fiscal Year 2015-16
Funding Policies: Federal Community Development Block Grant, HOME and Emergency
Solutions Grant Funding Programs, Community Services Funding Program, and Low- and
Moderate-Income Housing Asset Fund.

(B) The Board of Supervisors to authorize submittal of Community Development Block Grant
(CDBG) project funding requests to the Sonoma County Community Development
Commission (CDC) by the Department of Transportation and Public Works, General
Services Department, Regional Parks Department, and the Economic Development Board,
approve submittal of CDBG project funding requests by the Sonoma County Fairgrounds as
County-Owned Public Facilities projects, for consideration during the CDC-administered
Consolidated Plan funding process, and ratify the execution of non-substantive amendments
to the “Urban County” Joint Powers Agreement.

(C) The Board of Commissioners to authorize submittal one CDBG project funding request and
one HOME Investment Partnerships funding request by the Sonoma County Community
Development Commission for consideration during the Fiscal Year 2015-16 CDC-
administered Consolidated Plan funding process.

SONOMA COUNTY WATER AGENCY
(Directors: Gorin, Rabbitt, Zane, McGuire, Carrillo)

Authorize the Water Agency’s General Manager to terminate the 404 Aviation Boulevard Roof
Replacement contract for convenience and authorize payment to the contractor of termination
costs not to exceed $5,000. (Fourth District)



11.

12.

October 21, 2014
CONSENT CALENDAR (Continued)

Water Conservation and Drought Public Awareness Survey 2014 —

Authorize the Water Agency's General Manager to execute an agreement with EMC Research,
Inc. to provide preparation and implementation of public opinion surveys for the amount of
$33,000, through on June 30, 2015.

SONOMA COUNTY WATER AGENCY
(Directors: Gorin, Rabbitt, Zane, McGuire, Carrillo)

AND
SONOMA VALLEY COUNTY SANITATION DISTRICT
(Directors: Gorin, Rabbitt, and Rouse)

Federal Emergency Management Agency Grant Awards -

(A)Authorize the General Manager to accept for the Sonoma County Water Agency an
additional $1,000,000 in Hazard Mitigation Grant Program funds for the Santa Rosa
Aqueduct Project.

(B) Authorize the General Manager to accept for the Sonoma County Water Agency a California
Pre-Disaster Mitigation grant award from Federal Emergency Management Agency in the
amount of $1,930,181 for the Isolation Valve Replacement Project.

(C) Authorize the General Manager, on behalf of the Sonoma Valley County Sanitation District,
to accept a California Pre-Disaster Mitigation grant award from Federal Emergency
Management Agency in the amount of $75,000 for the preparation of a Local Hazard
Mitigation Plan.

(D) Adopt a Resolution identifying the General Manager, and by delegation from the General
Manager, the Chief Engineer or Assistant General Manager, as duly authorized
representatives of the Sonoma County Water Agency or, as applicable, the Sonoma Valley
County Sanitation District, to receive grant funding, to provide the assurances and
agreements required by the funding agencies, and to execute any amendments to such
assurances or agreements, provided the amendments have no cost to the Water Agency or the
District and do not substantially change the scope of work. (2/3 vote required)



13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

October 21, 2014
CONSENT CALENDAR (Continued)

SONOMA VALLEY COUNTY SANITATION DISTRICT
(Directors: Gorin, Rabbitt, and Rouse)

Proposition 84 Round 2 Grant —

(A) Authorize the Sonoma Valley County Sanitation District’s General Manager, or his designee,
to execute a Local Project Sponsor Agreement with Association of Bay Area Governments
for the receipt of Proposition 84 Integrated Regional Water Management grant funds in the
amount of $1,020,000 for the North Bay Water Reuse Program — Sonoma Valley County
Sanitation District 5th Street East/McGill Road Recycled Water Project; prepare the
necessary data, conduct investigations, execute and submit all documents which may be
necessary under the grant program; execute and submit any further agreements and
amendments necessary under the grant program, provided they have no cost to the Sonoma
Valley County Sanitation District and do not substantially change the project.

(B) Authorize the Water Agency staff to negotiate the acquisition of easements on behalf of the
Sonoma Valley County Sanitation District as required for construction of the 5th Street East
Recycled Water Project, for the appraised value of the property rights.

(C) Authorize the General Manager to offer to reimburse property owners up to $5,000 in cost
for an independent appraisal of property rights and to reimburse the property owners
reasonable cost upon receipt of the copy of the contracted appraisal in accordance with Code
of Civil Procedure Section 1263.025.

(D) Authorize the General Manager to execute agreements to acquire the Property Rights on
behalf of the District; to execute certificates of acceptance on behalf of the District; and to
execute such other documents and take such other actions as are necessary to close the
purchase transactions.(2/3 vote required) (First District)

AUDITOR-CONTROLLER-TREASURER-TAX COLLECTOR/
GENERAL SERVICES/REGIONAL PARKS

Authorize the sale of properties at 405 Horizon Way (APN 043-280-028) and 3399 Moorland

Avenue (APN 043-280-027) located in Moorland Community for Public Use As a Park —

(A) Adopt a Resolution authorizing the sale of Tax Defaulted Property from ACTTC to the
County of Sonoma, such sale to become effective following State review and public notice.
(Fifth District)

BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

Approve the Updated Board Meeting Calendar for 2014.

COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR

Authorize the County Administrator to execute a Memorandum of Understanding with the
Sonoma County Employees Retirement Association to provide for studies to be performed by the
Association’s actuaries with a maximum County cost of $40,000.

FIRE AND EMERGENCY SERVICES

Adopt a 30-day extension of the Resolution proclaiming an earthquake emergency in Sonoma
County.



18.

19.

20.

21.

October 21, 2014
CONSENT CALENDAR (Continued)

GENERAL SERVICES

Authorize the General Services Director to execute a Revocable License Agreement with West
County Health Centers, Inc. for the use of a portion of the Occidental Community Center parking
lot located at 3920 Bohemian Highway to accommodate storage of an emergency supplies trailer
for a term of five years, and in lieu of monetary consideration, based upon findings pursuant to
Government Code Section 26227, that the license is necessary to meet the social needs of the
population of the County and that the County does not need the licensed premises during the
term of the License. (Fifth District)

Amendments to Chapter 2 of the County Code, Leasing and Licensing of County Property —

(A) Adopt a Resolution, reading the title, and waiving further reading of, and

(B) Introduce for Adoption an Ordinance amending Article XVI1I of Chapter 2 of the County
Code to re-authorize and expand delegation of authority for Department Heads to execute
certain leases and licenses valued at less than $10,000 per month and for a term of up to 10
years. Such leases are excluded from bidding requirements and may convey interest to other
public agencies for up to one year. This ordinance shall be effective for a period not-to-
exceed five years. (First Reading)

GENERAL SERVICES/ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT BOARD

Lease expansion for Economic Development Board for the Creative Sonoma Arts Program, the
Workforce Investment Board Business Services Program, and the Bilingual Business Assistance
Program —

(A) Authorize the Clerk to publish a notice declaring the Board’s intention to execute a lease
amendment with Hilltop Medical Center, LLC, successor-in-interest to Madalyn, LLC, for
the Economic Development Board/Creative Sonoma Arts Program, the Workforce
Investment Board Business Services Program, and the Bilingual Business Assistance
Program, for approximately 1,747 sq. ft., in the building located at 141 Stony Circle, Santa
Rosa, for an additional $2,533 per month, or an additional $20,265 per year, for a term to
expire on October 31, 2017, with options to extend the term through October 31, 2021,
concurrent with the existing lease.

(B) Authorize the General Services Director to execute a letter-agreement with Hilltop Medical
Center, LLC, whereby the Landlord of said building will prepare architectural construction
drawings and apply for building permits in advance of the execution of the proposed lease
amendment, and the County agrees to reimburse such costs, not to exceed $5,500, if the
proposed lease amendment is not executed by November 25, 2014.

GENERAL SERVICES/HEALTH SERVICES

Authorize the Chair to enter into the Agreement to Terminate Lease with Sutter West Bay
Hospitals, a California nonprofit public corporation doing business as Sutter Medical Center of
Santa Rosa as Tenant. (Third District)



October 21, 2014
CONSENT CALENDAR (Continued)

GENERAL SERVICES/SHERIFF

22.  Authorize the General Services Director to execute the following agreements needed for
installation and operation of communications improvements at the Moonraker Sea Ranch
telecommunications site:

(A) A license agreement between the County of Sonoma and GTE Mobilnet of California
Limited Partnership, a California limited partnership doing business as Verizon Wireless, for
installation and operation of communications equipment on a portion of the communications
tower at the Moonraker Sea Ranch telecommunications site located at 33012 Timber Ridge
Road, The Sea Ranch, Sonoma County, for an initial term of five years at an annual rental
cost of $14,400, with four extension options of five years each.

(B) After execution of the license agreement identified above, a ground lease between the County
of Sonoma and The Sea Ranch Association, a California non-profit mutual benefit
corporation, for installation and operation of communications improvements at the
Moonraker Sea Ranch telecommunications site located at 33012 Timber Ridge Road, The
Sea Ranch, Sonoma County, for an initial term of fifteen years at an annual rental cost of
$21,600, with two extension options of five years each.

HUMAN RESOURCES

AND

SONOMA COUNTY WATER AGENCY

(Directors: Gorin, Rabbitt, Zane, McGuire, Carrillo)
AND

AGRICULTURAL PRESERVATION AND OPEN SPACE DISTRICT

(Directors: Gorin, Rabbitt, Zane, McGuire, Carrillo)

AND
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT COMMISSION

(Directors: Gorin, Rabbitt, Zane, McGuire, Carrillo)

AND
NORTHERN SONOMA COUNTY AIR POLLUTION CONTROL DISTRICT
(Directors: Gorin, Rabbitt, Zane, McGuire, Carrillo)

23.  Adopt a Concurrent Resolution amending Salary Resolution 95-0926, to incorporate
administrative corrections.



October 21, 2014
CONSENT CALENDAR (Continued)

HUMAN RESOURCES
AND
SONOMA COUNTY WATER AGENCY
(Directors: Gorin, Rabbitt, Zane, McGuire, Carrillo)

24, Miscellaneous Classification and Compensation Changes — Water Agency

(A) Adopt a Concurrent Resolution amending the Memorandum of Understanding between the
County and SEIU Local 1021, Appendix A — Salary Tables, updating and re-titling the
classification specification of Water Agency Programs Specialist to Water Agency Programs
Specialist 11, and adopting and establishing job classifications and salaries for Water Agency
Senior Programs Specialist, Water Agency Programs Specialist I, Water Agency Senior
Environmental Specialist, Water Agency Environmental Specialist 11, Water Agency
Environmental Specialist I, Water Agency Resource Programs Technician Il, and Water
Agency Resource Programs Technician I, effective October 21, 2014.

(B) Adopt a Concurrent Resolution amending the Salary Resolution 95-0926, Appendix A —
Salary Tables, updating and re-titling the classification specification of Water Agency
Division Manager - Environmental Resources to Water Agency Division Manager -
Environmental Resources and Public Affairs, Water Agency Governmental Affairs
Coordinator to Water Agency Governmental Affairs Manager, Environmental Resources
Coordinator to Water Agency Environmental Resources Manager, and Water Agency Chief
Engineer to Water Agency Chief Engineer/Director of Groundwater Management and
adjusting the salary; adopting and establishing a job classification and salary for Water
Agency Principal Environmental Specialist; and approving the updated classification
specification of Water Agency Principal Program Specialist, effective October 21, 2014.

(C) Adopt a Resolution amending the allocation list for the Sonoma County Water Agency to add
4.0 full-time equivalent Water Agency Principal Environmental Specialist, 4.0 full-time
equivalent Water Agency Senior Programs Specialist, 7.0 full-time equivalent Water Agency
Senior Environmental Specialist, 5.0 Full-Time Equivalent Water Agency Environmental
Specialist I, and 4.0 full-time equivalent Water Agency Resource Programs Technician I,
positions; and, pursuant to the Water Agency Personnel Policy, Section V, to reclassify and
promote incumbents, in 4.0 full-time equivalent Principal Environmental Specialist
classifications to Water Agency Principal Environmental Specialist, 5.75 full-time equivalent
Senior Environmental Specialist classifications to Water Agency Senior Environmental
Specialist, 2.0 full-time equivalent Environmental Specialist classifications to Water Agency
Environmental Specialist Il; and to delete 4.0 Full-Time Equivalent Principal Environmental
Specialist, 9.75 full-time equivalent Senior Environmental Specialist, 3.0 Full-Time
Equivalent Environmental Specialist, and 2.0 full-time equivalent Water Agency Public
Information Officer allocations, effective October 21, 2014.

HUMAN SERVICES

25.  Authorize the Director of Human Services to amend a service provider agreement from $18,291
to $28,291 for Fiscal Year 2014-15 with LPC Consulting Associates Inc., to deliver a Collective
Impact Evaluation Report measuring the impacts of the HSD Child Abuse Prevention Services.



26.

217.

28.

29.

30.

31.

32.

33.

October 21, 2014
CONSENT CALENDAR (Continued)

MISCELLANEQOUS

Approve the Minutes of the Meeting of September 16, 2014 for the following: Agricultural
Preservation and Open Space District, Community Development Commission, Northern Sonoma
County Air Pollution Control District, Occidental County Sanitation District, Russian River
County Sanitation District, South Park County Sanitation District, Sonoma County Water
Agency, and Board of Supervisors; and Approve the Minutes of the Meeting of September 16,
2014 for the Sonoma Valley County Sanitation District.

PERMIT AND RESOURCE MANAGEMENT DEPARTMENT

Authorize the Chair to execute acceptance of a Grant Deed of Protective Easement required in
connection with previously approved Lot Line Adjustment and Minor Subdivision for the Dutton
Ranch Family Partnership located at 8745 and 9050 Poplar Way, Sebastopol; APN 061-170-018,
077-140-046 and 077-140-047. (Fifth District)

Adopt a Resolution approving and accepting Parcel Map No. PLP 05-0002 for Sutter West Bay
Hospitals, A California Nonprofit Public Benefit Corporation, and making findings in
accordance with the Subdivision Map Act. (Fourth District)

PROBATION

Authorize the Chief Probation Officer to execute Amendment No. 1 to a Memorandum of
Understanding with the City of Santa Police Department for reimbursement of costs associated
with the Santa Rose Police Department Safe Streets Task Force Officer position. The
amendment establishes a not to exceed reimbursement limit of $94,762 for Fiscal Year 2014-15,
and extends the term from June 30, 2014 to June 30, 2015.

TRANSPORTATION AND PUBLIC WORKS

Authorize the Chair to sign an agreement with HDR Engineering, Inc. for engineering design
services for the King Ridge Road Bridge over Big Austin Creek in the amount of $409,443,
which includes a 10% contingency, with a term ending date of June 30, 2017. (Fifth District)

Authorize the Chair to execute and Adopt a Resolution regarding the Agreement for Landowner
Fair Share Contributions to Future County Road Improvement Project with Sutter West Bay
Hospitals for its fair share payment towards the future road improvements listed within Exhibit
“A” to the Agreement. (Fourth District)

Adopt a Resolution authorizing the Director of Transportation and Public Works to execute the
Agreement with the State of California, Department of Transportation, to provide maintenance of
various improvements to Highway 12 from Agua Caliente Road to Boyes Boulevard as part of
the State Route 12 Corridor Improvement Project Phase 2 Stage 2 (C08002). (First District)

Accept the bus shelter easement, and terms therein, offered by Sutter West Bay Hospitals to
supplement an existing public sidewalk easement to allow for the installation, maintenance,
repair, replacement and operation of a public bus shelter, together with an appurtenant electrical
conduit easement. (Fourth District)



34.

35.

36.

37.

38.

39.

40.

41.

42.

October 21, 2014
CONSENT CALENDAR (Continued)

TRANSPORTATION AND PUBLIC WORKS

Approve and Adopt a Resolution authorizing the Airport Manager to execute the following
agreements for activities upon the Airport: (1) month-to-month leases and/or licenses for Airport
property on approved terms; (2) operating agreements for commercial aeronautical activity at the
Airport on a month-to-month basis or up to a twelve month term; (3) operational agreements
with governmental entities regarding the safe and efficient operation of the Airport not requiring
expenditure of County funds; and (4) concession agreements on a month-to-month basis or up to
an eighteen-month term for goods and services to be provided at the Airport. (4/5 vote required)
(Fourth District)

Authorize the Chair to execute the agreement with Sutter Santa Rosa Regional Hospital to allow
its employees to use their employee identification card as a Sonoma County Transit pass. This
agreement requires Sutter Santa Rosa Regional Hospital to reimburse Sonoma County Transit
the equivalent of a two-zone adult fare for each employee trip taken. (Fourth District)

Authorize the Chair to approve and execute Amendment #1 to the LSA Associates, Inc.
Agreement increasing the amount by $72,323 for a total cost of $884,933 and a term ending
December 31, 2015 for mitigation compliance services related to the Runway Safety Area
Project. (4/5 vote required) (Fourth District)

APPOINTMENTS/REAPPOINTMENTS
(Items 37 - 42)

Approve the appointment of Vicky Kumpfer to the Art Advisory Committee for a term of three
years, beginning October 21, 2014 through October 21, 2017. (Third District)

Approve the appointment of Steve Klick to the Windsor Fire Protection District Board for a term
of four years, beginning October 1, 2014 through September 30, 2018. (Fourth District)

Approve the reappointment of Jim Kokalis to the Monte Rio Fire Protection District for a term of
four years, beginning December 5, 2014 through December 7, 2018. (Fifth District)

Approve the appointment of Louis Ganzler to the Commission on Human Rights for a term of
two years, beginning October 21, 2014 through October 21, 2016. (First District)

Adopt a Resolution appointing the Assistant Treasurer-Tax Collector and Investment Debt
Manager as members to the California County Tobacco Securitization Agency, a Joint Powers
Authority, to serve at the pleasure of the Board. (Auditor-Controller-Treasurer-Tax Collector)

Restructuring and Appointments to the Youth Council —

(A) Restructure the Youth Council to add one new Job Corps seat.

(B) Appoint Oscar Guajardo to the Youth Council for a term of one year, beginning October 21,
2014 through October 21, 2015.

(C) Appoint Clearnise Bullard to the Youth Council for a term of one year, beginning October
21, 2014 through October 21, 2015. (Human Services)

10



V.

43.

44,

October 21, 2014

REGULAR CALENDAR
(Items 43 through 47)

AGRICULTURAL PRESERVATION AND OPEN SPACE DISTRICT
(Directors: Gorin, Rabbitt, Zane, McGuire, Carrillo)

AND
BOARD OF SUPERVISORS/REGIONAL PARKS

Adopt Resolutions of the Board of Supervisors and the Board of Directors of the Sonoma County
Agricultural Preservation and Open Space District, taking the necessary actions for the County to
acquire the Curreri Property in fee, and for the District to concurrently acquire a conservation
easement and recreation covenant. (4/5 vote required) (First District)

GENERAL SERVICES

Establish the Sonoma County Property Assessed Clean Energy (PACE) Financing Marketplace
to allow property owners in the unincorporated area of Sonoma County to participate in
additional financing programs for water and energy efficiency upgrades and the installation of
renewable energy by:

(A) Authorizing the Director of General Services to execute Agreements for Collaborative
Services between the County and CaliforniaFIRST and California HERO to provide PACE
financing options to County property owners;

(B) Approving an amendment to the Western Riverside Council of Governments Joint Powers
Agreement and authorizing the Chair to execute such amendment to add the County of
Sonoma as an Associate Member in order to authorize the County’s participation in the
California HERO Program; and

(C) Adopting the required resolutions allowing residents in the unincorporated areas of Sonoma
County to participate in the CaliforniaFIRST and California HERO PACE financing products
made available through the Financing Marketplace.

a. Resolution of The Board of Supervisors of The County of Sonoma, State Of California,
consenting to inclusion of properties within the County’s unincorporated area in the
California HERO Program to finance distributed generation renewable energy sources,
energy and water efficiency improvements and electric vehicle charging infrastructure
and approving the amendment to a certain joint powers agreement related thereto; and

b. Resolution of the Board of Supervisors of the County of Sonoma, State Of California,
authorizing the County of Sonoma to join the CaliforniaFIRST Program; Authorizing the
California Statewide Communities Development Authority to accept applications from
property owners, conduct contractual assessment proceedings and levy contractual
assessments within the unincorporated territory of the county; and Authorizing related
actions.

11



45.

46.

47.

October 21, 2014
REGULAR CALENDAR (Continued)

HUMAN SERVICES

Unmet Needs 2.0 -
(A) Accept the report entitled Strengthening Community Connections, the 2014 Unmet Needs

Challenge.

(B) Adopt a Resolution adjusting the Fiscal Year 2014-15 budget to recognize unanticipated
revenues/reimbursements and increase expenditure appropriations due to increased state and
federal funding allocations.

(C) Adopt a Resolution amending the Human Service Department’s position allocation list,
increasing full-time equivalent positions associated with increased funding allocations by
25.0 FTEs effective November 1, 2014 and 60.5 FTEs effective January 1, 2015. (4/5 vote
required)

BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

Authorize the Board to waive day use fees of $7 per vehicle for eligible military personnel and
dependents for Veterans Day weekend, starting on Friday, November 7, 2014 through Monday,
November 10, 2014. (Regional Parks/Human Services)

Authorize Board sponsorship in the amount of $2,500 for the Operation Access medical

volunteers event “Healthy Spirits — A Celebration of Operation Access Medical VVolunteers” on
December 9, 2014. (Third District)

12



48.

49.

50.

51.

October 21, 2014

CLOSED SESSION CALENDAR
(Items 48 through 51)

The Board of Supervisors will consider the following in closed session: Conference with Legal
Counsel — Existing Litigation — Friends of Lafferty Park, et al, v. County of Sonoma, et al.,
Sonoma County Superior Court Case No. SCV-253148

The Board of Supervisors will consider the following in closed session: Conference with Legal
Counsel — Existing Litigation — Estate of Andy Lopez, by and through successors in interest,
Rodrigo Lopez and Sujay Cruz, and Rodrigo Lopez and Sujay Cruz, individually, vs. Erick
Gelhaus, County of Sonoma, Does 1 through 10, inclusive. (Gov’t. Code Section 54956.9(d)(1)).

The Board of Supervisors will consider the following in closed session: Public Employee
Performance Evaluation — Economic Development Board Director. (Gov’t. Code Section
54957(b)(1)).

The Board of Supervisors will consider the following in closed session: Public Employee
Performance Evaluation — Regional Parks Director. (Gov’t. Code Section 54957(b)(1)).

13



VI.

52.

53.

54.

55.

56.

October 21, 2014

REGULAR AFTERNOON CALENDAR
(Items 52 through 56)

2:00 P.M. - RECONVENE FROM CLOSED SESSION
Report on Closed Session.

PUBLIC COMMENT ON MATTERS NOT LISTED ON THE AGENDA (Comments are
restricted to matters within the Board’s jurisdiction. The Board will hear public comments at this time for up to
thirty minutes. Please be brief and limit your comments to three minutes. Any additional public comments will be
heard at the conclusion of the meeting. While members of the public are welcome to address the Board, under the
Brown Act, Board members may not deliberate or take action on items not on the agenda, and generally may only
listen.)

Permit and Resource Management Department: Review and possible action on the following:
a) Acts and Determinations of Planning Commission/Board of Zoning Adjustments

b) Acts and Determinations of Project Review and Advisory Committee

c) Acts and Determinations of Design Review Committee

d) Acts and Determinations of Landmarks Commission

e) Administrative Determinations of the Director of Permit and Resource Management

COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR

Status Report from the Community and Local Law Enforcement Task Force.
ADJOURNMENTS
NOTE: The next regular meeting will be held on October 28, 2014.

Upcoming Hearings (All dates tentative until each agenda is finalized)

1. December 2™ (PM) - General Plan Amendment/Zone Change, ZCE13-0003.

14



County of Sonoma
Agenda Item
Summary Report

Clerk of the Board
575 Administration Drive
Santa Rosa, CA 95403

Agenda Item Number: 1
(This Section for use by Clerk of the Board Only.)

To: Board of Supervisors

Board Agenda Date: October 21, 2014

Vote Requirement: Majority

Department or Agency Name(s): Board of Supervisors

Staff Name and Phone Number:

Supervisor David Rabbitt, 707/565-2241

Supervisorial District(s):

Second District

Title: Gold Resolution

Recommended Actions:

Resolution of the Board of Supervisors Proclaiming October 22-31, 2014 as Red Ribbon Week in Sonoma
County with the Theme “Love Yourself, Be Drug Free”

Executive Summary:

Prior Board Actions:

Strategic Plan Alignment

Goal 4: Civic Services and Engagement

Fiscal Summary - FY 14-15

Expenditures

Funding Source(s)

Budgeted Amount S S
Add Appropriations Reqd. S State/Federal S
S Fees/Other S
S Use of Fund Balance S
S Contingencies S
S S
Total Expenditure S Total Sources S

Revision No. 20140617-1




Narrative Explanation of Fiscal Impacts (If Required):

Staffing Impacts

Position Title
(Payroll Classification)

Monthly Salary
Range
(A—1Step)

Additions
(Number)

Deletions
(Number)

Narrative Explanation of Staffing Impacts (If Required):

Attachments:

Related Items “On File” with the Clerk of the Board:

Revision No. 20140617-1




County of Sonoma
State of California

Item Number:

Date: October 21, 2014 Resolution Number:

-
4/5 Vote Required

Resolution of the Board of Supervisors of the County of Sonoma, State of California,
Proclaiming October 22 -31, 2014 as Red Ribbon Week in Sonoma County with the Theme

“Love Yourself, Be Drug Free”

Whereas, Alcohol and other drug abuse in this nation has reached epidemic stages; and

Whereas, It is imperative that visible, unified prevention education efforts by
community members be launched to eliminate the demand for drugs; and

Whereas, the McDowell Drug Task force joins with the National Family Partnership
(NFP) in sponsoring celebrating the Red Ribbon Celebration which is the largest drug
prevention program in the nation reaching millions of young people during Red Ribbon
Week; and

Whereas, The National Red Ribbon Campaign will be celebrated in every community in
America during Red Ribbon Week with a theme this year of “Love Yourself, Be Drug
Free”; and

Whereas, Business, government, parents, law enforcement, media, medical, religious
institutions, schools, senior citizens, service organizations and youth will demonstrate
their commitment to healthy drug-free lifestyles by wearing and displaying Red Ribbons
during this week long campaign.

Now, Therefore, Be It Resolved that the Sonoma County Board of Supervisors proclaims
October 22 -31, 2014 as Red Ribbon Week in Sonoma County with the theme of “Love
Yourself, Be Drug Free” thanks the McDowell Drug Task Force for its longstanding work
and further, encourages participation in drug prevention education activities throughout
Sonoma County.




Resolution #
Date:
Page 2

Supervisors:

Gorin:

Ayes:

Zane:

Noes:

McGuire:

Carrillo:

Absent:

So Ordered.

Rabbitt:

Abstain:




Agenda Item Number: 2
County of Sonoma (This Section for use by Clerk of the Board Only.)

Agenda Item
Summary Report

Clerk of the Board
575 Administration Drive
Santa Rosa, CA 95403

To: Board of Supervisors

Board Agenda Date:  October 21, 2014 Vote Requirement: Majority

Department or Agency Name(s): Board of Supervisors

Staff Name and Phone Number: Supervisorial District(s):

Mike McGuire, 565-3758 Fourth

Title: Certificates.

Recommended Actions:

Present certificates of appreciation to the sponsors of the 2014 Schulz Celebrity Golf Classic, which raised
$750,000 to benefit Sonoma County Children's Charities.

Executive Summary:

Prior Board Actions:

Board recognizes sponsors of the Schulz Celebrity Golf Classic every fall.

Strategic Plan Alignment: Goal 3: Invest in the Future

Fiscal Summary - FY 14-15

Expenditures Funding Source(s)

Budgeted Amount S S

Add Appropriations Reqd. State/Federal

Fees/Other

Use of Fund Balance

Contingencies

“wmjpn n nn n
“wmjpn n nn n

Total Expenditure Total Sources

Revision No. 20120709-11




Narrative Explanation of Fiscal Impacts (If Required):

Staffing Impacts

Position Title
(Payroll Classification)

Monthly Salary Range
(A—1Step)

Additions
(Number)

Deletions
(Number)

Narrative Explanation of Staffing Impacts (If Required):

Attachments:

Related Items “On File” with the Clerk of the Board:

Revision No. 20120709-11




Agenda Item Number: 3
County of Sonoma (This Section for use by Clerk of the Board Only.)

Agenda Item
Summary Report

Clerk of the Board
575 Administration Drive
Santa Rosa, CA 95403

To: Board of Supervisors

Board Agenda Date: October 21, 2014 Vote Requirement: Majority

Department or Agency Name(s): Board of Supervisors

Staff Name and Phone Number: Supervisorial District(s):

Supervisor Efren Carrillo 565-2241 Fifth

Title: Gold Resolution

Recommended Actions:

Approve a gold resolution recognizing Gail Ahlas for her numerous contributions to the Roseland
community through her twenty years of pioneering service to the Roseland School District. (Fifth
District)

Executive Summary:

Prior Board Actions:

Strategic Plan Alignment Goal 1: Safe, Healthy, and Caring Community

Fiscal Summary - FY 14-15

Expenditures Funding Source(s)
Budgeted Amount S County General Fund S
Add Appropriations Reqd. S State/Federal S
S Fees/Other S
S Use of Fund Balance S
S Contingencies S
S S
Total Expenditure S Total Sources S

Revision No. 20121026-1




Narrative Explanation of Fiscal Impacts (If Required):

Staffing Impacts

Position Title
(Payroll Classification)

Monthly Salary
Range
(A—1Step)

Additions
(Number)

Deletions
(Number)

Narrative Explanation of Staffing Impacts (If Required):

Attachments:

Gold resolution.

Related Items “On File” with the Clerk of the Board:

Revision No. 20121026-1




County of Sonoma
State of California

Item Number:

Date: October 21, 2014 Resolution Number:

-
4/5 Vote Required

Resolution Of The Board Of Supervisors Of The County Of Sonoma, State Of California,
Commending Gail Ahlas Andrade On Her Many Contributions To Roseland Families And
Students During Her Tenure With The Roseland School District

Whereas, Gail Ahlas Andrade served the community of Roseland and the Roseland
School District for twenty years as Principal for Sheppard Accelerated Elementary School
and then as Superintendent; and

Whereas, Gail transformed the school district environment into a collaborative, student
centered educational experience, first through creating an Accelerated School which
became a National Accelerated School Demonstration site, and then founding Roseland
University Prep, Roseland Accelerated Middle School, Roseland Collegiate Prep, and
Roseland Creek Elementary — all of which serve to inspire students to dream big and
achieve a college education; and

Whereas, with waiting lists for enrollment, Roseland schools have a 96% graduation rate
with 96% of graduates planning to attend college — in 2014, 100% of Roseland University
Prep students were AVID students with 100% completing their FAFSA or Dream Act; and

Whereas, Five years after she was hired as principal at Sheppard Elementary School,
Gail Andrade Ahlas was honored by former President Bill Clinton at the White House
where the school earned a National Blue Ribbon Award; and

Whereas, under her direction, Roseland Schools and Superintendent Ahlas received
many awards including California Distinguished School, Elementary Principal of the Year,
School Administrator of the Year — twice, Sonoma County Program Excellence Award —
thrice, and was featured in the Top 100 Schools in US News and World Report 2010, and
KRCB Stories of Champions.

Now, Therefore, Be It Resolved that the Board of Supervisors of the County of Sonoma
commends Gail Andrade Ahlas on her contributions and achievements as an educator,
innovative leader, and dynamic Superintendent for the Roseland School District and
offers our heartfelt congratulations on the occasion of her retirement.




Resolution #
Date:
Page 2

Gorin:

Ayes:

Zane:

Noes:

McGuire:

Carrillo:

Absent:

So Ordered.

Rabbitt:

Abstain:




Agenda Item Number: 4
County of Sonoma (This Section for use by Clerk of the Board Only.)

Agenda Item
Summary Report

Clerk of the Board
575 Administration Drive
Santa Rosa, CA 95403

To: Board of Supervisors

Board Agenda Date: October 21, 2014 Vote Requirement: Majority

Department or Agency Name(s): Human Services

Staff Name and Phone Number: Supervisorial District(s):

Sherry Alderman — 707-565-8501 All

Title: Gold Resolution for Sonoma County Youth Ecology Corps Funders and Partners

Recommended Actions:

Adopt a Gold Resolution recognizing the funders and partners who support the Sonoma County Youth
Ecology Corps.

Executive Summary:

The Sonoma County Youth Ecology Corps (SCYEC) is a jobs, workforce training and ecosystem education
program aimed at employing youth and young adults while teaching them about environmental
stewardship. Through SCYEC youth and young adults not only receive paychecks, but they are exposed
to valuable work experience, environmental education, and get the opportunity to contribute to their
community through ongoing outdoor experiences. A diverse group of county and non-county agencies
support the SCYEC program. A Gold Resolution is being requested to recognize the program funders and
partners. Funders include Sonoma County Human Services Department, Sonoma County Workforce
Investment Board, Sonoma County Water Agency District, Agriculture and Open Space District, Sonoma
County Fire Services, Sonoma County Regional Parks, Sonoma County District Attorney’s Office, Sonoma
County Fair, City of Santa Rosa-Mayor’s Gang Prevention Task Force, US Army Corps of Engineers,
Redwood Credit Union, Sebastopol Sunrise Rotary Club, Vintners Association and Kaiser Permanente.

Prior Board Actions:

None.

Strategic Plan Alignhment Goal 4: Civic Services and Engagement

SCYEC helps develop youth so that they can be prepared and well trained to enter the workforce.

Revision No. 20140617-1



Fiscal Summary - FY 14-15

Expenditures

Funding Source(s)

Budgeted Amount S S
Add Appropriations Reqd. S State/Federal S
S Fees/Other S
S Use of Fund Balance S
S Contingencies S
S S
Total Expenditure S Total Sources S
Narrative Explanation of Fiscal Impacts (If Required):
None
Staffing Impacts
Position Title Monthly Salary Additions Deletions
(Payroll Classification) Range (Number) (Number)
(A—1Step)

Narrative Explanation of Staffing Impacts (If Required):

None

Attachments:

Resolution

Related Items “On File” with the Clerk of the Board:

None

Revision No. 20140617-1




County of Sonoma
State of California

Item Number:

Date: October 21, 2014 Resolution Number:

-
4/5 Vote Required

Resolution Of The Board Of Supervisors Of The County Of Sonoma, State Of California,
Recognizing the Funders And Partners Who Support
The Sonoma County Youth Ecology Corps

Whereas, the Sonoma County Youth Ecology Corps was launched in 2009 with funds
provided by the Federal American Recovery and Reinvestment Act in order to provide
Sonoma County youth and young adults with summer employment opportunities.

Whereas, a partnership, made up of County agencies, funders, partners, community-
based organizations, project hosts and contracted service providers was developed in
order to grow and sustain the Sonoma County Youth Ecology Corps as an ongoing
program.

Whereas, the Sonoma County Youth Ecology Corps is a workforce training and
ecosystem education program that provides youth and young adults with paid work
experience and instruction on environmental stewardship while providing benefit to the
community through the completion of environmental and conservation-related projects

Whereas, the 2014 Sonoma County Youth Ecology Corps provided over 180 young
people with paid work experience, environmental education, career development and
financial literacy training.

Whereas, the 2014 Sonoma County Youth Ecology Corps was funded by the Sonoma
County Human Services Department, Sonoma County Workforce Investment Board,
Sonoma County Water Agency District, Agriculture and Open Space District, Sonoma
County Fire Services, Sonoma County Regional Parks, Sonoma County District Attorney’s
Office, Sonoma County Fair, City of Santa Rosa-Mayor’s Gang Prevention Task Force, US
Army Corps of Engineers, Redwood Credit Union, Sebastopol Sunrise Rotary Club,
Vintners Association and Kaiser Permanente.

Now, Therefore, Be It Resolved that the Sonoma County Board of Supervisors honors
Sonoma County Youth Ecology Corps partners and funders for their commitment to the
youth of Sonoma County and thank them for their support.




Resolution #
Date:
Page 2

Supervisors:

Gorin:

Ayes:

Zane:

Noes:

McGuire:

Carrillo:

Absent:

So Ordered.

Rabbitt:

Abstain:




County of Sonoma
Agenda Item
Summary Report

Clerk of the Board
575 Administration Drive
Santa Rosa, CA 95403

Agenda Item Number: g
(This Section for use by Clerk of the Board Only.)

To: Board of Supervisors

Board Agenda Date: October 21, 2014

Vote Requirement: Majority

Department or Agency Name(s): Board of Supervisors

Staff Name and Phone Number:

Supervisor David Rabbitt, 707/565-2241

Supervisorial District(s):

Second District

Title: Gold Resolution

Recommended Actions:

Resolution of the Board of Supervisors Acknowledging and Congratulating the Jewish Community of
Petaluma, California, on the Occasion of their Sesquicentennial Anniversary

Executive Summary:

Prior Board Actions:

Strategic Plan Alignment

Goal 4: Civic Services and Engagement

Fiscal Summary - FY 14-15

Expenditures

Funding Source(s)

Budgeted Amount S S
Add Appropriations Reqd. S State/Federal S
S Fees/Other S
S Use of Fund Balance S
S Contingencies S
S S
Total Expenditure S Total Sources S

Revision No. 20140617-1




Narrative Explanation of Fiscal Impacts (If Required):

Staffing Impacts

Position Title
(Payroll Classification)

Monthly Salary
Range
(A—1Step)

Additions
(Number)

Deletions
(Number)

Narrative Explanation of Staffing Impacts (If Required):

Attachments:

Related Items “On File” with the Clerk of the Board:

Revision No. 20140617-1




County of Sonoma
State of California

Item Number:

Date: October 21, 2014 Resolution Number:

2 4/5 Vote Required

Resolution of the Board of Supervisors of the County of Sonoma, State of California,
Acknowledging and Congratulating the Jewish Community of Petaluma, California, on the
Occasion of their Sesquicentennial Anniversary

Whereas, the Jewish Community of Petaluma has been a significant presence in all
aspects of the cultural, agricultural and commercial life and development of Petaluma,
California for more than one hundred and fifty years; and

Whereas, there exist recorded minutes of board meetings for Congregation Society
B’nai Israel, dated October of 1864; and

Whereas, the State of California recognized Congregation Society B’nai Israel as a
corporation under state laws in 1871; and

Whereas, the Congregation Society B’nai Israel is the oldest Jewish congregation
between San Francisco and the Oregon border; and

Whereas, the current building of B'nai Israel Jewish Center was dedicated in August
1925;

Now, Therefore, Be It Resolved that the Board of Supervisors does acknowledge and
congratulate the Jewish Community of Petaluma on the occasion of their
sesquicentennial anniversary; and

Be It Further Resolved that on this special occasion, the Board of Supervisors
does hereby also acknowledge the contributions and vibrancy of the Petaluma
Jewish Community over these many years and joins them in celebrating their
sesquicentennial anniversary.




Resolution #
Date:
Page 2

Supervisors:

Gorin:

Ayes:

Zane:

Noes:

McGuire:

Carrillo:

Absent:

So Ordered.

Rabbitt:

Abstain:




Agenda
ltem

Forthcoming

=
¥


repstein
Typewritten Text
Item 6


Agenda Item Number: 7
County of Sonoma (This Section for use by Clerk of the Board Only.)

Agenda Item
Summary Report

Clerk of the Board
575 Administration Drive
Santa Rosa, CA 95403

To: Board of Supervisors

Board Agenda Date: October 21, 2014 Vote Requirement: Majority

Department or Agency Name(s): Board of Supervisors

Staff Name and Phone Number: Supervisorial District(s):

Supervisor David Rabbitt, 707/565-2241 Second District

Title: Gold Resolution

Recommended Actions:

Resolution Honoring and Commending the North Bay Children’s Center on the Occasion of its 25t
Anniversary

Executive Summary:

Prior Board Actions:

Strategic Plan Alignment Goal 4: Civic Services and Engagement

Fiscal Summary - FY 14-15

Expenditures Funding Source(s)
Budgeted Amount S S
Add Appropriations Reqd. S State/Federal S
S Fees/Other S
S Use of Fund Balance S
S Contingencies S
S S
Total Expenditure S Total Sources S

Revision No. 20140617-1



Narrative Explanation of Fiscal Impacts (If Required):

Staffing Impacts

Position Title
(Payroll Classification)

Monthly Salary
Range
(A—1Step)

Additions
(Number)

Deletions
(Number)

Narrative Explanation of Staffing Impacts (If Required):

Attachments:

Related Items “On File” with the Clerk of the Board:

Revision No. 20140617-1




County of Sonoma
State of California

Item Number:

Date: October 21, 2014 Resolution Number:

-
4/5 Vote Required

Resolution of the Board of Supervisors of the County of Sonoma, State of California,
Honoring and Commending the North Bay Children’s Center on the Occasion of its

25" Anniversary Celebration

Whereas, the North Bay Children’s Center (NBCC) opened its doors in 1988 to become
the first child care program in Northern Marin to serve low income infants and toddlers,
enabling parents to return to the workforce; and over the past twenty five years NBCC
has doubled its programs through expansion into Sonoma County now serving more
than 370 children from six-weeks-old through age twelve; and

Whereas, NBCC is widely recognized as a leader in early care and education and well
known in Marin and Sonoma County for establishing proven, early childhood education
programs that focus on school-readiness and foster health and wellness for families
across the income spectrum; and

Whereas, NBCC;’s innovative programs and alignment with elementary school partners
in Petaluma and Santa Rosa puts them at the forefront of a movement sweeping the
country to expand early learning opportunities for children from birth to five years; and

Whereas, NBCC engages parents as school partners early on in their child’s education to
build the family system as the foundation for academic success; and

Whereas, NBCC took a lead role in combating childhood obesity in 2004 by establishing
its award-winning Garden of Eatin’ nutrition education program that incorporates
health and wellness into its daily curriculum; using evidence based strategies with
measurable outcomes, NBCC has created a “culture of health” within its school
community by providing staff, children and families with tools and experiences that
support nutritious food choices and active lifestyles.

Now, Therefore, Be It Resolved that the Sonoma County Board of Supervisors honors
and comments the North Bay Children’s Center on the occasion of its 25t anniversary,
and further, thanks them for bringing 25 years of extraordinary service to Sonoma
County providing access to high quality early education services to hundreds of children.




Resolution #
Date:
Page 2

Be It Further Resolved

Supervisors:

Gorin: Zane: McGuire:

Ayes: Noes:

Carrillo:

Absent:

So Ordered.

Rabbitt:

Abstain:




Agenda Item Number: 8

County of Sonoma (This Section for use by Clerk of the Board Only.)
Agenda ltem

Summary Report

Clerk of the Board
575 Administration Drive
Santa Rosa, CA 95403

To: Board of Directors of the Sonoma County Agricultural Preservation and Open Space District

Board Agenda Date: October 21, 2014 Vote Requirement: Unanimous
Department or Agency Name(s): Agricultural Preservation and Open Space District
Staff Name and Phone Number: Supervisorial District(s):

Stuart Martin, 565-7362 4

Title: Fitch Mountain Acquisition Update

Recommended Actions:

Adopt Resolution making certain findings and (1) approving the phased acquisition of fee title to certain property
on Fitch Mountain for transfer to the City of Healdsburg subject to a conservation easement and recreation
conservation covenant held by the District; (2) authorizing an exchange of conservation easement interests
pursuant to Public Resources Code section 5540.5 to facilitate the acquisition; (3) authorizing the amendment of
an existing conservation easement on the property; (4) authorizing the President of the Board to execute all
documents to be recorded in connection with the acquisition, easement exchange, and easement amendment; (5)
delegating authority to the District’s General Manager to take all necessary and appropriate action to complete
the transaction; and (6) dedicating the conservation easement to open space purposes pursuant to Public
Resources Code section 5540.

Executive Summary:

Project Summary

The District purchased a pair of Forever Wild Easements (jointly, the “Original Easement”) over 130-acres of Fitch
Mountain in September 1994 from Zelma Ratchford and the Ratchford Trust. Purchasing the fee interest for a
park was anticipated when the District purchased the Original Easement and the District has made multiple
attempts to acquire the property since that time. In 2003, the current owner, F.R.A.N.C.E.Z., LLC, purchased the
198.7 acre portion of the Ratchford property that is at issue in this agenda item (“Property”).

On December 11, 2012, the Board of Directors authorized the purchase of the Property from F.R.A.N.C.E.Z. L.L.C.
(“Seller”) for public access and preservation of the Property’s natural resources and scenic values. As part of the
Board’s December 2012 action, the Board approved a Transfer Agreement with the City of Healdsburg, pursuant
to which the fee interest in the Property will be held by the City of Healdsburg (“City”) and the District will hold a

Revision No. 20120709-11




conservation easement over the entirety of the property to protect the scenic and natural resources while
allowing for low-intensity outdoor public recreation. The District will also hold a recreation conservation
covenant over the entirety of the property to ensure it is open to the public for low-intensity recreational
purposes in perpetuity.

Revised Project Structure

The purchase agreement approved by your Board in December 2012 contemplated acquisition of the entirety of
the Property in a single closing, which was to occur in May 2013. A survey performed by the District in early 2013
revealed the existence of 23 encroachments on the Property. The encroachments ranged from gardens and brush
removal to structural improvements. Some of the encroachments affect land subject to the Original Easement,
which prohibits such uses of the Property. For liability reasons, the City will not accept fee title to any portion of
the Property with encroachments, nor will the City accept the Property with pending easement violations. The
District shares the City’s concerns and desires to resolve the easement violations without resorting to litigation.
After extensive negotiations with the Seller in 2013 and 2014, District staff have secured a new purchase
agreement with the Seller which addresses these matters by accomplishing the acquisition in two phases. (See
attached “Two-Phase Project” map.) That agreement was executed by the General Manager on September 17,
2014 pursuant to his authority under Resolution No. 01-0087.

Two Phase Acquisition

Under the first phase (Phase 1), the majority of the Property (172.92 acres) will be conveyed to the City for a
purchase price of $1,520,484. The Phase 1 parcels are all that is needed for park development purposes and they
suffer only three encroachments, which are required to be resolved prior to the Phase 1 closing. As part of Phase
1, the City will also be granted a road and utility easement from the end of Hilltop Drive through the Phase 2
parcels to access the Phase 1 parcels. This easement ensures that there will be legal access to the Phase 1
Property from the eastern side.

The second phase (Phase 2) consists of 25.75 acres for a total purchase price of $279,516. The Seller has until
June of 2016 to resolve the numerous encroachments on these parcels. If the Seller resolves the encroachments,
and all other conditions to closing are satisfied, then those parcels will be purchased according to prices
established in the current purchase agreement and conveyed together to the City in a second closing. The parcels
that remain subject to encroachments or are otherwise unacceptable to the City will not be purchased. The
District’s conservation easement and recreation conservation covenant will be amended at the Phase 2 closing to
include any additional acreage acquired by the City at that time.

Conservation Easement Exchange

In order to resolve the easement violations caused by the encroachments, the District proposes to release the
land subject to the encroachments from the Original Easement in exchange for an equivalent easement interest

Revision No. 20120709-11




on another portion of the Seller’s Property. The proposed exchange would remove approximately 3.9 acres of
land from the Original Easement in exchange for approximately 3.9 acres in another location. (See attached
“Easement Exchange” map.) Both of the areas proposed for exchange were appraised at $5,000 per acre. The
areas have the same market value because they have the same RRD-B8 zoning, are smaller than the minimum lot
size (so they cannot be subdivided), and neither area can host a home site. In addition to their market value
equivalence, the proposed exchange areas are of comparable conservation value because of similar topography,
vegetation, and wildlife habitat. Therefore, the exchange is a like-for-like substitution. As a result of these factors,
the proposed exchange is permissible under Public Resources Code section 5540.5, which allows the District’s
Board to exchange an interest in real property which has been dedicated and used for park or open-space
purposes, or both, for an interest in real property that the Board determines, by a unanimous vote, to be of equal
or greater value and necessary for park or open-space purposes, or both.

Easement Amendment and Replacement

The Original Easement only covers a 130-acre portion of the acquisition. The District is amending and replacing
the original conservation easement so that the entirety of the property acquired through this transaction (from
172.92 acres up to 198.7 acres) is subject to a single, more modern easement. Not only does the new easement
language provide greater clarity and specificity about the resources to be protected, it is also more restrictive
than the old easement language. Examples of this include (1) all park development is limited to no more than
10% of the easement area; (2) the height of all structures or improvements is limited to less than 18 feet; and (3)
impervious surfaces may not exceed 0.5 acres of the Property. No such limitations were included in the
provisions of the Original Easement. Finally, the new conservation easement language modernizes and clarifies
the intent of the easement which improves administration and enforcement by District stewardship staff.

The District’s Easement Amendment Policy is found in the Stewardship Manual (on file with Clerk) approved by
the Board of Directors on July 19, 2005 (Board Action #32). Procedure 7 requires that the Board approve
easement amendments only after making all of the following findings:

a) The amendment is clearly consistent with the conservation purpose of the conservation
easement.

b) The amendment enhances and otherwise does not impair the conservation values of the
land subject to the conservation easement.

c) The amendment does not undermine the perpetual nature of the conservation easement.

d) The amendment is not precluded by the conservation easement or by state or federal
law.

e) The amendment does not reconvey any interest in land that has been expressly

Revision No. 20120709-11




extinguished by the conservation easement.

f) The amendment is the minimum change necessary to satisfy the purpose of the
amendment.

g) The amendment is consistent with the District’s Acquisition Plan and other applicable
District policies in effect at the time of the proposed amendment.

h) The amendment is consistent with all applicable land use and zoning regulations.

i) The amendment incorporates, to the maximum extent practical and legally permissible, the language
used by the District in its then-current conservation easements.

j) The amendment increases or has no effect on the appraised value of the conservation easement.

The Board of Directors must also ensure that the proposed amendment is allowable under Public Resources Code
Section 5540 et seq. The proposed resolution demonstrates support for these findings and secures the Board’s
approval of the proposed easement amendment.

Appraisals & Fiscal Oversight Commission Approval

A full narrative appraisal was completed by Dana Burwell with a valuation date of December 10, 2010, which
concluded that the fair market value of the entire Property is $1,800,000. The December 2010 appraisal has since
been updated to reflect the two-phase project structure now contemplated. Specifically, Mr. Burwell was asked
to arrive at a value for the individual Phase 2 parcels while retaining the $1.8 million value for the entirety of the
property. The appraiser used the same methodology as in the original appraisal, and added each Phase 2 parcel
one at a time to the Phase 1 value to derive the separate value for each individual Phase 2 parcel. Each of these
appraisals was an addendum to the original appraisal, and used the original date of value.

Based on this appraisal work, the purchase price of the Phase 1 and Phase 2 lots are as follows:
Phase 1: 172.92 acres = $1,520,484

Phase 2: APN 087-110-012 = $28,516 (pro-rated value for 3.65 acres; will be merged with APN 087-110-011 prior
to Phase 1 closing)

APN 087-110-011 (11.4 acres) = $150,000

APN 087-110-008 (6.5 acres) = $80,000

APN 087-191-022, 087-181-025, 024, 087-171-026 & 025 (4.2 acres) = $21,000

Total: $1,800,000

Revision No. 20120709-11




On October 2, 2014, the District’s Fiscal Oversight Commission reviewed the proposed transaction and concluded
that (1) the fair market value of the easement interest to be conveyed by the District pursuant to the proposed
exchange is equal to or less than the fair market value of the easement interest to be received by the District
pursuant to that exchange and (2) the proposed purchase price for the Property does not exceed the fair market
value of the interests being acquired by the District in each phase of the transaction.

Amendment to Transfer Agreement

The Transfer Agreement with the City of Healdsburg must be amended to reflect the proposed restructuring of
the acquisition. Under the proposed amendment, the City will accept the Phase 1 and Phase 2 properties at two
separate closings, subject to all of the same conditions of the original agreement. The amendment also
accomplishes various technical revisions to the original agreement resulting from the potential for two closings,
such as the need to revise the legal descriptions of the Property subject to the District’s conservation easement
and recreation covenant to include only those portions of the Property that will be acquired in each phase of the
transaction. The amendment makes no change to the agreed-upon forms for the conservation easement or
recreation covenant to be retained by the District, except it does update acreage-specific clauses to reconcile the
documents with the phasing of the acquisition. The amendment also makes no change to the District’s original
$250,000 funding commitment to the City to support operations, maintenance, trail planning, and resource
management for the Property during the first three years.

Conformance with Adopted Plans

2020 Sonoma County General Plan
The Project conforms to the Sonoma County General Plan 2020. Applicable goals and policies in the Open Space
and Resource Conservation Element and Land Use Element include:

e GOAL OSRC-3: Identify and preserve roadside landscapes that have a high visual quality as they contribute
to the living environment of local residents and to the County's tourism economy.

e GOAL OSRC-6: Preserve the unique rural and natural character of Sonoma County for residents,
businesses, visitors and future generations.

e GOAL OSRC-7.1: Identify and protect native vegetation and wildlife, particularly occurrences of special
status species, wetlands, sensitive natural communities, woodlands, and areas of essential habitat
connectivity.

e Policy LU-11f: Encourage conservation of undeveloped land, open space, and agricultural lands, protection
of water and soil quality, restoration of ecosystems, and minimization or elimination of the disruption of
existing natural ecosystems and flood plains.

District Expenditure Plan

The project is consistent with the District’s Expenditure Plan, specifically the purchase of fee interests for outdoor
public recreation where the public use would not be inconsistent with open space designations such as
protecting areas of biotic significance, including woodlands and forests, and wildlife habitat corridors.

District Connecting Communities and the Land

Revision No. 20120709-11




The project’s primary categorization is in the Recreation and Education category of the District’s acquisition plan.
The project also furthers objectives and policies in the Water, Wildlife and Natural Areas category. Specifically,
the project:
e Partners to establish and expand parks and preserves that protect Sonoma County’s unique natural
habitats, scenic areas, and other open space values of regional importance.
e Partners to acquire, develop and manage lands for new parks, trails, and preserves.
e Protects lands with diverse plant communities that support multiple wildlife species; lands with large,
unfragmented oak woodland and forest areas; and key habitat linkages.

District Three-Year Work Plan

The project is consistent with the guiding principles in the work plan, specifically protecting highest priority lands,
and partnering and collaborating to realize the District’s mission. The project is also consistent with the strategies
identified in the work plan, as it maintains the focus on acquisition and stewardship of conservation easements as
the primary tool for protection and expands focus on leveraging District revenues. The work plan anticipates
spending up to $19,450,000 on acquisition projects over a three year period.

Escrow/Closing

Closing is scheduled to occur on or before November 17, 2014.

California Environmental Quality Act (C.E.Q.A.)

The District General Manager posted a notice of exemption on December 11, 2012 pursuant to Board direction
embodied in Resolution No. 12-0590, which found this project is Categorically Exempt from C.E.Q.A pursuant to
State Guidelines 15313, 51316(a)( transfer of ownership of land in order to create parks), 15317 (acceptance of
open space easements or fee interests to maintain open space), and/or 15325(a),(c) and (f) (transfer land
ownership in order to preserve existing natural conditions, to allow restoration of natural conditions and to
preserve open space or lands for park purposes).

Prior Board Actions:

On August 30, 1994, by Resolution #94-1258, the Board of Directors authorized acquisition of a conservation
easement over a portion of the property.

On December 11, 2012, by Resolution #12-0590, the Board of Directors authorized the purchase of the property,
including related due diligence costs, and an agreement with the City of Healdsburg.

Strategic Plan Alignment: Goal 1: Safe, Healthy, and Caring Community

This acquisition will protect land for scenic views, clear air and clean water, and provide public access for
improved health and quality of life.

Revision No. 20120709-11




Fiscal Summary - FY 12-13

Expenditures

Funding Source(s)

Budgeted Amount $1,800,000 Select an item. S
Add Appropriations Reqd. | $ State/Federal S
S Fees/Other S 1,800,000
S Use of Fund Balance S
S Contingencies S
S S
Total Expenditure $1,800,000 Total Sources S 1,800,000
Narrative Explanation of Fiscal Impacts (If Required):
This cost is allocated in the District’s FY 12-13 budget.
Staffing Impacts
Position Title Monthly Salary Range Additions Deletions
(Payroll Classification) (A—1Step) (Number) (Number)

Narrative Explanation of Staffing Impacts (If Required):

Attachments:

General Plan Map

2 Phase Project Map
CE exchange Map
Resolution No. 12-0590

oukwnNneE

1** Amended Purchase Agreement
. Amendment to Fitch Mt. Transfer Agreement

7.a. and b. Original Conservation Easements

8. New Conservation Easement

9. Easement Amendment Policy

10. Appraisal dated December ,2010
11.a.,b., & c. Appraisal addendums
12. Board Resolution

Related Items “On File” with the Clerk of the Board:

Revision No. 20120709-11




=
101

-.-—"

&

|

| [HEALDSBURG

W

\

N
e
y.u

[ Rl W

P =~ < g

‘

o

Sonoma County Supervisorial Districts

Detail
Area

A

Fitch Mountain

72

o A
N
Ru.%'an Rive&

e Y

0 2,000 4,000

Map Date: 2/14/2012

Sonoma County General Plan 20:
Open Space and Resource
Conservation Element.

Note: This map is for illustrative

a definitive property description.

e wmw—— Feet

Sources: Sonoma County GIS Group;

20,

Fitch Mountain
LOCATION /| GENERAL PLAN MAP

A

N

e

SONOMA COUNTY

purposes only. It is not intended to be AGRICULTURAL PRESERVATION

AND OPEN SPACE DISTRICT

Open Space and Resource Conservation Element

SCENIC RESOURCES

_______ Community Separator
O\ Scenic Landscape Unit
Scenic Corridor

OUTDOOR RECREATION
A Planned Future Park

: Fitch Mountain Property
[ | Incorporated City Land
B District Holding

[ Public Land

BIOTIC RESOURCES
® Special Status Species
Special Status Species Habitat

- Marshes and Wetlands *

_____ Critical Habitat Area *

/77 Habitat Connectivity Corridor
= = - Riparian Corridor

* Not on this map.

C.Kendall S:\GISProjects\Fitch_Mountain\PDF s

Attachment 1


sjackson
Typewritten Text
                              Attachment 1


Healdsburg
Ridge

CaIIahan.‘ \
\ E';Ch M;Juntaln Fitch Mountain | %,
ase Phase 2 LS
: é&‘
villa N
LDSBUR GChanticIeer
Golf

Club

Toyon Drive

Sotoyome Highlands

Windsor Oaks

: : isiti 0 05 1
Ea’ Fitch Mountain Acquisition I District Fee Titl - ) Viles

TWO P h ase P rOjeCt District Conservation Easement /NX Map Date: 10/3/2014

SONOMA COUNTY Source: SCWA (streams); County GIS (parcels, cities,

. . roads); ESRI (base map)
QGRIC(L)JLTURQL:EESER;/ATI%N Locatl o n M a p Other Public and Protected Land This map is for illustrative purposes only and is
ND OPEN SPACE DISTRICT not intended to be a definitive property description.

C.Kendall S:\GISProjects\Fitch_Mountain\PDFs\thch_mtn_Z_phase_location_map.pd

Attachment 2



sjackson
Typewritten Text

sjackson
Typewritten Text
           Attachment   2


087-045-006
i,

087-120-001

> =,

/7

-

087-220-001
) 087-130-004

087-130-003

e’ 08721102008

S 1 g

087-140-038

A
140-03

Fitch Mountain Acquisition Phase 1 Phase 1 Existing CE
Conservation Easement Exchange nternal Roat [T acquisitor CE Addifion Attachment 3

Map Phase 1 :I Phase 2 @ (Part of Phase 1

——— Road Easement Acquisition Acquisition)
to Buyer*
0 I:I Parcels CE Release Map Date: 10/3/2014
=) T —— Phase | @ (Part of Phase 2 Source: Sonoma Co GIS (parecls,
SONOMA COUNTY o g roads); NASA/UMD/WSI 2013 (image)
- Road EasemerﬂLocation approximate, ACqUISItIOH) This map is for illustrative purposes

AGRICULTURAL PRESERVATION i f only and not intended to be a definitive
AND OPEN SPACE DISTRICT Retained by Se"ﬁlﬁject to survey. pro{)erty description.

C.Kendall S:\GISProjects\Fitch_Mountain\PDFs\fitch_mtn_2_phase_with_swap_8.pdf



sjackson
Typewritten Text
Attachment 3


. # 42
THE WITHIN INSTRUMENT 18 A Resolution No. 12-0590

CORRECT COPY QF THE CRIGINAL
ON FILE IN THIS OFFICE

County of Sonoma
ATTEST:
DEC 12 2012 Santa Rosa, CA 95403

VERONICAA. FERGUSQY, ClarkiSecratary
B"—m@kwﬂ’:—a ey Date: 12/11/2012

Resolution Of The Board Of Directors Of The Sonoma County Agricultural
Preservation And Open Space District, State Of California (1} Authorizing the
District’s General Manager To Execute {(a) A Purchase Agreement With
F.R.A.N.C.E.Z. LLC For Fee Acquisition Of A 198.7-acre Property On Fitch
Mountain For A Purchase Price Of $1,800,000; And {b) An Agreement With The
City Of Healdsburg Pursuant To Which Fee Title To The Property Will Be
Transferred Directly To The City, Subject To A Conservation Easement And
Recreation Covenant Held By The District; And {2} Delegating Authority To The
District's General Manager To Take Specified Action to Administer Both
Agreements.

Whereas, the City of Healdshurg (“City”} is willing to own, operate, and
maintain parks, open space, recreation facilities and programs inside and
adjacent to its boundaries; and

Whereas, the District and City share an interest in preserving that certain
real property comprising approximately 198.7 acres of land in unincorporated
Sonoma County near Healdsburg, California (APNs: 087-044-036; 087-045-001,
087-045-002, 087-045-004, 087-045-006, 087-045-007, 087-045-008; 087-053-
005; 087-110-007, 087-110-008, 087-110-009, 087-110-010, 087-110-011, 087-
110- 012; 087-120-001; 087-130-002, 087-130-003, 087-130-004; 087-140-037,
(087-130-038; 087-171-025, 087-171-026; 087-181-024, 087-181-025; 087-191-
022; 087-220-001) (the "Property"); and

Whereas, the District desires to focus its resources on preserving land
through the acquisition of conservation easements to the fullest extent possible,
rather than through fee acquisitions; and

Whereas, subject to the terms and conditions of a proposed agreement
pursuant to which the District will contribute certain funds to enable the City to
acquire fee title to the Property, the form of which has been presented to this
Board today (“Transfer Agreement”}, the City is willing to accept title to the
Property and to devote it to use as an open space preserve with low-intensity
public outdoor recreational values, subject to a conservation easement and
recreation covenant held by the District; and

Whereas, the General Manager has negotiated and is now
recommending the District enter into a purchase agreement (“Purchase

Attachment 4


sjackson
Typewritten Text
        Attachment 4


Resolution #12-0590
Date: 12/11/2012
Page 2

Agreement”) with F.R.A.N.C.E.Z. LLC to acquire fee title to the Property for a
purchase price of $1,800,000, which agreement may be assigned to the City in
escrow for the purposes of facilitating direct transfer of the fee interest to the
City; and

Whereas, on December 10, 2012, the City Council for the City met and approved
the terms and conditions of the Transfer Agreement and Purchase Agreement; and

Whereas, the District is authorized to enter into the Purchase Agreement and
Transfer Agreement pursuant to Public Resources Code sections 5540 et seq.

Now, Therefore, Be It Resolved, that this Board of Directors hereby finds,
determines, declares and orders as follows:

1. Truth of Recitals. That the foregoing recitals are true and correct.

2. Transfer Agreement. That the District’s General Manager is authorized to enter into
the Transfer Agreement with the City in the form on file with the Clerk.

3. Purchase Agreement. That the District’s General Manager is authorized to enter into
the Purchase Agreement in the form on file with the Clerk.

4, Due Diligence. That the District’s General Manager is authorized to take all
necessary and appropriate action to administer the District’s rights and obligations
under the Transfer Agreement and the Purchase Agreement to investigate the
Property for the purposes of bringing the proposed purchase back to this Board for
final approvals, which authority shall include entering into contracts for due
diligence services contemplated by the agreements, provided such contracts do not
exceed $75,000 individually and $100,000 cumulatively.

5. California Environmental Quality Act. That the project authorized by this resolution
is exemnpt from the requirements of the California Environmental Quality Act (Public
Resources Code Sections 21000 and following) because the acquisition is exempt
pursuant to Sections 15313 of Title 14 of the California Code of Regulations because
the acquisition is to preserve wildlife habitat; alternatively is exempt pursuant to
Section 15316(a) of Title 14 of the California Code of Regulations because itis a
transfer of land ownership in order to create a park, where the land is in a natural
condition and the management plan for the park has not been prepared;
alternatively is exempt pursuant to 15317 of Title 14 of the California Code of
Regulations because the purpose of the acquisition is to maintain the open space
character of the area; and alternatively is exempt pursuant to Section 15325(a), (c)
and (f) of Title 14 of the California Code of Regulations because the purpose of the
acquisition is to preserve the existing natural conditions, to allow restoration of
natural conditions, and to preserve open space or lands for park purposes,
respectively.




Resolution #12-0590
Date: 12/11/2012
Page 3

6. Notice. That immediately upon the adoption of this resolution, the General
Manager is directed to post and to maintain the posting of a notice of exemption
pursuant to Public Resources Code section 21152,

Directors:
Brown: Aye Rabbitt: Aye McGuire: Aye  Carrillo: Aye Zane: Aye
Ayes: 5 Noes: 0 Absent: 0 Abstain: 0

So Ordered.




Agenda Item Number:
County of Sonoma | (this Section for use by Clerk of the Board Only.)

Agenda [tem
Summary Report

Clerk of the Board
575 Administration Drive
Santa Rosa, CA 95403

To: Board of Directors of the Sonoma County Agricultural Preservation and Open Space District

Boar:d Agéhd_é bate: December 11, 2012 Vote Requirement:  Majority
'Departfnent or Agency Name(s}): Agricultural Preservation and Open Space District
Staff Name and Phone _Nuhber: - "-Super_vis-Orial District(s):

Misti Arias, 565-7264 4

Title: ~ Fitch Mountain Acquisition

Recommended Actions:

Adopt resolution (1) authorizing the District’s General Manager to execute (a) a purchase agreement with
F.R.A.N.C.E.Z. L.L.C. for fee acquisition of a 198.7-acre property on Fitch Mountain {“Property”) for a purchase
price of $1,800,000, which purchase remains subject to final approval by the Board and (b} an agreement with
the City of Healdsburg pursuant to which fee title to the Property will be transferred to the City, subjectto a
conservation easement and recreation covenant held by the District, and up to $250,000 in District funds will
available to the City for initial operations and maintenance costs; and (2) delegating authority to the District’s
General Manager to take all necessary and appropriate action to administer the District’s rights and obligations
under both agreements up to the time of final action by the Board of Directors, including undertaking all due
diligence activities contemplated therein and entering into contracts for these purposes, provided such
contracts do not exceed $75,000 individually and $100,000 cumulatively.

Executive Summary:

Project Summary

The District is proposing to purchase approximately 198.7 acres on the top of Fitch Mountain from
F.R.A.N.C.E.Z. LL.C. (“Seller”) for public access and preservation of the Property’s natural resources and scenic
values. The fee interest would be held by the City of Healdsburg (the “City”) and the District would hold a
conservation easement over the entirety of the property to protect the scenic and natural resources while
allowing for low-intensity outdoor public recreation. The District would also hold a recreation conservation
covenant over the entirety of the property to ensure it is open to the public for low-intensity recreational
purposes in perpetuity.

In escrow, the City would accept restricted fee title to the Property and intends to then transfer the property to

Revision No. 20120709-11




the local non-profit organization LandPaths for a period not to exceed three years. During this three-year
period, the City expects that LandPaths would be responsible for interim public access and operations and
maintenance, while the City and LandPaths work together to complete a Management Plan, which will include a
vegetation management plan, trails plan, and erosion assessment. At the end of the three-year period, the City
would resume fee ownership of the property and would assume responsibility for land management and
operations and maintenance in perpetuity, including provision for public recreational use.

Property Characteristics/Project Significance

Fitch Mountain is one of the most prominent physical landmarks found in the north part of Sonoma County.
The mountain is surrounded by the town of Healdsburg and provides a scenic backdrop for the town and other
communities along the Russian River as well as for area visitors. The heavily wooded mountain can be seen
from a great distance in ali directions, including a long stretch of Highway 101.

The property consists of approximately 198.7 acres on the top and sides of Fitch Mountain. It makes up the
entirety of the wooded area on the mountain that has not been developed. The property consists of eight
primary lots, seven of which are on the east face of the mountain and range from 3 to 12 acres in size. The
eighth lot is approximately 146 acres, of which approximately 130 acres is already encumbered with a District
‘forever wild’ conservation easement established in 1994. Small, unbuildable lots are found around the edges of
the eighth iot, on the north side of the mountain. The entire property is in the unincorporated county, but is
within the City’s Sphere of Influence, Urban Growth Boundary, and Urban Service Area.

Site features on the property include oak woodland, madrones, mixed conifer forest, an intermittent creek and
the mountain’s 991-foot peak. The property is accessed from Hilltop Road and Woods Road in Healdsburg, and
there are three miles of unimproved dirt roads on the property. There are no structures on the site, although it
surrounds two water tanks owned by the City of Healdsburg. The site has been used historically by recreational
hikers and other users. Other surrounding land uses include residences on the south, east, and north. Villa
Chanticleer, a Healdsburg city park and conference center, borders on the west,

The City of Healdsburg has recognized the property’s importance by designating it as Open Space and as a
Major Scenic Ridgeline in the City’s General Plan. The mountain offers spectacular views of the Russian River,
Alexander and Dry Creek Valleys and the Mayacamas Mountain range. The acquisition will further the
protection of the scenic resources and valuable wildlife habitat on the edge of an urban area while making the
property available to the public for recreational use in perpetuity.

Appraisal Information

A full narrative appraisal was completed by Dana Burwell with a valuation date of December 10, 2010 and a
value of $1,800,000. On August 4, 2011, the District’s Fiscal Oversight Commission approved Resolution #2011-
007, determining that a purchase price equal to or less than the appraised value does not exceed fair market

Revision No, 20120709-11




value.
Purchase Agreement and Purchase Price

The District has negotiated a purchase agreement with the Seller for a price of $1,800,000. The purchase
agreement, on file with the Board Clerk, includes typical contingencies for due diligence and the District’s
obligation to purchase the Property remains subject to final approval by the District’s Board of Directors. This
amount is included in the District’s FY 12-13 budget.

Transfer Agreement

The District is proposing to enter into an agreement with the City of Healdsburg (“Transfer Agreement”) that
describes the responsibilities of the District and City in advancing their shared objective to preserve and
operate the Property as a public asset. Pursuant to the Transfer Agreement, the City would accept fee title to
the Property, while the District would retain a conservation easement and a recreation conservation covenant
upon closing. In addition, the District would contribute up to $250,000 towards operation and maintenance of
the property during the first three years.

Prior to closing, during the due diligence period contemplated by the purchase agreement, the District would
fund specified due diligence investigations for the benefit of the City, including: title review for the purposes of
confirming that the Property is suitable for use as a low-intensity public recreation area; a boundary survey of
the Property by a licensed surveyor (approximately $50,000); a Phase 1 environmental site assessment
(approximately $3,000); internal review of all governmental permits and approvals supplied by Seller as relates
to the use, construction, operation or occupancy of the Property; and other items that may be needed. If
approved, this Board action would delegate authority to the General Manager to enter into contracts for these
purposes, provided such contracts do not exceed $75,000 individually and $100,000 cumulatively. This
delegation is important to ensure that the District can comply with the 120-day due diligence timeline and meet
the closing requirements outlined in the purchase agreement. During the same due diligence period, the City is
also permitted to undertake any additional investigations that it deems necessary or appropriate to assess the
property. In the event that any of these investigations reveal conditions that present an unreasonable risk to
the District or the City, either party may cancel the transaction.

At closing, the City would be permitted to transfer the Property to LandPaths for up to three years for
assistance with provision of interim recreational access to the property and development of a Management
Plan. After closing, the City, in collaboration with LandPaths, will prepare the Management Plan in accordance
with the California Environmental Quality Act. The Management Plan will provide criteria for the operations,
maintenance, and management of the Property. The City will also ensure that the Property is opened for public
use no later than five years after the closing date.

Consistent with the District's Board-adopted Operations and Maintenance (0O&M) Policy, after closing, the

Revision No. 20120709-11




District would reimburse the City up to $250,000 to support operations, maintenance, trail planning, and
resource management for the Property during the first three years. A work plan describing reimbursable O&M
tasks and estimated costs will be developed by the City and approved by the District prior to any
reimbursement. In addition to the District’s contributions, the City has committed $100,000 for operations and
maintenance costs. The City also has a goal of raising $200,000 in private fundraising and is requesting an
additional $300,000 grant from the California Coastal Conservancy to assist with development of the Park
Master Plan and construction of recreational improvements such as trails.

Escrow/Closing

If all contingencies are met, closing must occur within 150 days of executing the purchase agreement, unless
the District and Seller agree to an extension. During this time, the District will bring the acquisition back to the
Board for final review and approval, including consideration of the findings or any due diligence investigations;
consistency with the 2020 Sonoma County General Plan and the District’s Expenditure Plan; and any other
considerations or actions necessary or appropriate prior to close of escrow.

California Environmental Quality Act (C.E.Q.A.}

This project is Categorically Exempt from C.E.Q.A. pursuant to State Guidelines Section 15313; alternatively is
exempt pursuant to Section 51316(a); alternatively is exempt pursuant to Section 15317; and alternatively is
exempt pursuant to Section 15325(a}) and (b).

If the requested action is approved by your Board, the District General Manager will post a notice of exemption
pursuant to Public Resources Code section 21152.

Prior ﬁoarc’l Actions:
On August 30, 1994, by Resolution #94-1258, the Board of Directors authorized acquisition of a conservation
easement over a portion of the property.

Strategic Plan Alighment: Goal 1: Safe, Healthy, and Caring Community

This acquisition will protect land for scenic views, clear air and clean water, and provide public access for
improved health and quality of [ife.

Revision No. 20120709-11




Fiscal Summary - FY 12-13

Expenditures

Funding Source(s)

Budgeted Amount S 100,000 | Select an item. S
Add Appropriations Reqd. S State/Federal S
S Fees/Other S 100,000
S Use of Fund Balance S
S Contingencies 5
$ $
Total Expenditure 3 100,000 | Total Sources )

100,000

Narrative Explanation of Fiscal Impacts (If Required):

The costs associated with performing due diligence contemplated in the purchase agreement is allocated in the
District’s FY 12-13 budget. The $2,050,000 in acquisition and O&M costs is also included in the District FY 12-13
budget. However, per the terms of the purchase agreement the District Manager will return to the Board at a
future date within the 120 day due diligence period to request authorization to actually expend the funds.

Staffing Impacts

:Pdsi_tion Title

(Pay}oll Cl_assi'f_i;at'iorn-)

(A-IStep)

Monthly _Sal'a'ry,:Ra_nge |

Additions '

{Number)

Deletions

'{N,umber)'

Narrative Explanation of Staffing Impacts (If Required):

Attachments:
1. Site Location Map
2. Resolution

Related ltems “On File” with the Clerk of the Board:

1. Purchase Agreement
2. Transfer Agreement

3. Notice of Exemption
4 Appraisal

Revision No. 20120705-11




Resolution No.

County of Sonoma
Santa Rosa, CA 95403

Date: 12/11/2012

Resolution Of The Board Of Directors Of The Sonoma County Agricultural
Preservation And Open Space District, State Of California {1) Authorizing the
District’s General Manager To Execute (a) A Purchase Agreement With
F.R.A.N.C.E.Z. LLC For Fee Acquisition Of A 198.7-acre Property On Fitch
Mountain For A Purchase Price Of $1,800,000; And (b) An Agreement With The
City Of Healdsburg Pursuant To Which Fee Title To The Property Will Be
Transferred Directly To The City, Subject To A Conservation Easement And
Recreation Covenant Held By The District; And (2) Delegating Authority To The
District’s General Manager To Take Specified Action to Administer Both
Agreements.

Whereas, the City of Healdsburg (“City”) is willing to own, operate, and
maintain parks, open space, recreation facilities and programs inside and
adjacent to its boundaries; and

Whereas, the District and City share an interest in preserving that certain
real property comprising approximately 198.7 acres of land in unincorporated
Sonoma County near Healdsburg, California (APNs: 087-044-036; 087-045-001,
087-045-002, 087-045-004, 087-045-006, 087-045-007, 087-045-008; 087-053-
005; 087-110-007, 087-110-008, 087-110-009, 087-110-010, 087-110-011, 087-
110- 012; 087-120-001; 087-130-002, 087-130-003, 087-130-004; 087-140-037,
087-130-038; 087-171-025, 087-171-026; 087-181-024, 087-181-025; 087-191-
022; 087-220-001) (the "Property"); and

Whereas, the District desires to focus its resources on preserving land
through the acquisition of conservation easements to the fullest extent possible,
rather than through fee acquisitions; and

Whereas, subject to the terms and conditions of a proposed agreement
pursuant to which the District will contribute certain funds to enable the City to
acquire fee title to the Property, the form of which has been presented to this
Board today (“Transfer Agreement”), the City is willing to accept title to the
Property and to devote it to use as an open space preserve with low-intensity
public outdoor recreational values, subject to a conservation easement and
recreation covenant held by the District; and

Whereas, the General Manager has negotiated and is now
recommending the District enter into a purchase agreement (“Purchase



Resolution #

Date: 12/11/2012

Page 2
Agreement”) with F.R.A.N.C.E.Z. LLC to acquire fee title to the Property for a
purchase price of 51,800,000, which agreement may be assigned to the City in
escrow for the purposes of facilitating direct transfer of the fee interest to the
City; and

Whereas, on December 10, 2012, the City Council for the City met and approved
the terms and conditions of the Transfer Agreement and Purchase Agreement; and

Whereas, the District is authorized to enter into the Purchase Agreement and
Transfer Agreement pursuant to Public Resources Code sections 5540 et seq.

Now, Therefore, Be It Resolved, that this Board of Directors hereby finds,
determines, declares and orders as follows:

1. Truth of Recitals. That the foregoing recitals are true and correct.

2. Transfer Agreement. That the District’s General Manager is authorized to enter into
the Transfer Agreement with the City in the form on file with the Clerk.

3. Purchase Agreement. That the District’s General Manager is authorized to enter into
the Purchase Agreement in the form on file with the Clerk.

4. Due Diligence. That the District’s General Manager is authorized to take all
necessary and appropriate action to administer the District’s rights and obligations
under the Transfer Agreement and the Purchase Agreement to investigate the
Property for the purposes of bringing the proposed purchase back to this Board for
final approvals, which authority shall include entering into contracts for due
diligence services contemplated by the agreements, provided such contracts do not
exceed $75,000 individually and $100,000 cumulatively.

5. California Environmental Quality Act. That the project authorized by this resolution
is exempt from the requirements of the California Environmental Quality Act (Public
Resources Code Sections 21000 and following) because the acquisition is exempt
pursuant to Sections 15313 of Title 14 of the California Code of Regulations because
the acquisition is to preserve wildlife habitat; alternatively is exempt pursuant to
Section 15316(a) of Title 14 of the California Code of Regulations because it is a
transfer of land ownership in order to create a park, where the land is in a natural
condition and the management plan for the park has not been prepared;
alternatively is exempt pursuant to 15317 of Title 14 of the California Code of
Regulations because the purpose of the acquisition is to maintain the open space
character of the area; and alternatively is exempt pursuant to Section 15325(a), (c)
and (f) of Title 14 of the California Code of Regulations because the purpose of the
acquisition is to preserve the existing natural conditions, to allow restoration of
natural conditions, and to preserve open space or lands for park purposes,
respectively.



Resolution #
Date: 12/11/2012
Page 3
6. Notice. That immediately upon the adoption of this resolution, the General
Manager is directed to post and to maintain the posting of a notice of exemption
pursuant to Public Resources Code section 21152.

Directors:
Brown: Rabbitt: McGuire: Carrillo: Zane:
Ayes: Noes: Absent: Abstain:

So Ordered.



ATTACHMENT 1

Sonoma County Supervisor?’ﬁl']gisuicts
>

’9%’

A

R,‘!_,W!{M‘,@a P . =

Fitch Mountain
LOCATION / GENERAL PLAN MAP

0 2,000 4,000 / \
e —— Feet N

Sources: Sonoma Counly GIS Group;

Sanoma County General Plan 2020,

Qpen Space and Resource

Gonsarvalion Element. SONOMA CQUNTY

Nole: This mag is for illustrative
purposas only. it is not intended to be  AGRICULTURAL PRESERVATION
a definitive property description. AND QPEN SPACE DISTRICT

Open Space and Resource Conservation Element
SCENIC RESOURCES

OUTDOOR RECREATION
A Planned Future Park

n Fitch Mountain Property
[ 1 Incorporated City Land
B District Holding

2| Public Land

BIOTIC RESOURCES
® Speclal Status Species
}:?;’,é Special Status Species Habitat
& ‘f’_ Marshes and Wetlands *
1111 Critical Habitat Area *
/77 Habitat Connectivity Corridor
= = = Riparian Corridor

* Not on this map.

C.Kendalt § 3&ISPrajectsiFitch_Mountain\PBF s



FIRST AMENDED PROPERTY PURCHASE AGREEMENT

This First Amended Property Purchase Agreement (“Agreement”) amends and
replaces that certain agreement entered into as of June 16, 2014 by and between
FR.AN.C.E.Z. LLC, a Delaware corporation, ("Seller"), and the Sonoma County
Agricultural Preservation and Open Space District, a public agency (the "Buyer"). The
effective date (“Effective Date™) of this Agreement is June 16, 2014.

RECITALS
A. Seller approached Buyer with an offer to sell to Buyer approximately
198.7 acres of land in unincorporated Sonoma County near Healdsburg, California
(Assessor Parcel Nos. 087-044-036; 087-045-001, 002, 004, 006, 007, & 008; 087-053-
005; 087-110-007, 008, 009, 010, 011, & 012; 087-120-001; 087-130-002, 003, & 004;
087-140-037, & 038; 087-171-025, & 026; 087-181-024, & 025; 087-191-022; 087-220-
001) as more completely described below; and ’

B. On December 11, 2012, the parties entered into a purchase agreement to
effectuate the purchase and sale of that real property (“Original Purchase Agreement”);
and

C. The parties agree that, notwithstanding its expiration on or around May 10,
2013, both Seller and Buyer acted in good faith in the performance of the Original
Purchase Agreement; and

D.  On March 27, 2013, Buyer notified Seller that conditions to closing
described in the Original Purchase Agreement at Paragraphs 4a, 4b, 4c, and 4d were not
satisfied and, as of the Effective Date of this Agreement, these conditions remain
unsatisfied; and

E. The conditions at issue include a number of possible encroachments
affecting certain portions of parcels comprising approximately 30.73 acres of the real
property subject to the Original Purchase Agreement;

F. The parties acknowledge that resolution of the conditions described in
Recital E to the Buyer’s satisfaction will require the commitment of substantial time and
resources by Seller, significantly delaying the Closing (as defined in the Original
Purchase Agreement);

G.  The parties desire to facilitate a more immediate purchase and sale of those
portions of the real property that are not affected by conditions described in Recital E;

Attachment 5



sjackson
Typewritten Text
Attachment 5


H.  Considering the foregoing, the parties desire to accomplish the purchase
and sale of the real property in two phases.

Therefore, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of
which are hereby acknowledged, Seller and Buyer agree as follows:

AGREEMENT

1. The foregoing recitals are true and correct.

2. Property Included in Sale.

(a)  Atthe Phase 1 Closing (as defined in Section 7 below), Seller hereby
agrees to convey and Buyer agrees to accept as an addition to that certain Zelma
Ratchford Trust Conservation Easement, recorded as instrument No. 1994-01068601 on
September 15, 1994 in the Office of the Sonoma County Recorder (“Ratchford
Easement”) 3.87 acres of land on APN 087-120-001, as more particularly described in
Exhibit A and as depicted in Exhibit B as the “CE Addition,” which addition shall be in
exchange for a release, pursuant to Public Resources Code Section 5540.5, of 1.69 acres
of land from the Ratchford Easement (affecting APN 087-191-022) and 2.18 acres from
the Zelma Ratchford Family Trust Conservation Easement, recorded as instrument No.
1994-01068591 on September 15, 1994 in the Office of the Sonoma County Recorder
(affecting APNs 087-181-024, and 087-171-026) as more particularly described in
Exhibit A and as depicted in Exhibit B as the “CE Release.”

(b)  Atthe Phase 1 Closing, Seller hereby agrees to sell and convey to
Buyer, and Buyer hereby agrees to purchase from Seller, subject to the terms and
conditions set forth herein, the following:

) All that certain real property comprising approximately
172.92 acres of land in unincorporated Sonoma County near Healdsburg, California
(Assessor Parcel Nos. 087-110-012 as modified by that certain lot line adjustment to be
accomplished by Seller prior to the Phase 1 Closing; 087-044-036; 087-045-001, 002,
004, 006, 007, & 008; 087-053-005; 087-110-007, 009, 010; 087-120-001; 087-130-002,

003, & 004; 087-140-037 & 038; 087-220-001) as more particularly described in Exhibit .

A and as depicted in Exhibit B as the “Phase 1 Real Property” (the "Phase 1 Real
Property™); and



(ii) All rights, privileges and easements appurtenant to the Phase
1Real Property that Seller possesses, including, without limitation, all minerals, oil, gas
and other hydrocarbon substances on and under the Phase 1 Real Property, as well as all
development rights, air rights, water, water rights and water stock relating to the Phase 1
Real Property and any other easements, rights-of-way or appurtenances used in
connection with the beneficial use and enjoyment of the Phase 1 Real Property (all of
which are collectively referred to as the "Appurtenances"). Without limiting the
generality of the foregoing, the parties agree that such Appurtenances include that certain
road easement which traverses portions of Seller’s property that are not subject to the
Phase 1 Closing, including APNs 087-110-008 and 087-110-011 as depicted on Exhibit
B. Atthe Phase 1 Closing, a deed of road easement shall be executed by Seller and
recorded by Buyer in a form acceptable to both Buyer and Seller containing the following
essential terms:

1) The easement shall be a 40-foot wide road and utility
easement for public recreational use and public park access, including all construction,
reconstruction, improvement, operation, maintenance and other activities reasonably
related thereto. Seller may request a modification of the width of the casement as
necessary to resolve the Stratton claim (Sonoma County Superior Court Case No.
255412) (“Stratton Claim™), provided that, in connection with such request, Seller shall
provide Buyer with a survey of the proposed road easement as modified by the intended
settlement of the Stratton Claim, which survey shall demonstrate that the road easement
is no less than 25-feet wide at any given point. Buyer shall be provided with the
foregoing survey and all other documents pertaining to the proposed resolution of the
Stratton Claim before Seller executes any settlement or stipulates to any order with
parties to the Stratton Claim.

2) The easement shall be created for the benefit of the
public and shall be transferable at the sole discretion of the Buyer.

3) The easement will not confer any responsibility or
liability on the Buyer or its assignees, successors, transferees, or grantees for any
hazardous materials, hazardous substances, or hazardous waste, as those terms are
defined in any Federal, state or local law, which are present on the servient property at
the time of creation of the easement or which have been deposited by someone other than
Buyer, its assignees or successors.



Buyer and Seller shall agree on the form of the above-described easement deed by
133 days from the Effective Date (October 27, 2014).

(ili) At the Phase 1 Closing, Seller will retain a 40-foot wide
access road and utility easement over APN 087-110-010 and APN 087-110-009
benefitting APN 087-110-011 and APN 087-110-008 in the location depicted on Exhibit
B as “Seller’s Reserved Access Easement.” The reservation of this easement shall be
accomplished via a deed restriction or easement deed in a form acceptable to Buyer and
Seller. Buyer and Seller shall agree on the form of the deed restriction or easement deed
by 133 days from the Effective Date (October 27, 2014).

(c)  Atthe Phase 2 Closing (as defined in Section 7 below), Seller hereby
agrees to sell and convey to Buyer, and Buyer hereby agrees to purchase from Seller,
subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein, the following:

(i) Any or all of that certain real property comprising approximately
25.75 acres of land in unincorporated Sonoma County near Healdsburg, California
(Assessor Parcel Nos. 087-110-012 (the portion to be merged per Lot Line Adjustment
pursuant to Paragraph 6(a) to comprise part of 087-110-011), 087-110-011, 087-110-
008, 087-181-024, 087-191-022, 087-171-026; 087- 171-025; 087-181-025) as more
particularly described in Exhibit C and as depicted in Exhibit B as the “Phase 2 Real
Property” (the "Phase 2 Real Property™); and

(ii) Al rights, privileges and easements appurtenant to the Phase
2 Real Property, including, without limitation, all minerals, oil, gas and other
hydrocarbon substances on and under the Phase 2 Real Property, as well as all
development rights, air rights, water, water rights and water stock relating to the Phase 2
Real Property and any other easements, rights-of-way or appurtenances used in
connection with the beneficial use and enjoyment of the Phase 2 Real Property (all of
which are collectively referred to as the "Appurtenances").

All of the items referred to in Subsections 2(a), 2(b) and 2(c) above are hereinafter
collectively referred to as the "Property."

3. Purchase Price.

(a) The purchase price of the Phase 1 Property is One Million Five Hundred
Twenty Thousand Four Hundred Eighty Four Dollars ($ $1,520,484) (the " Phase 1
Purchase Price").



(b) The purchase price of the Phase 2 Property is Two Hundred Seventy
Nine Thousand Five Hundred Sixteen Dollars ($ $279,516) (the "Phase 2 Purchase
Price"), based on the following appraised values for the constituent parcels:

APN 087 110 012 (3.65 acre ptn) = $28,516
APN 087-110-011 = $150,000
APN 087-110-008 = $80,000

APNs 087-191-022, 087-181-025, 087-181-024, 087-171-026, 087-
171-025 = $21,000

(c) The Phase 1 Purchase Price shall be paid as follows:

(1) The parties acknowledge that Buyer has deposited in escrow with
Fidelity National Title Company, 1309 College Avenue, Suite 100
Santa Rosa, CA 95404, ("Title Company"), a deposit in the amount of Twenty-five
Thousand Dollars ($25,000) (the “Deposit”). All sums constituting the Deposit remain
held in an interest-bearing account and interest accruing thereon shall continue to be held
for the account of Buyer. In the event the sale of the Property as contemplated hereunder
is consummated, the Deposit plus interest accrued thereon shall be credited against the
Phase 1 Purchase Price. In the event the sale of the Property is not consummated because
of the failure of any condition or any other reason except a default under this Agreement
solely on the part of Buyer, the Deposit plus interest accrued thereon shall immediately
be returned to Buyer. If said sale is not consummated because of a default under this
Agreement solely on the part of Buyer, the Deposit but not the interest accrued thereon
shall be paid to and retained by Seller as liquidated damages. The parties have agreed
that Seller's actual damages, in the event of a defauit by Buyer, would be extremely
difficult or impracticable to determine. Therefore, by placing their initials below, the
parties acknowledge the Deposit has been agreed upon, after negotiation, as the parties'
reasonable estimate of Seller's damages and as Seller's exclusive remedy against Buyer,
at law or in equity, in the event of a default under this Agreement solely on the part of

Buyer.
Seller 4% Buyer W

(ii) Buyer shall pay the balance of the Phase 1 Purchase Price by
depositing such payment into escrow in immediately available funds at least one (1)
business day before the Phase 1 Closing Date (as defined by Section 7, below).

(d) The Phase 2 Purchase Price shall be paid as follows:



(i) Buyer shall pay the Phase 2 Purchase Price by depositing the
appraised value as noted in Section 3(b) for any parcel subject to acceptance by Buyer
into escrow in immediately available funds at least one (1) business day before the Phase
2 Closing Date (as defined by Section 7, below).

(e)  References to the “Purchase Price” in the remainder of this
Agreement shall be construed to apply to the Phase 1 Purchase Price and/or the Phase 2
Purchase Price, as applicable.

4. Title to the Property.

(a)  Except as Buyer may specifically waive this entitlement, at the
Phase 1 Closing, Seller shall convey to Buyer or its assignee marketable and insurable fee
simple title to the Phase 1 Real Property and the Appurtenances by duly executed and
acknowledged grant deed in a form acceptable to Buyer. Evidence of delivery of
marketable and insurable fee simple title shall be the issuance by Title Company of a
CLTA Owner's Policy of Title Insurance, in the full amount of the appraised value,
insuring fee simple title to the Real Property and the Appurtenances in Buyer, subject
only to such exceptions as Buyer shall approve pursuant to Section 5(c) below. Said
policy shall provide full coverage against mechanics' or materialmen's liens arising out of
the construction of any improvements and shall contain such special endorsements as
Buyer may reasonably require.

(b)  Except as Buyer may specifically waive this entitlement, at the
Phase 2 Closing, Seller shall convey to Buyer or its assignee marketable and insurable fee
simple title to the Phase 2 Real Property and the Appurtenances by duly executed and
acknowledged grant deed in a form acceptable to Buyer. Evidence of delivery of
marketable and insurable fee simple title shall be the issuance by Title Company of a
CLTA Owner's Policy of Title Insurance, in the full amount of the appraised value,
insuring fee simple title to the Real Property and the Appurtenances in Buyer, subject
only to such exceptions as Buyer shall approve pursuant to Section 5(c) below. Said
policy shall provide full coverage against mechanics' or materialmen's liens arising out of
the construction of any improvements and shall contain such special endorsements as
Buyer may reasonably require.

5. Buyer’s Conditions to Closing. As to the Phase 1 Real Property, Buyer shall
have until 140 days from the Effective Date (November 3, 2014) to satisfy or waive the
following conditions as determined in Buyer's sole discretion, provided, however that
conditions 5(a), 5(h), 5(j) and 5(m) shall remain conditions until the Phase 1 Closing. As
to the Phase 2 Real Property, Buyer shall have until 700 days from the Effective Date
(May 17, 2016) to satisfy or waive the following conditions as determined in Buyer's sole
discretion, provided, however that conditions 5(a), 5(h), 5(j) and 5(m) shall remain
conditions until the Phase 2 Closing. All of the following conditions to the Closings,




including 5(a), 5(h), 5(j) and 5(m), shall be subject to the last paragraph of this Section 5,
which requires, among other provisos, that either Closing Date shall not be extended
except upon the express written agreement thereto by both parties hereto. The following
conditions are precedent to Buyer's obligation to purchase the Property:

(a) The City of Healdsburg shall have agreed to accept title to the Property
at the time of Closing, which it may decline to do for any reason, and the City of
Healdsburg shall in fact accept title to the Property at the time of Closing, which it may
decline to do for any reason. Nothing in this Section 5(a) shall be construed to permit
extension of the Closing Date without both parties’ written consent thereto.

(b) Buyer’s review and approval of any supplemental real property
appraisals as may be needed in Buyer’s opinion to support the Purchase Price in the event
that the investigations described in Sections 5(c) through 5(g), inclusive, reveal
information or circumstances which may affect the appraised value of the Property.

Such appraisal shall be conducted by an appraiser selected by Buyer at Buyer’s sole cost,
and shall be prepared in accordance with the Sonoma County Agricultural Preservation
and Open Space District’s Guidelines and Standards for Preparation of Narrative
Appraisal Reports. No such supplemental real estate appraisal shall be undertaken
without the express written agreement of both parties hereto. Further, Buyer’s
determination that such an appraisal is necessary in order to proceed with this transaction
shall not be construed as an act of bad faith respecting this Agreement.

(c) Buyer's review and approval of title to the Property, as evidenced by a
current extended coverage preliminary title report, accompanied by copies of all
documents referred to in the report. Seller shall as soon as possible after executing this
Agreement deliver to Buyer copies of all existing and proposed easements, covenants,
restrictions, leases, agreements or other documents which affect the Property and which
are not disclosed by the preliminary title report, or, if no such documents exist, a
certification of Seller to that effect. Buyer shall advise Seller, at least thirty (30) days
prior to the applicable Closing, what exceptions to title, if any, will be accepted by Buyer.
Seller shall have ten (10) days after receipt of Buyer's objections to give Buyer notice: (i)
that Seller will remove any objectionable exceptions from title and provide Buyer with
evidence satisfactory to Buyer of such removal, or provide Buyer with evidence
satisfactory to Buyer that said exceptions will be removed on or before the applicable
Closing; or (ii) that Seller elects not to cause such exceptions to be removed. If Seller
gives Buyer notice under clause (ii), Buyer shall have ten (10) days to decide to proceed
with the purchase and take the Property subject to such exceptions, or to terminate this
Agreement. If Buyer shall fail to give Seller notice of its election within said ten (10)
days, Buyer shall be deemed to have elected to terminate this Agreement. If Seller shall
give notice pursuant to clause (i) and shall fail to remove any such objectionable
exceptions from title prior to the applicable Closing Date, and Buyer is unwilling to take
title subject thereto, Seller shall be in default hereunder and, without limiting Buyer's
rights and remedies against Seller, Buyer may elect to terminate this Agreement and



Seller shall be liable for all of Buyer's damages, including, without limitation, Buyer's
costs and expenses incurred hereunder.

(d) Buyer's review and approval of an "as-built" survey of the Real Property
by a licensed surveyor or civil engineer. Said survey shall be acceptable to, and certified
to, Buyer and in sufficient detail to provide the basis for Owner's Policy of Title
Insurance without boundary, encroachment or survey exceptions, and shall show the
location of all easements and any improvements (including underground improvements)
and any and all other pertinent information with respect to the Property. The survey shall
also indicate any encroachments of any improvements onto easements or onto adjacent
properties or certify to their absence and shall indicate the presence of improvements and
easements on property adjoining the Real Property if located within five (5) feet of the
boundaries of the Real Property. The costs of the survey shall be paid by Buyer.

(e) Buyer's review and approval of all governmental permits and approvals
obtained or held by Seller and related to the use, construction, operation or occupancy of
any part of the Property.

(f) [Omitted.]

(g) Buyer shall have an environmental site assessment prepared for the
Property and shall be satisfied that the Property is free from known or potential toxic
contamination. Within thirty (30) days of the Effective Date, Seller shall disclose in
writing all hazardous material matters concerning the Property that Seller can reasonably
gather from its records. Such action by Buyer shall in no way impair, waive or diminish
Seller's representation contained in Section §(h) below.

(h) The physical condition of the Property shall be substantially the same
on the day of Closing as on the date of the execution of this Agreement, reasonable wear
and tear and loss by casualty excepted, and, as of the day of Closing, there shall be no
litigation or administrative agency or other governmental proceeding of any kind
whatsoever, pending or threatened, which afier Closing, would, in Buyer's sole
discretion, materially adversely affect the value of the Property or the ability of Buyer to
operate the Property in the manner it is currently being operated, and no proceedings
shall be pending or threatened which could or would cause the change, redesignation or
other modification of the zoning classification of, or of any building or environmental
code requirements applicable to, the Property, or any portion thereof, or any property
adjacent to the Property. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Seller hereby discloses pending
and/or threatened litigation involving APN 087-110-012 (Gustely) and APN 087-110-008
(Stratton).

(i) Receipt by Buyer of any documentation required under California
Government Code Section 65402,




(j) Compliance by Buyer, or its assignee, with the California Environmental
Quality Act of 1970, as determined to be necessary by Buyer or its assignee and the
statute of limitations shall have run on Buyer’s CEQA determination and no CEQA
claims shall have been filed against Buyer or its assignee.

(k) Buyer’s receipt of all necessary approvals to perform this Agreement
from the Sonoma County Agricultural Preservation and Open Space District Board of
Directors.

(1) Buyer shall be satisfied that the Property is suitable for its intended uses
including, without, limitation that there is at least one point of legal and sufficient access
to the Property which will accommodate use of the Property as a public park.

(m) All of Seller's representations and warranties contained in or made
pursuant to this Agreement shall have been true and correct when made and shall be true
and correct as of the Closing Date.

(n) A legal description of the Property shall be approved by the County
Surveyor.

The foregoing conditions contained in items (a) through (n) are intended solely for the
benefit of Buyer. If any of the foregoing conditions are not satisfied, Buyer shall have
the right at its sole election either to waive the condition in question and proceed with the
purchase or, in the alternative, terminate this Agreement and obtain refund of the Deposit
plus accrued interest thereon. The Closing Date may be extended, by the express written
agreement of both parties hereto, a reasonable period of time if required to allow said
conditions to be satisfied, subject to Buyer's further right to terminate this Agreement and
obtain a refund of the Deposit plus accrued interest thereon upon the expiration of the
period of any such extension if all said conditions have not been satisfied. In the event
Buyer elects to terminate this Agreement, Buyer shall pay any title and escrow charges,
and neither party shall have any further rights or obligations under this Agreement.



6. Seller’s Conditions to Closing. The following conditions are precedent to
Buyer's obligation to sell the Property, or any more specific portion thereof as may be
described:

(a) Seller shall have until one hundred and two (102) days from the Effective
Date (September 26, 2014) to resolve the claimed encroachment on APN 087-220-001
and 133 days from the Effective Date (October 27, 2014) to (i) accomplish the lot line
adjustment on APN 087-110-012 depicted in Exhibit B and (ii) resolve the Stratton
Claim. Seller shall use due diligence to accomplish the foregoing tasks within the
periods prescribed in the preceding sentence. Notwithstanding any other provision of this
Agreement, the parties agree that if Seller is not successful in its effort to resolve these
matters to Buyer’s satisfaction within such prescribed periods, then Seller shall have the
right, in its sole discretion, to terminate this Agreement without penalty.

(b) Seller has no obligation to sell any or all of the Phase 2 Property to Buyer.
However, Seller agrees that any sale of the Phase 2 Property to Buyer will be subject to
the terms of this Agreement.

7. Closing and Escrow.

(a) Upon execution of this Agreement, the parties hereto shall deposit an
executed counterpart of this Agreement with Title Company and this instrument shall
serve as the instructions to Title Company as the escrow holder for consummation of the
purchase and sale contemplated hereby. Seller and Buyer agree to execute such
additional and supplementary escrow instructions as may be appropriate to enable the
escrow holder to comply with the terms of this Agreement; provided, however, that in the
event of any conflict between the provisions of this Agreement and any supplementary
escrow instructions, the terms of the supplementary escrow instructions shall control.

(b) The Phase 1 Real Property and Appurtenances described in Section 2(b)
above and all other items required by Buyer in connection therewith shall be conveyed to
Buyer (“the Phase 1 Closing”) within 154 days from the Effective Date (November 17,
2014), or such other date as Buyer and Seller may mutually agree in writing (the "Phase 1
Closing Date"); provided however that Buyer shall not be required to close escrow on the
Phase 1 Real Property unless all conditions to Closing have been satisfied or waived by
Buyer in accordance with Section 5 of this Agreement. Such date may not be extended
without the prior written approval of both Seller and Buyer. In the event the Phase 1
Closing does not occur on or before the Phase 1 Closing Date, the escrow holder shall,
unless it is notified by both parties to the contrary within five (5) days after the Closing
Date, return to the depositor thereof items which may have been deposited hereunder.
Any such return shall not, however, relieve either party hereto of any liability it may have
for its wrongful failure to close.

10



(c) Any or all of the Phase 2 Real Property and Appurtenances described in
Section 2(c) above and all other items required by Buyer in connection therewith shall be
conveyed to Buyer (“the Phase 2 Closing”) within 730 days from the Effective Date
(June 16, 2016), or such other date as Buyer and Seller may mutually agree in writing
(the "Phase 2 Closing Date"); provided however that Buyer shall not be required to close
escrow on any of the the Phase 2 Real Property unless all conditions to Closing as to any
parcel to be acquired have been satisfied or waived by Buyer in accordance with Section
5 of this Agreement. Such date may not be extended without the prior written approval
of both Seller and Buyer. Seller shall convey any or all Phase 2 parcels as may be
acceptable to Buyer in a single closing. In the event the Phase 2 Closing as to any Phase 2
parcel does not occur on or before the Phase 2 Closing Date, the escrow holder shall,
unless it is notified by both parties to the contrary within five (5) days after the Phase 2
Closing Date, return to the depositor thereof items which may have been deposited
hereunder. Any such return shall not, however, relieve either party hereto of any liability
it may have for its wrongful failure to close.

(d) At or before the Phase 1 Closing, Seller shall deliver to Buyer the following;:

(i) A duly executed and acknowledged grant deed conveying to the
Buyer the Phase 1 Real Property and the Appurtenances, and all rights, privileges and
easements appurtenant thereto, as required by Section 4 above;

(ii) Originals of all leases (and amendments thereto, if any, and all
records and correspondence relating thereto) covering any portion of the Phase 1 Real
Property, and any security deposits relating thereto;

(iii) An affidavit pursuant to Section 1445(b)(2) of the Internal
Revenue Code and substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit D and on which

Buyer is entitled to rely, that Seller is not a "foreign person" within the meaning of
Section 1445(f)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code;

(iv) An affidavit pursuant to Section 18662 of the California
Revenue and Taxation Code regarding the withholding requirements for sellers of real

property in California;

(v) Closing statement in form and content satisfactory to Buyer and
Seller.

Buyer may waive compliance on Seller's part under any of the foregoing items by
an instrument in writing.

(e) At or before the Phase 2 Closing, Seller shall deliver to Buyer the
following:

11




(i) A duly executed and acknowledged grant deed conveying to the
Buyer the applicable portion of the Phase 2 Real Property and the Appurtenances, and all
rights, privileges and easements appurtenant thereto, as required by Section 4 above;

(ii) Originals of all leases (and amendments thereto, if any, and all
records and correspondence relating thereto) covering any portion of the Phase 2 Real
Property, and any security deposits relating thereto;

(iii) An affidavit pursuant to Section 18662 of the California
Revenue and Taxation Code regarding the withholding requirements for sellers of real
property in California;

(iv) Closing statement in form and content satisfactory to Buyer and
Seller.

Buyer may waive compliance on Seller's part under any of the foregoing
items by an instrument in writing.

® Seller and Buyer shall each deposit such other instruments as are
reasonably required by the escrow holder or otherwise required to close the escrow and
consummate the purchase of the Property in accordance with the terms hereof, including,
without limitation, an agreement (the "Designation Agreement") designating Title
Company as the "Reporting Person" for the transaction pursuant to Section 6045(e) of the
Federal Code and the regulations promulgated thereunder, and executed by Seller, Buyer
and Title Company. The Designation Agreement shall be substantially in the form
attached hereto as Exhibit E and, in any event, shall comply with the requirements of
Section 6045(e) of the Internal Revenue Code and the regulations promulgated
thereunder.

(g) Rents actually collected (whether such collection occurs prior to, on
or after the Closing), real property taxes, water, sewer and utility charges, annual permits
and/or inspection fees (calculated on the basis of the period covered), insurance
premiums (as to those policies, if any, that Buyer determines will be continued after the
Closing), and other expenses normal to the operation and maintenance of the Property
shall be prorated as of 12:01 a.m. on the date the grant deed is recorded on the basis of a
365-day year. Seller and Buyer hereby agree that if any of the aforesaid prorations
cannot be calculated accurately on the applicable Closing Date, then the same shall be
calculated within thirty (30) days after the applicable Closing Date and either party owing
the other party a sum of money based on such subsequent proration(s) shall promptly
pay said sum to the other party, together with interest thereon at the rate of five percent
(5%) per annum from the applicable Closing Date to the date of payment if payment is
not made within ten (10) days after delivery of a bill therefor.

12



(h) At or before the Phase 1 Closing, Seller shall pay the full amount of
all current and delinquent taxes and any other assessments or bonds on the Phase 1 Real
Property and the Phase 2 Real Property.

(i)  Buyer shall pay the premium for the policy of title insurance and all
other costs and charges of the escrow for the sale.-

()  Buyer or its assignee agrees to cooperate with Seller in completing
an exchange qualifying for nonrecognition of gain under Internal Revenue Code §1031
and the applicable provisions of the California Revenue and Taxation Code. Seller
reserves the right to convert this transaction to an exchange at any time before the
Closing. Seller and Buyer agree, however, that consummation of the transaction
contemplated by this Agreement is not predicated or conditioned on completion of such
an exchange. If Seller elects to complete an exchange, Buyer shall execute all escrow
instructions, documents, agreements, or instruments reasonably requested by Seller to
complete the exchange. Buyer shall incur no additional liabilities, expenses, or costs as a
result of or connected with the exchange. Seller agrees to indemnify, defend, and hold
Buyer harmless from any liabilities, damages, or costs (including but not limited to
reasonable attorney fees and related costs) that may arise from Buyer's participation in
the exchange.

8. Representations and Warranties of Seller. Seller hereby represents, to the best
of its knowledge after all due and reasonable inquiry, and warrants to Buyer as follows:

(a) There are now, and at the time of the applicable Closing will be, no
material physical defects of the Property.

(b) The use and operation of the Property now are, and at the time of the
applicable Closing will be, in full compliance with applicable building codes, zoning and
land use laws, and other applicable local, state and federal laws and regulations.

(c) All contracts, documents, reports, and/or leases delivered to Buyer
pursuant to this Agreement or in connection with the execution hereof are and at the time
of the applicable Closing will be true and correct copies, and are and at the time of
Closing will be in full force and effect, without default by (or notice of default to) any

party.

(d) Except as otherwise disclosed to Buyer in writing, Seller does not have
knowledge of any condemnation, environmental, zoning or other land-use regulation
proceedings, either instituted or planned to be instituted, which would detrimentally
affect the use and operation of the Property for its existing purpose, or the value of the
Property, nor has Seller received notice of any special assessment proceedings affecting
the Property.

13



(e) There is now no litigation pending or threatened, against Seller or any
basis therefor that arises out of the ownership of the Property or that might detrimentally
affect the use or operation of the Property or the value of the Property or adversely affect
the ability of Seller to perform its obligations under this Agreement, including without
limitation any proceeding or inquiry underway or threatened by any individual, entity or
government authority with respect to: (i) the presence of any hazardous material (as
defined in Subsection 8(h) below) on the Property or the migration thereof from or to
adjacent property; or (ii) any property boundary disputes.

(f) This Agreement and all documents executed by Seller which are to be
delivered to Buyer at the Closing are or at the time of Closing will be duly authorized,
executed, and delivered by Seller, are or at the time of Closing will be legal, valid, and
binding obligations of Seller, are and at the time of Closing will be sufficient to convey
title (if they purport to do so), and do not and at the time of Closing will not violate any
provisions of any agreement or judicial order to which Seller is a party or to which Seller
or the Property is subject.

(g) Seller is not a "foreign person" within the meaning of Section
1445(f)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code.

(h) The Property is not in violation of any federal, state, local or
administrative agency ordinance, law, rule, regulation, order or requirement relating to
environmental conditions or Hazardous Material ("Environmental Laws"). Neither
Seller, nor to the best of Seller's knowledge any third party, has used, manufactured,
generated, treated, stored, disposed of, or released any Hazardous Material on, under or
about the Property or transported any Hazardous Material over the Property. Neither
Seller, nor to the best of Seller's knowledge, any third party has installed, used or
removed any storage tank on, from or in connection with the Property, and to the best of
Seller's knowledge there are no storage tanks or wells (whether existing or abandoned)
located on, under or about the Property. To the best of Seller's knowledge, the Property
does not consist of any building materials that contain Hazardous Material. For the
purposes hereof, "Hazardous Material" shall mean any substance, chemical, waste or
other material which is listed, defined or otherwise identified as "hazardous" or "toxic"
under any federal, state, local or administrative agency ordinance or law or any material
that because of its quantity, concentration, or physical or chemical characteristics, poses a
significant, present or potential hazard to human health or safety or to the environmental
if released into the environment, or any regulation, order, rule or requirement adopted
thereunder, as well as any formaldehyde, urea, polychlorinated biphenyls, petroleum,
petroleum product or by-product, crude oil, natural gas, natural gas liquids, liquefied
natural gas, or synthetic gas usable for fuel or mixture thereof, radon, asbestos, and
"source," "special nuclear" and "by-product” material as defined in the Atomic Energy
Act of 1985, 42 U.S.C. §§3011 et seq.

14



9. Representations and Warranties of Buyer. Buyer hereby represents and
warrants to Seller as follows: Buyer is a public agency; this Agreement and all
documents executed by Buyer which are to be delivered to Seller at the applicable
Closing are or at the time of applicable Closing will be duly authorized, executed, and
delivered by Buyer, and are or at the applicable Closing will be legal, valid, and binding
obligations of Buyer, and do not and at the time of the applicable Closing will not violate
any provisions of any agreement or judicial order to which Buyer is a party or to which it
is subject.

10. Indemnification. Each party hereby agrees to indemnify the other party and
hold it harmless from and against any and all claims, demands, liabilities, costs, expenses,
penalties, damages and losses, including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys' fees,
resulting from any misrepresentations or breach of warranty or breach of covenant made
by such party in this Agreement or in any document, certificate, or exhibit given or
delivered to the other pursuant to or in connection with this Agreement. The
indemnification provisions of this Section 10 shall survive beyond the delivery of the
grant deed and transfer of title, or, if title is not transferred pursuant to this Agreement,
beyond any termination of this Agreement. Seller hereby understands and acknowledges
that the proposed transaction is a voluntary negotiated transaction by Seller and Buyer
which was initiated by Seller first approaching Buyer with the proposed transaction, and
therefore Seller hereby voluntarily waives any rights it may have to any relocation
benefits.

11. Loss by Fire or Other Casualty; Condemnation. In the event that, prior to the
applicable Closing, the Property, or any part thereof, is destroyed or materially damaged,
or if condemnation proceedings are commenced against the Property, Buyer shall have
the right, exercisable by giving notice of such decision to Seller within fifieen (15)
business days after receiving written notice of such damage, destruction or condemnation
proceedings, to terminate this Agreement, in which case, except as provided in
Section 10, neither party shall have any further rights or obligations hereunder and the
Deposit plus accrued interest thereon shall be refunded to Buyer. If Buyer elects to
accept the Property in its then condition, all proceeds of insurance or condemnation
awards payable to Seller by reason of such damage, destruction or condemnation shall be
paid or assigned to Buyer. In the event of non-material damage to the Property, which
damage Seller is unwilling to repair or replace, Buyer shall have the right, exercisable by
giving notice within fifteen (15) business days after receiving written notice of such
damage to terminate this Agreement as hereinabove in this section provided or accept the
Property in its then condition and proceed with the purchase.

12. Possession. Possession of the Property shall be delivered to Buyer or its
assignee on the applicable Closing Date, provided, however, that Seller shall afford
authorized representatives of Buyer reasonable access to the Property, prior to the
applicable Closing Date, for the purposes of satisfying Buyer with respect to the

15



representations, warranties, and covenants of Seller contained herein and with respect to
satisfaction of any conditions precedent to the applicable Closing contained herein.

13. Maintenance of Property. Between the Seller's execution of this Agreement
and the transfer of title to Buyer, Seller shall maintain the Property in good order,
condition and repair, reasonable wear and tear excepted.

14. Buyer's Consent to New Contracts Affecting the Property. Seller shall not,

after the date of Seller's execution of this Agreement, enter into any lease, amendment of
lease, contract or agreement or permit any tenant of the Property to enter into any
sublease, assignment of lease, easement, contract, or agreement pertaining to the
Property, or modify any lease, easement, contract or agreement pertaining to the Property
or waive any rights of Seller thereunder, without in each case obtaining Buyer's prior
written consent thereto, which consent Buyer agrees shall not be unreasonably withheld.

15. Miscellaneous.

(a) Notices. Any notice required or permitted to be given under this
Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been given when deposited in
the United States mail, registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, return receipt
required, and addressed as follows:

Seller: FRAN.CEZ LLC
Mr. Edwin Wilson, Esq.
Sayre & Wilson
16107 Healdsburg Avenue
Healdsburg, CA 95448

Buyer: Sonoma County Agricultural Preservation
and Open Space District
747 Mendocino Ave.- Suite 100
Santa Rosa, CA 95401

or such other address as either party may from time to time specify in writing to the other.

(b) Brokers and Finders. Neither party has had any contact or dealings
regarding the Property, or any communication in connection with the subject matter of
this transaction, through any licensed real estate broker or other person who can claim a
right to a commission or finder's fee as a procuring cause of the sale contemplated herein.
In the event that any other broker or finder perfects a claim for a commission or finder's
fee based upon any such contract, dealings or communication, the party through whom
the broker or finder makes his claim shall be responsible for said commission or fee and
all costs and expenses (including reasonable attorneys' fees) incurred by the other party in
defending against the same. The provisions of this Section shall survive the Closings.

16



(c) Assignment; Successors and Assigns. Buyer shall have the right to
assign this Agreement, as long as the assignee assumes all obligations of Buyer and
agrees to execute all documents and perform all obligations imposed on Buyer as if the
assignee were the original buyer in this Agreement. Upon the assignee's assumption of
Buyer's obligations, Buyer shall be relieved of liability under this Agreement. This
Agreement shall be binding upon, and inure to the benefit of, the parties hereto and their
respective successors, heirs, administrators and assigns.

(d) Amendments. Except as otherwise provided herein, this Agreement
may be amended or modified only by a written instrument executed by Seller and Buyer.

(e) Continuation and Survival of Representations and Warranties. All
representations and warranties by the respective parties contained herein or made in
writing pursuant to this Agreement are intended to and shall remain true and correct as of
the time of the applicable Closing, shall be deemed to be material, and shall survive the
execution and delivery of this Agreement and the delivery of the deed and transfer of
title. All statements contained in any certificate or other instrument delivered at any time
by or on behalf of Seller in conjunction with the transaction contemplated hereby shall
constitute representations and warranties hereunder.

() Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in
accordance with the laws of the State of California.

(g) Merger of Prior Agreements. This Agreement and the exhibits hereto
constitute the entire agreement between the parties with respect to the purchase and sale
of the Property and supersedes all prior agreements and understandings between the
parties hereto relating to the subject matter hereof.

(h) Time of the Essence. Time is of the essence of this Agreement.

(i) Headings. The headings used herein are for the purposes of convenience
only and should not be used in construing the provisions hereof.

(j) Partial Invalidity. If any term, covenant or condition of this Agreement
or its application to any person or circumstances will held to be invalid or unenforceable,
the remainder of this Agreement or the application of such term or provisions to other
persons or circumstances will not be affected.

(k) No Waiver. No consent or waiver by either party to or of any breach or
any representation, covenant or warranty will be construed as a consent to or waiver of
any other breach of the same or any other representation, covenant, or warranty.

17



(1) Interpretation. All parties have been represented by counsel in the
preparation and negotiation of this Agreement, and this Agreement will be construed
according to the fair meaning of its language. The rule of construction to the effect that
ambiguities are to be resolved against the drafting party will not be employed in
interpreting this Agreement.

(m) Third-Party Beneficiary. The parties to this Agreement agree, and
hereby covenant, that the City of Healdsburg (“City”) shall be an intended beneficiary of
this Agreement and of all representations and warranties of Seller relating to this
Agreement, including without limitation, the Hazardous Materials Warranty,
Representation and Indemnity, described in Section 8(c)(ii) of this Agreement.

(n) LLC Authority. As Seller is a limited liability company, the principals
of which desire to remain anonymous, Seller’s attorney Edwin Wilson, Esq., shall deliver
to Buyer, upon execution of this Agreement, a declaration under penalty of perjury, in a
form acceptable to Buyer, stating that he is authorized to execute this Agreement on
behalf of the Seller, F. R AN.CEE.Z. LLC.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of
the date of the Buyer’s signature below.

BUYER: SELLER:
Sonoma County Agricultural FRAN.CE.Z LLC
Preservation and Open Space District

oy Ul G el Ty 2

William J. Keene *Edwin Wilson
General Manager
Date: ?ll’\ ““i Date: S—eﬁaw {u—- {7,, 2014

City, State: Sccuta Rare . CA

APPROVED AS TO FORM FOR BUYER:

By: , %ﬂ @ZC,
sa Pheatt
Deputy County Counsel

*By signing, the signatory declares, under penalty of perjury, that he is authorized to execute
this Agreement on behalf of the Seller, FR.AN.C.E.Z. LLC.

18



EXHIBIT A

DESCRIPTION OF PHASE ONE PROPERTY

(Legal description to be provided by Fidelity National Title Company)



EXHIBIT B

(Insert Map entitled “Fitch Mountain Acquisition Two-Phase Project”)

B-1



08720452002 08720452004 Iy
I 057:0452006

08720452001 I g

§087.0451007

087.0447036
. 087-’053-005

AN

XXX
22020 vave
DORRRRRA

Vo, 008
-« 9«0_‘200.0.0’0’ 555

AT,
0872120-001 055

‘ \0‘\ s

Ve

087:22020071 HNRINEN

-

BT 0571917022 - ‘
< 08771817025

Phase 1

Internal Road*

Exhibit: =
Fitch Mountain Acquisition
Two-Phase Project Phase 1
——— Road Easement
to Buyer*
Buyer Initials: Phase |
s Road Easement
Retained by Seller*

\“\2
SONOMA COUNTY

AGRICULTURAL PRESERVATION

AND OPEN SPACE DISTRICT Seller Initials:

087-130-004

N087-181:024 1 \ o
) 0871712026 KRN

087-110-008

v

08711000740

087-130-003

-
¢ .

™

- @y,

202 _ \ 087.1407038

\ 08721402037,

\ 08711712025

m Existing CE

Phase 1 CE Addition
(Part of Phase 1
Real Property)

Phase 1
G Real Property

Phase 2

Real Property

|___] Parcels

* . .
Location approximate,
subject to survey.

A

N

Phase 1 CE Release
(Part of Phase 2
Real Property)

Map Date: 9/16//2014

Source: Sonoma Co GIS (parecls);
NASA/UMD/WSI 2013 (image)

This map is for illustrative purposes
only and not intended to be a definitive
property description.

C.Kendall S:\GISProjects\Fitch_Mountaim\PDFs\fitch_mtn_2_phase_with_swap_7.pdf




EXHIBIT C

DESCRIPTION OF PHASE TWO REAL PROPERTY

Legal description to be provided by Fidelity National Title Company




EXHIBIT D

CERTIFICATE OF NON-FOREIGN STATUS
(FIRPTA AFFIDAVIT)

Section 1445 of the Internal Revenue Code provides that a transferee of U.S. real
property interest must withhold tax if , (“Seller”) is a foreign person.
To inform the (“Buyer”) that withholding of tax is not required
upon the disposition of the Property, the undersigned hereby certifies the following:

3. I am not a resident alien for purposes of U.S. income taxation; and

2. The U.S. taxpayer identification number (Social Security number) for
Seller is ; and

4. My home address is
; and

5. I agree to inform Buyer promptly if I become a nonresident alien at any
time during the three years immediately following the date of this notice.

I understand that this certification may be disclosed to the Internal Revenue
Service by the Buyer and that any false statement made herein could be punished by fine,
imprisonment, or both.

Under penalties of petjury, I declare that I have examined this certificate and to

the best of my knowledge and belief it is true, correct and complete.

By:

Name:

Title:

Date:

D-1



EXHIBIT E

DESIGNATION AGREEMENT
(Escrow No. )

This DESIGNATION AGREEMENT (the "Agreement") is entered into by and
between F.R.AN.C.E.Z. LLC ("Seller"), The Sonoma County Agricultural Preservation
and Open Space District ("Buyer") and Fidelity National Title Company — Santa Rosa
("Title Company") as of 2014, (the "Effective Date").

I. RECITALS

A. Pursuant to that certain Property Purchase Agreement entered into by and
between Seller and Buyer, dated , 20 (the "Purchase Agreement"), Seller has
agreed to sell to Buyer, and Buyer has agreed to buy from Seller, that certain real
property located in unincorporated Healdsburg, CA California, and described more fully
on attached Exhibit A (the "Property™) (The purchase and sale of the Property pursuant to
the Purchase Agreement is sometimes referred to below as the "Transaction").

B. Section 6045(¢) of the United States Internal Revenue Code and the
regulations promulgated thereunder (collectively, the "Reporting Requirements") require
an information return to be made to the United States Internal Revenue Service, and a
statement to be furnished to Seller, in connection with the Transaction.

C. Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, an escrow has been opened with Title
Company through which the Transaction will be or is being closed. Title Company is
either (i) the person responsible for closing the Transaction (as described in the Reporting
Requirements) or (ii) the disbursing title or escrow company that is most significant in
terms of gross proceeds disbursed in connection with the Transaction (as described in the
Reporting Requirements).

D. Seller, Buyer and Title Company desire to designate Title Company as the

"Reporting Person” (as defined in the Reporting Requirements) with respect to the
Transaction as permitted by Treas. Reg. §1.6045-4(e)(5).

E-1



II. AGREEMENT

NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and
adequacy of which are hereby acknowledged, Seller, Buyer and Title Company agree as
follows:

1. Title Company is hereby designated as the Reporting Person for the
Transaction. Title Company shall perform all duties that are required by the Reporting
Requirements to be performed by the Reporting Person for the Transaction.

2. Title Company hereby requests Seller to furnish to Title Company Seller's
correct taxpayer identification number. Pursuant to such request, Seller hereby certifies
to Title Company, under penalties of perjury, that Seller's correct taxpayer identification
number is . Seller acknowledges that any failure by Seller to provide Title
Company with Seller's correct taxpayer identification number may subject Seller to civil
or criminal penalties imposed by law.

3. The names and addresses of the parties hereto are as follows:

SELLER: F.R.AN.CE.Z. LLC
Mr. Edwin Wilson, Esq.
Sayre & Wilson
16107 Healdsburg Avenue
Healdsburg, CA 95448

BUYER: Sonoma County Agricultural Preservation
and Open Space District
747 Mendocino Ave.- Suite 100
Santa Rosa, CA 95401

TITLE COMPANY: Fidelity National Title Company
1309 College Avenue, Suite 100
Santa Rosa, CA 95404

4. Each of the parties hereto shall retain this Agreement for a period of four years
following the calendar year during which the date of closing of the Transaction occurs.



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have entered into this Agreement as of the
Effective Date.

BUYER: SELLER:
Sonoma County Agricultural FRAN.CEZ.LLC
Preservation and Open Space District

By: By:
William J. Keene *Edwin Wilson
General Manager
Date: Date:
City, State:
TITLE COMPANY:
By:
Name:
Date:

*By signing, the signatory declares, under penalty of perjury, that he is authorized to execute
this Agreement on behalf of the Seller, F.R.AN.C.E.Z. LLC.



FIRST AMENDMENT TO AGREEMENT BETWEEN
THE SONOMA COUNTY AGRICULTURAL PRESERVATION AND OPEN
SPACE DISTRICT AND THE CITY OF HEALDSBURG FOR

THE ACQUISITION AND PRESERVATION OF FITCH
MOUNTAIN

This Amendment (“Amendment”) modifies that certain Agreement for the Acquisition
and Preservation of Fitch Mountain (“Original Agreement”) entered into as of February 4, 2013,
by and between the Sonoma County Agricultural Preservation and Open Space District (the
"District™) and the City of Healdsburg ("City").

RECITALS

A By action of their respective governing boards on December 10, 2012 and
December 11, 2012, the District and City approved the Original Agreement, which was
intended to preserve that certain real property comprising approximately 198.7 acres of
land in unincorporated Sonoma County near Healdsburg, California, as more specifically
described therein and hereinafter referred to as the “Property”; and

B. On December 11, 2012, the District and the Seller of the Property,
F.R.ANN.C.E.Z LLC (“Seller”) entered into a purchase agreement to effectuate the purchase
and sale of the Property (“Original Purchase Agreement”); and

C. On March 27, 2013, consistent with notice received from the City, District
notified Seller that conditions to closing described in the Original Purchase Agreement at
Paragraphs 4a, 4b, 4c, and 4d were not satisfied; and

D. The conditions at issue included a number of possible encroachments affecting
certain portions of parcels comprising approximately 30.73 acres of the real property subject
to the Original Purchase Agreement; and

E. The Seller failed to resolve the encroachments to District and City’s
satisfaction and the Original Purchase Agreement expired on or around May 10, 2013; and

F. Since that time, the District has negotiated a new purchase agreement with the
Seller, which agreement became effective on June 16, 2014 and was later amended on
September 17, 2014 (“Purchase Agreement”), pursuant to which the Property will be acquired
in two phases, subject to the terms and conditions of the Purchase Agreement, attached hereto
as Exhibit “B-1";

G. In the first phase (“Phase 1), the Seller will convey all that certain real
property comprising approximately 172.92 acres of land in unincorporated Sonoma County
near Healdsburg, California (Assessor Parcel Nos. 087-110-012 as modified by that certain lot
line adjustment to be accomplished by Seller prior to the Phase 1 Closing, 087-044-036; 087-

1
Attachment 6



045-001, 002, 004, 006, 007, & 008; 087-053-005; 087-110-007, 009, 010; 087-120-001; 087-
130-002, 003, & 004; 087-140-037 & 038; 087-171-025; 087-181-025; 087-220-001),
including all appurtenances thereto, which include, but are not limited to, a road easement
which traverses portions of Seller’s property that are not subject to the Phase 1 Closing (as
defined in the Purchase Agreement), including APNs 087-110-008 and 087-110-011. The
easement shall be a 40-foot wide road and utility easement for public recreational use and
public park access, including all activities reasonably related thereto, the width of which may
be modified pursuant to a judgment in Sonoma County Superior Court Case No. 225412
(“Stratton Claim”), provided that prior to the Phase 1 Closing a survey satisfactory to both
District and City demonstrates that the road easement is no less than 25-feet wide at any given
point. The foregoing real property and appurtenances are more particularly described in
Exhibit “A-1” and are depicted in Exhibit “J” as the “Phase 1 Real Property” and the “Phase
1 Road Easement” (collectively hereinafter the "Phase 1 Real Property"); and

H. City acknowledges that, at the Phase 1 Closing (as defined in the Purchase
Agreement), Seller will retain an access road and utility easement up to 40 feet in width over
APN 087-110-010 and APN 087-110-009 benefitting APN 087-110-011 and APN 087-110-
008 in the location depicted on Exhibit “J” as “Seller’s Reserved Access Easement” and that
the reservation of this easement will be accomplished via a deed restriction or easement deed
in a form acceptable to District and City; and

I In the second phase (“Phase 2”), the Seller will convey any or all of that
certain real property comprising approximately 25.75 acres of land in unincorporated Sonoma
County near Healdsburg, California (Assessor Parcel Nos. 087-110-012 (ptn), 087-110-011,
087-110-008, 087-181-024, 087-191-022, 087-171-026) as more particularly described in
Exhibit “A-1” and as depicted in Exhibit “J” as the “Phase 2 Real Property” (the "Phase 2
Real Property"); and

J. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Amendment, City remains willing
to take title to the Property, or any lesser portion thereof as may be conveyed under the terms
of the Purchase Agreement, and to devote it to use as an open space preserve with low-
intensity public outdoor recreational values, subject to a conservation easement held by the
District; and

In consideration of the mutual promises contained herein and other good and valuable
consideration, the receipt and adequacy of which are hereby acknowledged, the District and
City agree as follows:

AGREEMENT

1. The foregoing recitals are true and correct.

2. Exhibit “A” to the Original Agreement is hereby replaced with Exhibit “A-1,”
attached hereto.

3. Exhibit “B” to the Original Agreement is hereby replaced with Exhibit “B-1,”

2
Attachment 6



attached hereto.

4, Exhibit “C” to the Original Agreement is hereby replaced with Exhibit “C-1,”
attached hereto.

5. Exhibit “J” is hereby added to the Original Agreement.

6. The parties agree to modify the legal descriptions for the following instruments to
include only the Phase 1 Real Property for the purposes of the Phase 1 Closing (as defined in
the Purchase Agreement): the Covenant (Exhibit “D” to the Original Agreement), the
Irrevocable Offer of Dedication to the District from the City (Exhibit “E” to the Original
Agreement), and the Irrevocable Offer of Dedication to the City from Landpaths (Exhibit
“F” to the Original Agreement).

7. The “Interim Period” as defined in Paragraph 2 of the Original Agreement shall be
redefined as the period between the Effective Date of this Agreement and the Phase 1 Closing
date (as defined in the Purchase Agreement).

8. The “Closing Date” as defined in Paragraph 2 of the Original Agreement shall be
redefined as the Phase 1 Closing date (as defined in the Purchase Agreement).

9.  All references to the “Property” in the Original Agreement shall be construed to
include the Phase 1 Real Property and the Phase 2 Real Property.

10.  All terms used in this Amendment as defined terms shall have the definition
supplied herein or, if none is supplied, such definition shall be as supplied in the Original
Agreement.

11. Paragraph 3(a) of the Original Agreement shall be modified as follows:

a. Due Diligence. During the first 140 days of the term of the Purchase Agreement as
to the Phase 1 Real Property and during the first 700 days of the term of the Purchase
Agreement as to the Phase 2 Real Property (jointly hereinafter the “Due Diligence Period”),
the City will undertake whatever measures it deems necessary or appropriate to facilitate a
timely transfer of the Property, as contemplated herein, including completion of any due
diligence investigations of the Property that it deems necessary and appropriate. During the
applicable Due Diligence Period for any portion of the Property, if the City discovers
conditions or circumstances that were not known, anticipated or foreseen at the time of
execution of this Agreement that create an unreasonable risk of harm to persons or property, or
create unreasonable liability for the City as owner of the Property (collectively “Unacceptable
Conditions™), the City shall notify the District of such Unacceptable Conditions as soon as

3
Attachment 6



practicable, but not later than ten (10) days after their discovery or, as to conditions discovered
prior to the effective date of the Purchase Agreement (June 16, 2014), not later than September
19, 2014. The Parties shall thereafter attempt, in good faith, to address and resolve the same.
The City's obligation to accept fee title to the Property shall be subject to either (1) no such
conditions or circumstances having been discovered by the City during or prior to the
applicable Due Diligence Period, or (2) such conditions or circumstances having been
addressed and resolved to the satisfaction of the City. Should City fail to notify the District
any Unacceptable Conditions prior to the expiration of the applicable Due Diligence Period,
City’s obligation to accept fee title shall be subject to only such conditions as are explicitly
provided in this Agreement.

12. Paragraph 4(c) of the Original Agreement shall be modified as follows:

C. Conditions to Closing. District shall notify the City of any unsatisfied condition to
closing specified in the Purchase Agreement that District discovers within five (5) days of its
discovery or, as to conditions discovered prior to the effective date of the Purchase Agreement
(June 16, 2014), not later than September 19, 2014. Any and all notices that District is required
to give to Seller pursuant to Paragraph 5 of the Purchase Agreement shall be given concurrently
to City. District shall not accept any exceptions to title, or decide to proceed with the purchase
and take the Property subject to such exceptions, without obtaining City’s express consent
thereto. If District desires to waive a condition to closing that the City does not want to waive,
then the parties will meet and confer about the matter within five (5) days of District’s notice of
its intended waiver. The City and District may pursue all remedies available under the
Purchase Agreement for the satisfaction or waiving of a condition, provided, however, that if
City and District cannot reach agreement with regard to the satisfaction or waiving of a
condition to closing, City agrees District may, in its sole discretion, refuse to consummate the
purchase of the Property, in which case District may terminate this Agreement.

13. A new Paragraph 16 shall be added as follows:
16. Phase 2 Particulars.

a. Obligation to Accept Phase 2 Property in Accordance with Purchase
Agreement. The City agrees to accept any and all of the Phase 2 Real Property when all
conditions to closing provided in Paragraph 5 of the Purchase Agreement are satisfied or
waived by the City with respect to any or all of the parcel(s) which comprise the Phase 2 Real
Property. In connection with this provision, the City agrees that its obligation to accept any
of the Property shall not be limited by Paragraph 5(a) of the Purchase Agreement, which is
intended for the sole benefit of the District.

Attachment 6



b. Update to Legal Descriptions. The City and District agree to amend
the legal descriptions for the real property subject to the following instruments to ensure that
all Phase 2 Real Property is encompassed within such instruments once it is acquired pursuant
to the Purchase Agreement: the Conservation Easement, the Covenant, the Irrevocable Offer
of Dedication to the District from the City, and the Irrevocable Offer of Dedication to the City
from Landpaths. The City further agrees to update its Acceptance of the Irrevocable Offer of
Dedication to the City from Landpaths to refer to the more recently recorded Offer to
Dedicate made to it by Landpaths in accordance with this section.

14. Except to the extent the Original Agreement is specifically amended or
supplemented hereby, the Original Agreement, together with exhibits is, and shall continue to
be, in full force and effect as originally executed, and nothing contained herein shall, or shall
be construed to modify, invalidate, or otherwise affect any provision of the Original
Agreement or any right of either party arising thereunder.

15.  This Amendment shall be governed by and construed under the internal laws of
the State of California, and any action to enforce the terms of this Amendment or for the
breach thereof shall be brought and tried in the County of Sonoma.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Amendment as of the date
of the last signature below, however the Effective Date of this Amendment is September 2,
2014,

APPROVED: APPROVED:
SONOMA COUNTY AGRICULTURAL THE CITY OF
PRESERVATION AND OPEN SPACE HEALDSBURG
DISTRICT
President, Board of Directors City Manager
Date: Date:
ATTEST: ATTEST:
Clerk of the Board of Directors City Clerk

5

Attachment 6



APPROVED AS TO FORM: APPROVED AS TO FORM:

County Counsel City Attorney

Attachment 6



RECORDING REQUESTED BY AND
RETURN TO:

Sonoma County Agricultural ——
Preservation and Open Space District 1% /19'9""'"57 @C& TITLE

575 Administration Drive, Room 102A %; ; . 98 . 19

Santa Rosa, CA 95403 . 2 PAID

DEED AND AGREEMENT
BY AND BETWEEN
ZELMA RATCHFORD
AND
THE SONOMA COUNTY AGRICULTURAL PRESERVATION
AND OPEN SPACE DISTRICT
CONVEYING A CONSERVATION EASEMENT
AND
ASSIGNING DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS

Zelma Ratchford (hereinafter GRANTOR), and the Sonoma
County Agricultural Preservation and Open Space District, a public agency

formed pursuant to the provisions of Public Resources Code sections 5500
et seq. (hereinafter DISTRICT), agree as follows:

RECITALS

1. GRANTOR is the owner in fee simple of certain property

(hereinafter "the Property”) located in Sonoma County and more particularly
described in Exhibit A, attached hereto.

2. In 1990 the voters of Sonoma County approved the creation of
DISTRICT and the imposition of a transactions and use tax by the Sonoma
County Open Space Authority ("the Authority"). The purpose for the
creation of DISTRICT and the imposition of the tax by the Authority was
to preserve agriculture and open space by acquiring interests in appropriate
properties from willing sellers in order to meet the mandatory requirements
imposed on the County and each of its cities by Government Code sections
65560 et seq. and by the open space elements of their respective general

jpb/ratchfordA.S.eas/8.18.94 1

Attachment 7


sjackson
Typewritten Text
Attachment 7

http:jpb/ratchfordA.5.eas/8.18.94

plans. In order to accomplish that purpose, DISTRICT entered into a
contract with the Sonoma County Open Space Authority whereby in
consideration of that entity financing DISTRICT's acquisitions, DISTRICT
agreed to and did adopt an Acquisition Program that was in conformance
with the Authority's Expenditure Plan.

3. In October 1992 DISTRICT's General Manager and
GRANTOR entered into negotiations for the acquisition by DISTRICT of a
conservation easement in the Property. Those negotiations culminated in
July 1994 in an agreement which is memorialized by this writing.

4. On August 2, 1994, the Authority in its Resolution Number

94-56, determined pursuant to Government Code section 65402 and
Sonoma County Ordinance No. 4336 that the acquisition of a conservation
easement in the Property was consistent with the 1989 Sonoma County
General Plan (specifically the Plan's Agricultural Resources and Open Space
elements) because the Property is situated in the vicinity of the Russian
River riparian corridor, and is within the viewshed of the Highway 101
scenic corridor.

5. DISTRICT has the authority to acquire conservation easements
by virtue of Public Resources Code section 5540 and possesses the ability
and intent to enforce the terms of this Agreement.

AGREEMENTS

1. Purpose. It is the purpose of this Agreement to preserve the
open space, natural and scenic values of the Property and to prevent any
uses of the Property that will significantly impair or interfere with those
values. This purpose, as further defined by the provisions of this
Agreement, is generally referred to collectively herein as "the conservation
purposes of this Agreement." GRANTOR intends that this Agreement will
confine the uses of the Property to the following, which are consistent with
the purpose of this Agreement: management and conservation of natural
resources.

2. Grau and Acceptance of Conservation Easement and
Assignment of Deve ent Rights. Pursuant to the common and statutory
law of the State of California including the provisions of Civil Code sections
815 to 816, inclusive, GRANTOR hereby grants to DISTRICT and
DISTRICT accepts, for the purposes set forth in Recital No. 2, a

jpb/ratchfordA.5.eas/8.18.94 2


http:jpb/ratchfordA.5.eas/8.18.94

conservation easement in the Property and assigns all development rights
associated with the Property, subject to the provisions set forth in this
Agreement. A description of the existing improvements on the Property, as
of the effective date of this Agreement, is set forth in Exhibit D, attached
hereto and incorporated herein by reference. *

3. Affirmative Rights of DISTRICT. The affirmative rights
conveyed to DISTRICT are the following:

a. To identify, to preserve, and to protect in perpetuity
the open space, natural, and scenic values of the Property.

b.  To enter upon the Property and to inspect, observe,
and study the Property for the purposes of (i} identifying the current uses
and practices thereon and the baseline condition thereof, and (ii) monitoring
the uses and practices regarding the Property to determine whether they are
consistent with this Agreement. Such entry shall be permitted at least once
a year at reasonable times, upon twenty-four hour prior notice to
GRANTOR, and shall be made in a manner that will not unreasonably
interfere with the proper uses and practices regarding the Property. Each
entry shall be for only so long a duration as is reasonably necessary to
achieve the purposes of this paragraph 3, but not necessarily limited to a
single physical entry during a single twenty-four hour period.

c.  To enforce the rights herein granted and to prevent or
stop, by any legal means, any activity or use of the Property which, in the
judgment of DISTRICT, is inconsistent with this Agreement and to require
restoration of such areas or features as may be damaged by such activities.
However, it is the intention of the parties to this Agreement not to limit
GRANTOR's discretion to employ its choice of management practices so
long as those uses and practices are consistent with the conservation
purposes of this Agreement. Except as expressly provided herein,
GRANTOR retains exclusive access to and use of the Property.

d. GRANTOR consents to the County of Sonoma placing
the Property in a zoning classification that is consistent with the terms of
this Agreement.

4. GRANTOR's Use of the Property. This Agreement shall

confine the uses of the Property to the management and preservation of
natural resources and the other uses which are described herein. Examples

jpb/ratchfordA.S.eas/8.18.94 3


http:jpb/ratchforclA.5.eas/8.18.94

of uses and practices regarding the Property which are consistent with the
conservation purpose of this Agreement, and which are hereby expressly
permitted, are set forth in Exhibit "B," attached hereto and incorporated
herein by this reference. Examples of uses and practices regarding the
Property which are inconsistent with the conservation purpose of this
Agreement, and which are hereby expressly forbidden, are set forth in
Exhibit "C," attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference. The
uses and practices set forth in both Exhibits "B" and "C" are not necessarily
exhaustive recitals of consistent and inconsistent activities, respectively.
They are set forth both to establish specific permitted and prohibited
activities and to provide guidance in determining the consistency of other
activities with the conservation purpose of this Agreement.

The parties acknowledge that under current applicable zoning
regulations of the County of Sonoma the Property is classified as follows:
Sonoma County Assessor's Parcel Numbers 087-181-001, 087-181-003,
087-191-004, 087-191-006 087-191-022, 087-191-028 and 087-191-029,
(as shown on the 1992-93 Assessor's Roll), are designated "Rural Residential-
BS".

A more complete description of the applicable zoning regulations
will be included in the Baseline Documentation required by paragraph 10 of
this Agreement. GRANTOR retains no development rights in the Property
that are not expressly reserved to them by this Agreement. DISTRICT shall
have the right to use, sell, or otherwise benefit from the development rights
owned by it in accordance with applicable law.

5. Approvd Criteria Prior to undertaking any action which
requires DISTRICT's approval (as provided in Exhibits "B" and "C") or
which might have an adverse impact upon the conservation purposes of this
Agreement, GRANTOR shall solicit the approval of DISTRICT. In such
cases, DISTRICT's approval or consent shall be based upon compliance with
the provisions of this Agreement, the capability of the proposed action to
preserve and enhance the conservation purpose of this Agreement, the
manner in which the proposed action is to be carried out, the likely effect of
the proposed action upon the conservation purpose of this Agreement, and
on any other basis which DISTRICT shall reasonably determine to be in
furtherance of the purpose of this Agreement. Approval or disapproval shall
be within the sole discretion of DISTRICT and may only be granted upon
conditions which tend to further the purpose of this Agreement.

jpb/ratchfordA.5.eas/8.18.94 4


http:jpb/ratchfordA.5.eas/8.18.94

6. Written Approva Process. In the event that GRANTOR
desires to solicit the approval or consent of DISTRICT pursuant to this
Agreement, GRANTOR shall submit a written description of the proposed
action. DISTRICT shall issue its written approval, disapproval, consent, or
refusal of the consent, within sixty (60) calendar days of the receipt of
GRANTOR's written request. Upon the completion of any such action on
the Property, DISTRICT shall, at the request of GRANTOR, inspect the
Property and, if the action was performed in accordance with the terms of
this Agreement and the approvals or consents issued by DISTRICT
hereunder, issue a certificate to that effect, dated as of the time of
inspection. GRANTOR understands that any oral approval or oral
representation made by DISTRICT, its officers, employees or agents, does
not meet the requirements of this paragraph, does not otherwise bind or
commit DISTRICT and may not reasonably be relied on by GRANTOR to
its detriment. To that end GRANTOR agrees that no oral approval or oral
representation made by DISTRICT, its officers, employees or agents, or
understood by GRANTOR to have been made by DISTRICT its officers,
employees or agents, shall be used by GRANTOR to assert that DISTRICT
is, in any way, estopped or has made an election or has waived any provision
of this Agreement.

7. Costs and Lidbilities Related to the Property.

a. GRANTOR agrees to bear all costs and liabilities of any
kind related to the operation, upkeep, and maintenance of the Property and
does hereby indemnify and hold DISTRICT harmless therefrom. Without
limiting the foregoing, GRANTOR agrees to pay any and all real property
taxes and assessments levied by competent authority on the Property.
GRANTOR shall be solely responsible for any costs related to the
maintenance of general liability insurance covering acts on the Property.
DISTRICT shall have no responsibility whatever for the operation of the
Property, the monitoring of hazardous conditions thereon, or the protection
of GRANTOR, the public, or any third parties from risks relating to
conditions on the Property, GRANTOR hereby indemnifying and holding
DISTRICT harmless from and against any damage, liability, claim, or
expense (including attorneys' fees) relating to such matters. Without
limiting the foregoing, DISTRICT shall not be liable to GRANTOR or any
other person or entity in connection with consents given or withheld
hereunder, or in connection with any entry upon the Property occurring
pursuant to this Agreement, or on account of any claim, liability, damage, or
expense suffered or incurred by or threatened against GRANTOR or any

jpb/ratchfordA.5.eas/8.18.94 5


http:jpb/ratchfordA.5.eas/8.18.94

other person or entity, except as such claim, liability, damage, or expense is
the result of DISTRICT's negligence, gross negligence, or intentional
misconduct. '

b. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement to
the contrary, the parties do not intend and this Agreement shall not be
construed such that (1) it creates in DISTRICT the obligations or liabilities
of an "owner” or "operator" as those words are defined and used in
environmental laws, as defined below, including, without limitation, the
Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of
1980, as amended (42 United States Code, sections 9601 et seq. and
hereinafter "CERCLA") or (2) DISTRICT has the right to investigate and
remediate any hazardous materials, as defined below, associated with the
Property, or (3) DISTRICT has any control over GRANTOR's ability to
investigate and remediate any hazardous materials associated with the
Property. GRANTOR represents, warrants and covenants to DISTRICT
that GRANTOR's use of the Property shall comply with all environmental
laws as that phrase is defined below. For the purposes of this Agreement:

i. The term "hazardous materials" includes, without
limitation, any flammable explosives, radioactive materials, hazardous
materials, hazardous wastes, hazardous or toxic substances, or related
materials defined in CERCLA, the Hazardous Materials Transportation Act,
as amended (49 United States Code sections 1801 et seq.), the Resource
Conservation and Recovery Act of 1976, as amended (42 United States
Code sections 6901 et seq.), sections 25117 and 25316 of the California
Health & Safety Code, and in the regulations adopted and publications
promulgated pursuant to them, or any other federal, state, or local
environmental laws, ordinances, rules, or regulations concerning the
environment, industrial hygiene or public health or safety now in effect or
enacted after this date.

ii. The term "environmental laws" includes, without
limitation, any federal, state, local or administrative agency statute,
regulation, rule, ordinance, order or requirement relating to environmental
conditions or hazardous materials.

8. Public Access to the Property. Nothing contained herein shall
be construed as affording the public access to any portion of the Property
subject to this Agreement. Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to

preclude GRANTOR's right to grant access to third parties across the

jpb/ratchfordA.5.eas/8.18.94 6


http:jpb/ratchfordA.S.eas/8.18.94

Property, provided that such access is allowed in a reasonable manner and is
not inconsistent with the conservation purpose of this Agreement. '

9. Interpretation and Construction. To the extent that this
Agreement may be uncertain or ambiguous such that it requires
interpretation or construction, then it shall be interpreted and construed in
such a way that meets the conservation purpose of this Agreement and the
public policy goals referenced in recital no. 2. It is the intention of the
parties that any interpretation or construction shall promote the
conservation purpose of this Agreement. If any provision of this Agreement
or the application thereof to any person or circumstance is found to be
invalid, the remainder of the provisions of this Agreement and the
application of such provisions to persons or circumstances, other than those
as to which it is found to be invalid, shall not be affected thereby.

10. Baseline Documentation for Enforcement. DISTRICT
acknowledges by acquisition of the rights granted and assigned by this
Agreement that the present uses of the Property are compatible with the
conservation purpose of this Agreement. In order to establish the present
condition of the Property's protected values, DISTRICT will prepare
Baseline Documentation within six months after recording this Agreement,
which will be maintained on file with DISTRICT and which is intended to
serve as an objective information baseline for monitoring compliance with
the terms of this Agreement. The parties agree that the Baseline
Documentation, following its approval by GRANTOR, provides collectively
an accurate representation of the Property at the time of the execution of
this Agreement. GRANTOR and DISTRICT recognize that changes in
economic conditions, in natural resource management practices, and in the
situation of GRANTOR may dictate an evolution of natural resources
management of the Property, consistent with the conservation purpose of
this Agreement.

11. Remedies for Breach. In the event of a violation of any term,
condition, covenant, or restriction contained in this Agreement, DISTRICT
may, following notice to GRANTOR, and the expiration of any cure period
provided therein, institute a suit to enjoin and/or recover damages for such
violation. The notice shall be a general written notification of the condition
claimed by the DISTRICT to be a violation that is either mailed or
delivered by DISTRICT to GRANTOR. Subject to the limitations
contained in paragraph 7(b) of this Agreement, DISTRICT may take such
other action as it deems necessary to insure compliance with the terms,

jpb/ratchfordA.5.eas/8.18.94 7



conditions, covenants, and purposes of this Agreement.

Any failure by DISTRICT to act shall not be deemed a waiver or
forfeiture of DISTRICT's right to enforce any term, condition, covenant, or
purpose of this Agreement in the future.

Inasmuch as the actual damages which would result from the loss
of the values associated with the conservation purpose of this Agreement
and caused by its breach by GRANTOR are uncertain and would be
impractical or extremely difficult to measure, the parties agree that the
damages allowed by Civil Code section 815.7(c) shall be measured as

follows:

(a) for an improvement, prohibited by this Agreement, an
amount equal to the product of:

i. the market value of the improvement,

ii.  the length of time that the improvement exists
on the Property, commencing with DISTRICT's
notice, and

iii. the then current rate for post judgment interest;
and

(b) for a change in use prohibited by this Agreement,
whether or not it involves an improvement, an amount equal to any
economic gain realized by GRANTOR, commencing with DISTRICT"s
notice, because of the change in use.

If DISTRICT, in its notice to GRANTOR, demands that
GRANTOR remove an improvement, discontinue a use or both and claims
the damages allowed by Civil Code section 815.7(c), then GRANTOR may
elect to mitigate damages by fully complying with DISTRICT's notice. In
the event of such full and timely compliance, DISTRICT shall not be
entitled to damages for the breach specified in the notice. In the event of
litigation arising out of the notice, brought either by GRANTOR or by
DISTRICT, in which GRANTOR prevails and where GRANTOR has fully
complied with the notice within the times set forth therein, then
GRANTOR shall be entitled to economic damages; provided that neither
DISTRICT nor GRANTOR shall be entitled to damages where DISTRICT

jpb/ratchfordA.5.eas/8.18.94 8


http:jpb/ratchfordA.5.eas/8.18.94

has not claimed damages in its notice.

The remedies set forth in this paragraph 11 are hot intended to

displace any other remedy available to either party as provided by this
Agreement, Civil Code sections 815 et seq. or any other applicable law.

12. Acts Beyvond GRANTOR's Control. Nothing contained in this
Agreement shall be construed to entitle DISTRICT to bring any action
against GRANTOR for any injury to or change in the Property resulting
from causes beyond GRANTOR's control, including, without limitation, fire,
flood, storm, and earth movement, or from any prudent action taken by
GRANTOR under emergency conditions to prevent, abate, or mitigate
significant injury to the Property resulting from such causes so long as such
action, to the extent that GRANTOR has control, is designed and carried
out in such a way as to further the conservation purpose of this Agreement.

13. Agreement to Bind Successors. The conservation easement
herein granted and the assignment of development rights shall be a burden
upon and shall continue as a restrictive covenant and equitable servitude
running in perpetuity with the Property and shall bind GRANTOR, its heirs,
personal representatives, lessees, executors, successors, and assigns forever.
The parties intend that this Agreement shall benefit and burden, as the case
may be, their respective successors, assigns, heirs, executors, administrators,
agents, employees, and all other persons claiming by or through them
pursuant to the common and statutory law of the State of California,
including, inter alia, Civil Code sections 815-816.

14. Condemnation. In the event that the Property or some
portion thereof is condemned for public use by an entity other than
DISTRICT, the market value for purposes of just compensation shall be
determined as though this Agreement did not exist and GRANTOR and
DISTRICT shall share the compensation on the following basis: GRANTOR
9% and DISTRICT 91%. These percentages are derived from the ratio of
the price paid for the conservation easement to the appraised value of the
property before being encumbered by the conservation easement. In the
apportionment of the proceeds from an eminent domain proceeding, an
adjustment shall be made in GRANTOR's favor for any increase in value
after the date of this Agreement that is attributable to improvements;
provided such increase in value is earned through GRANTOR's efforts and is
not the result of value added by this easement, the passage of time or other
passive means; and provided, further, that such increase in value is not the

jpb/ratchfordA.5.eas/8.18.94 9



result of activities constituting a breach of this Agreement.

15. Subsequent Deeds and Leases. GRANTOR agrees that a clear
reference to this Agreement will be made in any subsequent deed, or other
legal instrument, by means of which any interest in the Property (including
but not limited to a leasehold interest) is conveyed, that GRANTOR will
attach a copy of this Agreement to any such instrument, and that
GRANTOR wilt notify DISTRICT in writing ten (10) days prior to any such
conveyance. These obligations of GRANTOR shall not be construed as a
waiver or relinquishment by DISTRICT of the rights created in favor of

DISTRICT by paragraph 13 of this Agreement.

16. Notices. Any notice, demand, request, consent, approval, or
communication that either party desires or is required to give to the other
shall be in writing and either served personally or sent by first class mail,
postage prepaid, addressed as follows:

To GRANTOR: Zelma Ratchford, Trustee
P.O. Box 275
Healdsburg, CA 95448

To DISTRICT: David Wm. Hansen, General Manager
Sonoma County Agricultural Preservation
and Open Space District
415 Russell Avenue
Santa Rosa, CA 95403

or to such other address as either party from time to time shall designate by
written notice to the other. Notice, if mailed, shall be deemed to have been
given upon the day following the day shown on the postmark of the
envelope in which such notice is mailed.

17. Successors and Assigns. The terms GRANTOR and
DISTRICT wherever used herein, and any pronouns used in place thereof,
shall mean and include the above-named GRANTOR and its heirs, personal
representatives, lessees, executors, successors, and assigns, including any
person claiming under them, and the above-named DISTRICT and its
successors and assigns, respectively.

18. _Integraion. This Agreement is the final and complete
expression of the Agreement between the parties and any and all prior or

jpb/ratchfordA.5.eas/8.18.94 10


http:jpb/ratchfordA.5.eas/8.18.94

contemporaneous agreements written or oral are merged into this written
instrument.

19. Estoppel Certificates. DISTRICT shall, at any time during
the existence of the Agreement, upon not less than thirty (30) days' prior
written notice from GRANTOR, execute and deliver to GRANTOR a
statement in writing, certifying that Agreement is unmodified and in full
force and effect (or, if modified, stating the nature of such modification)
and acknowledging that there is not, to DISTRICT's knowledge, any default
by GRANTOR hereunder, or, if DISTRICT alleges a default by GRANTOR,
specifying such default.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, GRANTOR and DISTRICT have executed this
Agreement this et day of MJR_C_J 1994.

GRANTOR:

mma@m

ZELMA RATCHFORD™

GRANTEE:

SONOMA COUNTY AGRICULTURAL
PRESERVATION AND OPEN SPACE
DISTRICT

ATTEST: Migt
Prasident of the Board of Directors
? M 4
T. LEWIS, County Clerk and
ex-officio Clerk of the Board of

Directors

jpb/ratchfordA.S.eas/8.18.94 1


http:jpb/ratchfordA.5.eas/8.18.94

* State of OO-LJ—'l‘\gy ™ \Q -
County of ___ SSONOMMG '

on Q0@ AR AR oreme. — QowaxTios Bdlagde,
personally appeated BC.UTYJ ecxl'd{m&

NAMES) O SGNERS)

}frwnaﬂyknowntolne-OR-Dpmvedmmemﬂnbasisofuﬁsflcbryevidencebbeﬂnperwn(s)wimscmme(s)

is/are subscribed to the within instrument and acknowledged to
me that he/she/they executed the same in his/her/their
authorized capacity(ies), and that by his/her/their signature(s)
on the instrument the person(s), or the entity upon behalf of which
the person(s) acted, executed the instrument.

2 ANMETTE 8 RiZHADDS
3 M a0 coMme e 2
Z o %] Notary Pubte - Caifomia %

U SONOMA COUNTY
IEES My Cornm, Expites OCY 17, 1997

WITNESS my hand and official seal.

OIS Belomil

SIGNATURE OF NOTARY

DESCRIPTION OF ATTACHED DOCUMENT

DESCRIPTION OF DOCUMENT {OPTIONAL)

State of &Zéﬁﬂni o~

County of ,_S:Dﬂ”“"'

on_ 7 - 7;Zf before me, L/ Jlffmabﬂ/‘/‘ﬂ///@’ﬁgﬁﬁ <

NAME. TITLE OF OFFICER — EfL. ANE DOE, NOTARY PUBLIC"

personally appeared M&/ &e—

NAMES) OF SIGNENS)

Déxomllyknownlome-Oll-EJpmvedmmeonthebasisofmisfnctoryevidemebbeﬂlepenon(s)whmmm(s)
is/are subscribed to the within instrument and acknowledged to
me that he/she/they executed the same in his/her/their
authorized capacity(ies), and that by his/her/ their signature(s)
on the instraument the person(s), or the entity upon behaif of which
the person(s) acted, executed the instrument.

- >, GLADYS ARUNACHALAM 2 WITNESS my hand and official seal.
= 1l il COMM #2357621 0 _

L ; o 4l NOTARY PUBLIC - CALIFORNIA & ;% é :

2 fq‘} SONOMA COUNTY 2 7 SIGRATURE OF NOTARY

My Comr:. Expires Feb. 27, 1998

DESCRIPTION OF ATTACHED DOCUMENT

N Dud oy Gt
{

T-721 (Rev. 3/94)


http:authorit.ed

EXHIBIT "A”
LEGAL DESCRIPTION

PARCEL ONE

Lots 7 and 8, Block H, as shown on that certain map entitied "Map of Subdivision of a
portion of Camp Rose, Healdsburg”, filed in the office of the County Recorder of
Sonoma County, State of California, on October 8, 1908, in Book 21 of Maps at Page 6.

A. P. No. 087-181-001

PARCEL TWO

Lots 1 and 7, Block |, as shown on that certain map entitied "Map of Subdivision of a
portion of Camp Rose, Healdsburg”, filed in the office of the County Recorder of
Sonoma County, State of California, on October 8, 1908, in Book 21 of Maps at Page 6.

A. P. No. 087-181-003

PARCEL THREE

Lots 3, 4, and 5, Block L, as shown on that certain map entitled "Map of Subdivision of a
portion of Camp Rose, Healdsburg”, filed in the office of the County Recorder of
Sonoma County, State of California, on October 8, 1908, in Book 21 of Maps at Page 6.

A. P. No. 087-191-028

PARCEL FOUR

Lots 1 and 2, Block L, as shown on that certain map entitied "Map of Subdivision of a
portion of Camp Rose, Healdsburg", filed in the office of the County Recorder of
Sonoma County, State of California, on October 8, 1908, in Book 21 of Maps at Page 6.

A. P. No. 087-191-029

PARCEL FIVE

Lots 25 and 26, Block L, as shown on that certain map entitled "Map of Subdivision of a
portion of Camp Rose, Healdsburg”®, filed in the office of the County Recorder of
Sonoma County, State of California, on October 8, 1908, in Book 21 of Maps at Page 6.

A. P. No. 087-191-004



PARCEL SIX

Lots 22 and 23, Block L, as shown on that certain map entitled "Map of Subdivision of a
portion of Camp Rose, Healdsburg”, filed in the office of the County Recorder of
Sonoma County, State of California, on October 8, 1908, in Book 21 of Maps at Page 6.

A. P. No. 087-191-006

PARCEL SEVEN

Being a portion of the lands of Ratchford described as Parcel Eight in the deed
recorded as Document No. 81060060, Sonoma County Records, more particularly
described as follows:

Beginning at the northwest corner of Lot 28, Block L. of Camp Rose as filed in Book 21
of Maps at Page 3, Sonoma County Records. Thence from said POINT OF BEGINNING
along the northerly boundary of said Camp Rose, S 67°30" E, a distance of 322.50 feet;
thence S 41°36' E, a distance of 232.05 feet; thence S 83°10' E, a distance of 230.00
feet; thence N 50°30' E, a distance of 107.83 feet; thence N 80°18' E, a distance of
436.03 feet; thence S 54°58' E, a distance of 110.65 feet; thence S 37°40’ E, a distance
of 125.27 feet to the most easterly comer of Lot 7, Biock H of said Camp Rose; thence
leaving the north line of said Camp Rose, N 52°20' E, a distance of 50.00 feet; thence
N 37°40' W, a distance of 132.88 feet; thence N 54°58' W, a distance of 138.83 feet;
thence S 80°18' W, a distance of 469.91 feet; thence S 50°30' W, a distance of 99.74
feet; thence N 83°10' W, a distance of 189.63 feet; thence N 41°36' W, a distance of
224.57 feet; thence N 67°30° W, a distance of 352.69 feet to the northwest corner of the
hereinabove mentioned Parcel 8; thence S 2°00°' W, a distance of 53.38 feet to the
POINT OF BEGINNING.

oMo 57-191-22
V-1 81-21 (ph)




« a3
-

Forever Wild Easement
Fitch Mountain

EXHIBIT "8 "

PERMITTED USES AND PRACTICES

The following uses and practices, though not necessarily an exhaustive recital of
consistent uses and practices, are permitted under this Agreement, and they are not
to be precluded, prevented, or limited by this Agreement, provided that they are
undertaken in accordance with the terms and provisions of this Agreement and that
all applicable governmental approvals and permits are properly obtained:

1. To use or lease the Property consistent with the conservation purpose
of this Agreement.

2. To maintain and repair existing fences, protection roads, and other
improvements on the Property. Additional boundary fencing deemed by GRANTOR
to be reasonably necessary may be constructed without DISTRICT’s consent. Such
fencing to consist of barbless wire. In the event of destruction, deterioration, or
obsolescence of any improvements, whether existing at the date hereof or
constructed subsequently pursuant to the provisions of this Paragraph, GRANTOR
may replace same with ones of similar size, function, capacity and location.

3. To utilize the Property for non-intrusive recreational or educational
purposes which include, but are not limited to, hiking, horseback riding and nature
study, and which require no significant surface alteration or other development of the
land.

4, To undertake conservation practices that promote soil stabilization and
reduce erosion in accordance with sound, generally accepted practices. Approval of
DISTRICT is required when conservation practices include using significant amounts
of materials such as rock and concrete.

5. To undertake wildfire management plans in order to control and maintain
vegetation to lower the risk of wildfire. Such methods may include prescriptive
burning, firebreak construction and limited tree and brush removal. Plans shall be
reviewed by DISTRICT and shall be acceptable to the California Department of
Forestry and Fire Protection or appropriate local fire protection entity.

6. To place signage on the Property, the size of each such sign not to
exceed one square foot in size.

7. To continue use in accordance with easements of record granted prior
to this Agreement. Modifications to pre-existing easements and subsequent easement
requests require the approval of DISTRICT.

8. To remove invasive, non-native plant species that threaten or impede the
growth of native plant species. To remove feral, non-native animal species that
threaten the protected values of the Property.

1o0f 2



Foraver Wild Easement
Fitch Mountain

9. To convey all or a portion of the Property to the City of Healdsburg, or
other willing park or open space entity (hereinafter GRANTEE), for the purpose of a
park. In the event of such conveyance, the GRANTEE may construct, reconstruct or
replace improvements consistent with park usage, with the express prior written
approval of DISTRICT.

o8/ 2o0f 2 fischentn.emt



Forever Wild Easement
Fitch Mountain

EXHIBIT " C "
PROHIBITED USES AND PRACTICES .

The following uses and practices, though not necessarily an exhaustive recital of
inconsistent uses and practices, are inconsistent with the purposes of this Agreement
and shall be prohibited upon or within the Property:

1. The impairment of the conservation purposes of the Agreement, except
as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement.

2. The establishment of any residential, agricultural, commercial orindustrial
use.

3. The construction, placement, or erection of any sign or billboard on the
Property, except as provided in Paragraph 6 of Exhibit "B".

4, The construction, reconstruction, or replacement of any improvement
except as provided in Paragraph 2 of Exhibit "B".

5. The division, subdivision, or de facto subdivision of the Property, except
as provided in Paragraph 9 of Exhibit "B"; provided however, that the voluntary
conveyance of all or a portion of the Property to a government or non-profit entity
exclusively for conservation or public access purposes, shall not be prohibited by this
Paragraph.

6. The use of motorized vehicles, except by GRANTOR or others under
GRANTOR'S control, for permitted property management activities, for inspections by
DISTRICT, for fire control, for emergency purposes and for uses pursuant to deeded
rights that pre-date this Agreement. Any use of motorized vehicles off roadways is
prohibited except when necessary for the above stated purposes.

7. The relocation of any roadway, provided however, that DISTRICT shail
consent to the construction of any roadway that is planned to minimize the impact on
the open space and natural features of the Property. -

8. The dumping or accumulation of trash, ashes, garbage, waste,
inoperative vehicles, or other unsightly or offensive material on the Property.

9. The above ground installation of new utility systems, including, without
limitation, water, sewer, power, fuel, and communication lines and related activities
and equipment.

10. The exploration for, or development or extraction of, minerals or
hydrocarbons by any mining method, surface or otherwise.

o84 firchrven.emt



‘e ala >

FITCH MOUNTAIN LOTS

Prepared by Sonoma Counly Agricuitura Presarvation and Open Space District

north ()’

400’



CERTIFICATE OF ACCEPTANCE

This is to certify that the interests in real property conveyed by the
foregoing agreement are hereby accepted by the undersigned pursuant to the
authority conferred by Resolution No.#t-7; g7 of the Board of Directors
of the Sonoma County Agricultural Preservation and Open Space District
dated (L. 30 (99¢ and the District consents to the recordation

thereof. v (L\ '

Dated: 4-2-9+¢ \”
Michael Ca‘@/ President




. 5

RECORDING REQUESTED BY AND
RETURN TO:

'-.___‘.\“-. . .- . [

Sonoma County Agricultural

Preservation and Open Space District AT OF: FIEST AMER | CAN TITLE
575 Administration Drive, Room 102A %1_5/ 1994 %m 9

Santa Rosa, CA 95403 é&ﬂ@

DEED AND AGREEMENT
BY AND BETWEEN
THE ZELMA RATCHFORD FAMILY TRUST
AND
THE SONOMA COUNTY AGRICULTURAL PRESERVATION
AND OPEN SPACE DISTRICT

CONVEYING A CONSERVATION EASEMENT
AND
ASSIGNING DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS

The Zelma Ratchford Family Trust, created by a declaration of
trust dated October 2, 1981 (hereinafter GRANTOR), and the Sonoma
County Agricultural Preservation and Open Space District, a public agency
formed pursuant to the provisions of Public Resources Code sections 5500

et seq. (hereinafter DISTRICT), agree as follows:
RECITALS

1. GRANTOR is the owner in fee simple of certain property
(hereinafter "the Property"} located in Sonoma County and more particularly
described in Exhibit A, attached hereto.

2. In 1990 the voters of Sonoma County approved the creation of
DISTRICT and the imposition of a transactions and use tax by the Sonoma

County Open Space Authority ("the Authority"). The purpose for the
creation of DISTRICT and the imposition of the tax by the Authority was

to preserve agriculture and open space by acquiring interests in appropriate
properties from willing sellers in order to meet the mandatory requirements

jpb/ratchfordB.4.eas/8.18.94 ]

ATTACHMENT 7B


sjackson
Typewritten Text

sjackson
Typewritten Text

sjackson
Typewritten Text

sjackson
Typewritten Text

sjackson
Typewritten Text

sjackson
Typewritten Text

sjackson
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT 7B

http:jpb/ratchfordB.4.eas/8.18.94

imposed on the County and each of its cities by Government Code sections
65560 et seq. and by the open space elements of their respective general
plans. In order to accomplish that purpose, DISTRICT entered into a
contract with the Sonoma County Open Space Authority whereby in
consideration of that entity financing DISTRICT's acquisitions, DISTRICT
agreed to and did adopt an Acquisition Program that was in conformance
with the Authority's Expenditure Plan.

3. In October 1992 DISTRICT's General Manager and
GRANTOR entered into negotiations for the purchase by DISTRICT of a
conservation easement in the Property. Those negotiations culminated in
Jlﬂy 1994 in an agreement which is memorialized by this writing.

4. On December 17, 1992 and on July 28, 1994, the Authority
in its Resolution Numbers 92-78 and 94-48, respectively, determined
pursuant to Government Code section 65402 and Sonoma County
Ordinance No. 4336 that the acquisition of a conservation easement in the
Property was consistent with the 1989 Sonoma County General Plan
(specifically the Plan's Agricultural Resources and Open Space elements)

because the Property is situated in the vicinity of the Russian River riparian
corridor, and is within the viewshed of the Highway 101 scenic corridor.

5. DISTRICT has the authority to acquire conservation easements
by virtue of Public Resources Code section 5540 and possesses the ability
and intent to enforce the terms of this Agreement.

AGREEMENTS

1. Purpose. It is the purpose of this Agreement to preserve the
open space, natural and scenic values of the Property and to prevent any
uses of the Property that will significantly impair or interfere with those

values. This purpose, as further defined by the provisions of this
Agreement, are generally referred to collectively herein as "the conservation
purposes of this Agreement.” GRANTOR intends that this Agreement will
confine the uses of the Property to the following, which are consistent with
the purpose of this Agreement: management and conservation of natural
resources.

jpb/ratchfordB.4.eas/8.18.94 2


http:jpb/ratchfordB.4.eas/8.18.94

2. Gramt and Acceptance of Conservation Easement and

Assignment of Deve ent Rights. Pursuant to the common and statutory
law of the State of California including the provisions of Civil Code sections

815 to 816, inclusive, GRANTOR hereby grants to DISTRICT and
DISTRICT accepts, for the purposes set forth in Recital No. 2, a
conservation easement in the Property and assigns all development rights
associated with the Property, subject to the provisions set forth in this
Agreement. A description of the existing improvements on the Property, as

of the etfective date of this Agreement, is set forth in Exhibit D, attached

hereto and incorporated herein by reference.

3. Affirmaive Rights of DISTRICT. The affirmative rights
conveyed to DISTRICT are the following:

a. To identify, to preserve, and to protect in perpetuity
the open space, natural, and scenic values of the Property.

b.  To enter upon the Property and to inspect, observe,
and study the Property for the purposes of (i) identifying the current uses
and practices thereon and the baseline condition thereof, and (ii) monitoring
the uses and practices regarding the Property to determine whether they are
consistent with this Agreement. Such entry shall be permitted at least once
a year at reasonable times, upon twenty-four hour prior notice to
GRANTORY, and shall be made in a manner that will not unreasonably
interfere with the proper uses and practices regarding the Property. Each
entry shall be for only so long a duration as is reasonably necessary to
achieve the purposes of this paragraph 3, but not necessarily limited to a
single physical entry during a single twenty-four hour period.

c. To enforce the rights herein granted and to prevent or
stop, by any legal means, any activity or use of the Property which, in the
judgment of DISTRICT, is inconsistent with this Agreement and to require
restoration of such areas or features as may be damaged by such activities.
However, it is the intention of the parties to this Agreement not to limit
GRANTOR's discretion to employ its choice of management practices so

long as those uses and practices are consistent with the conservation
purposes of this Agreement. Except as expressly provided herein,

GRANTOR retains exclusive access to and use of the Property.

jpb/ratchfordB.4.eas/8.18.94 3


http:jpb/ratchfordB.4.eas/8.18.94

d. GRANTOR consents to the County of Sonoma placing .
the Property in a zoning classification that is consistent with the terms of
this Agreement.

4. GRANTOR's Use of the Property. This Agreement shall

confine the uses of the Property to the management and preservation of
natural resources and the other uses which are described herein. Examples
of uses and practices regarding the Property which are consistent with the
conservation purpose of this Agreement, and which are hereby expressly
permitted, are set forth in Exhibit "B," attached hereto and incorporated
herein by this reference. Examples of uses and practices regarding the
Property which are inconsistent with the conservation purpose of this
Agreement, and which are hereby expressly forbidden, are set forth in
Exhibit "C," attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference. The
uses and practices set forth in both Exhibits "B" and "C" are not necessarily
exhaustive recitals of consistent and inconsistent activities, respectively.
They are set forth both to establish specific permitted and prohibited

activities and to provide guidance in determining the consistency of other
activities with the conservation purpose of this Agreement.

The parties acknowledge that under current applicable zoning
regulations of the County of Sonoma the Property is classified as follows:

A. Sonoma County Assessor's Parcel Numbers 087-045-001, 087-
045-002, 087-045-004, 087-045-006 and 087-045-008 (as shown on the
1992-93 Assessor's Roll), are designated "Rural Residential-BS".

B. Sonoma County Assessor's Parcel Numbers 087-110-005, 087-
120-001, 087-130-001 and 087-220-001 (as shown on the 1992-93

Assessor's Roll) respectively, are designated "Resources and Rural
Development B8."

A more complete description of the applicable zoning regulations
will be included in the Baseline Documentation required by paragraph 10 of
this Agreement. GRANTOR retains no development rights in the Property
that are not expressly reserved to them by this Agreement. DISTRICT shall
have the right to use, sell, or otherwise benefit from the development rights
owned by it in accordance with applicable law.

jpb/ratchfordB.4.eas/8.18.94 4


http:4.eas/8.18.94

5. Approvd Criteria. Prior to undertaking any action which
requires DISTRICT's approval (as provided in Exhibits "B" and "C"} or

which might have an adverse impact upon the conservation purposes of this
Agreement, GRANTOR shall solicit the approval of DISTRICT. In such
cases, DISTRICT's approval or consent shall be based upon compliance with
the provisions of this Agreement, the capability of the proposed action to
preserve and enhance the conservation purpose of this Agreement, the
manner in which the proposed action is to be carried out, the likely effect of
the proposed action upon the conservation purpose of this Agreement, and
on any other basis which DISTRICT shall reasonably determine to be in
furtherance of the purpose of this Agreement. Approval or disapproval shall
be within the sole discretion of DISTRICT and may only be granted upon
conditions which tend to further the purpose of this Agreement.

6. Written Approvd Process. In the event that GRANTOR

desires to solicit the approval or consent of DISTRICT pursuant to this
Agreement, GRANTOR shall submit a written description of the proposed
action. DISTRICT shall issue its written approval, disapproval, consent, or
refusal of the consent, within sixty (60) calendar days of the receipt of
GRANTOR's written request. Upon the completion of any such action on
the Property, DISTRICT shall, at the request of GRANTOR, inspect the
Property and, if the action was performed in accordance with the terms of
this Agreement and the approvals or consents issued by DISTRICT
hereunder, issue a certificate to that effect, dated as of the time of
inspection. GRANTOR understands that any oral approval or oral
representation made by DISTRICT, its officers, employees or agents, does
not meet the requirements of this paragraph, does not otherwise bind or
commit DISTRICT and may not reasonably be relied on by GRANTOR to
its detriment. To that end GRANTOR agrees that no oral approval or oral
representation made by DISTRICT, its officers, employees or agents, or
understood by GRANTOR to have been made by DISTRICT, its officers,
employees or agents, shall be used by GRANTOR to assert that DISTRICT
is, in any way, estopped or has made an election or has waived any provision
of this Agreement.

7. Costs and Lidbilities Related to the Property.

a. GRANTOR agrees to bear all costs and liabilities of any
kind related to the operation, upkeep, and maintenance of the Property and

jpb/ratchfordB.4.eas/8.18.94 5


http:jpb/ratchfordB.4.eas/8.18.94

does hereby indemnify and hold DISTRICT harmless therefrom. Without
limiting the foregoing, GRANTOR agrees to pay any and all real property
taxes and assessments levied by competent authority on the Property.
GRANTOR shall be solely responsible for any costs related to the
maintenance of general liability insurance covering acts on the Property.
DISTRICT shall have no responsibility whatever for the operation of the
Property, the monitoring of hazardous conditions thereon, or the protection
of GRANTOR, the public, or any third parties from risks relating to
conditions on the Property, GRANTOR hereby indemnifying and holding
DISTRICT harmless from and against any damage, liability, claim, or
expense (including attorneys' fees) relating to such matters. Without
limiting the foregoing, DISTRICT shall not be liable to GRANTOR or any
other person or entity in connection with consents given or withheld
hereunder, or in connection with any entry upon the Property occurring
pursuant to this Agreement, or on account of any claim, liability, damage, or
expense suffered or incurred by or threatened against GRANTOR or any
other person or entity, except as such claim, liability, damage, or expense is
the result of DISTRICT"s negligence, gross negligence, or intentional
misconduct.

b. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement to

the contrary, the parties do not intend and this Agreement shall not be
construed such that (1) it creates in DISTRICT the obligations or liabilities
of an "owner" or "operator” as those words are defined and used in
environmental laws, as defined below, including, without limitation, the

Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of
1980, as amended (42 United States Code, sections 9601 et seq. and

hereinafter "CERCLA") or (2) DISTRICT has the right to investigate and

remediate any hazardous materials, as defined below, associated with the

Property, or (3) DISTRICT has any control over GRANTOR's ability to
investigate and remediate any hazardous materials associated with the

Property. GRANTOR represents, warrants and covenants to DISTRICT
that GRANTOR's use of the Property shall comply with all environmental
laws as that phrase is defined below. For the purposes of this Agreement:

i. The term "hazardous materials" includes, without
limitation, any flammable explosives, radioactive materials, hazardous
materials, hazardous wastes, hazardous or toxic substances, or related
materials defined in CERCLA, the Hazardous Materials Transportation Act,

jpb/ratchfordB.4.eas/8.18.94 6


http:jpb/ratchforclB.4.eas/8.18.94

as amended (49 United States Code sections 1801 et seq.), the Resource .
Conservation and Recovery Act of 1976, as amended (42 United States
Code sections 6901 et seq.), sections 25117 and 25316 of the California
Health & Safety Code, and in the regulations adopted and publications
promulgated pursuant to them, or any other federal, state, or local
environmental laws, ordinances, rules, or regulations concerning the

environment, industrial hygiene or public health or safety now in effect or
enacted after this date.

ii. The term "environmental laws" includes, without
limitation, any federal, state, local or administrative agency statute,

regulation, rule, ordinance, order or requirement relating to environmental
conditions or hazardous materials.

8. Public Access to the Property. Nothing contained herein shall
be construed as affording the public access to any portion of the Property

subject to this Agreement. Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to
preclude GRANTOR's right to grant access to third parties across the
Property, provided that such access is allowed in a reasonable manner and is
not inconsistent with the conservation purpose of this Agreement.

9. Interpretation and Construction. To the extent that this
Agreement may be uncertain or ambiguous such that it requires

interpretation or construction, then it shall be interpreted and construed in
such a way that meets the conservation purpose of this Agreement and the
public policy goals referenced in recital no. 2. It is the intention of the
parties that any interpretation or construction shall promote the
conservation purpose of this Agreement. If any provision of this Agreement
or the application thereof to any person or circumstance is found to be
invalid, the remainder of the provisions of this Agreement and the
application of such provisions to persons or circumstances, other than those
as to which it is found to be invalid, shall not be affected thereby.

10. Baseline Documentation for Enforcement. DISTRICT

acknowledges by acquisition of the rights granted and assigned by this
Agreement that the present uses of the Property are compatible with the
conservation purpose of this Agreement. In order to establish the present

condition of the Property's protected values, DISTRICT will prepare
Baseline Documentation within six months after recording this Agreement,

jpb/ratchfordB.4.eas/8.18.94 vi


http:jpb/ratchfordB.4.eas/8.18.94

r
1

which will be maintained on file with DISTRICT and which is intended to
serve as an objective information baseline for monitoring compliance with
the terms of this Agreement. The parties agree that the Baseline
Documentation, following its approval by GRANTOR, provides collectively
an accurate representation of the Property at the time of the execution of
this Agreement. GRANTOR and DISTRICT recognize that changes in

economic conditions, in natural resource management practices, and in the
situation of GRANTOR may dictate an evolution of natural resources

management of the Property, consistent with the conservation purpose of
this Agreement.

11. Remedies for Breach. In the event of a violation of any term,

condition, covenant, or restriction contained in this Agreement, DISTRICT
may, following notice to GRANTOR and the expiration of any cure period
provided therein, institute a suit to enjoin and/or recover damages for such

violation. The notice shall be a general written notification of the condition
claimed by the DISTRICT to be a violation that is either mailed or

delivered by DISTRICT to GRANTOR. Subject to the limitations

contained in paragraph 7(b) of this Agreement, DISTRICT may take such
other action as it deems necessary to insure compliance with the terms,

conditions, covenants, and purposes of this Agreement.

Any failure by DISTRICT to act shall not be deemed a waiver or
forfeiture of DISTRICT's right to enforce any term, condition, covenant, or
purpose of this Agreement in the future.

Inasmuch as the actual damages which would result from the loss
of the values associated with the conservation purpose of this Agreement

and caused by its breach by GRANTOR are uncertain and would be

impractical or extremely difficult to measure, the parties agree that the
damages allowed by Civil Code section 815.7(c) shall be measured as
follows:

(a) for an improvement, prohibited by this Agreement, an
amount equal to the product of:

i. the market value of the improvement,

ii.  the length of time that the improvement exists

jpb/ratchfordB.4.eas/8.18.94 8


http:4.eas/8.18.94

on the Property, commencing with DISTRICT's
notice, and ,

iii. the then current rate for post judgment interest;
and

(b) for a change in use prohibited by this Agreement,

whether or not it involves an improvement, an amount equal to any

economic gain realized by GRANTOR, commencing with DISTRICT's

notice, because of the change in use.

If DISTRICT, in its notice to GRANTOR, demands that
GRANTOR remove an improvement, discontinue a use or both and claims
the damages allowed by Civil Code section 815.7(c), then GRANTOR may
elect to mitigate damages by fully complying with DISTRICT's notice. In
the event of such full and timely compliance, DISTRICT shall not be
entitled to damages for the breach specified in the notice. In the event of
litigation arising out of the notice, brought either by GRANTOR or by
DISTRICT, in which GRANTOR prevails and where GRANTOR has fully
complied with the notice within the times set forth therein, then
GRANTOR shall be entitled to economic damages; provided that neither

DISTRICT nor GRANTOR shall be entitled to damages where DISTRICT
has not claimed damages in its notice.

The remedies set forth in this paragraph 11 are not intended to
displace any other remedy available to either party as provided by this
Agreement, Civil Code sections 815 et seq. or any other applicable law.

12. Acts Beyond GRANTOR's Control. Nothing contained in this
Agreement shall be construed to entitle DISTRICT to bring any action

against GRANTOR for any injury to or change in the Property resulting

from causes beyond GRANTOR's control, including, without limitation, fire,
flood, storm, and earth movement, or from any prudent action taken by

GRANTOR under emergency conditions to prevent, abate, or mitigate

significant injury to the Property resulting from such causes so long as such
action, to the extent that GRANTOR has control, is designed and carried
out in such a way as to further the conservation purpose of this Agreement.

13. Agreement to Bind Successors. The conservation easement
jpb/ratchfordB.4.eas/8.18.94 9


http:jpb/ratchfordB.4.eas/8.18.94

herein granted and the assignment of development rights shall be a burden
upon and shall continue as a restrictive covenant and equitable servitude
running in perpetuity with the Property and shall bind GRANTOR, its heirs,
personal representatives, lessees, executors, successors, and assigns forever.
The parties intend that this Agreement shall benetit and burden, as the case
may be, their respective successors, assigns, heirs, executors, administrators,
agents, employees, and all other persons claiming by or through them

pursuant to the common and statutory law of the State of California,
including, inter alia, Civil Code sections 815-816.

14. Condemnation. In the event that the Property or some

portion thereof is condemned for public use by an entity other than

DISTRICT, the market value for purposes of just compensation shall be
determined as though this Agreement did not exist and GRANTOR and

DISTRICT shall share the compensation on the following basis: GRANTOR
9% and DISTRICT 91%. These percentages are derived from the ratio of

the appraised value of the conservation easement to the appraised value of

the property betore being encumbered by the conservation easement. In the
apportionment of the proceeds from an eminent domain proceeding, an

adjustment shall be made in GRANTOR's favor for any increase in value
after the date of this Agreement that is attributable to improvements;
provided such increase in value is earned through GRANTOR's efforts and is
not the result of value added by this easement, the passage of time or other
passive means; and provided, further, that such increase in value is not the
result of activities constituting a breach of this Agreement.

15. Subsequent Deeds and Leases. GRANTOR agrees that a clear
reference to this Agreement will be made in any subsequent deed, or other
legal instrument, by means of which any interest in the Property (including
but not limited to a leasehold interest) is conveyed, that GRANTOR will
attach a copy of this Agreement to any such instrument, and that
GRANTOR will notify DISTRICT in writing ten (10) days prior to any such
conveyance. These obligations of GRANTOR shall not be construed as a

waiver or relinquishment by DISTRICT of the rights created in favor of
DISTRICT by paragraph 13 of this Agreement.

16. Notices. Any notice, demand, request, consent, approval, or

communication that either party desires or is required to give to the other
shall be in writing and either served personally or sent by first class mail,

jpb/ratchfordB.4.eas/8.18.94 10


http:jpb/ratchfordB.4.eas/8.18.94

postage prepaid, addressed as follows:

To GRANTOR: Zelma Ratchford, Trustee
P.O. Box 275
Healdsburg, CA 95448

To DISTRICT: David Wm. Hansen, General Manager
Sonoma County Agricultural Preservation
and Open Space District
415 Russell Avenue
Santa Rosa, CA 95403

or to such other address as either party from time to time shall designate by
written notice to the other. Notice, if mailed, shall be deemed to have been
given upon the day following the day shown on the postmark of the
envelope in which such notice is mailed.

17. Successors and Assigns. The terms GRANTOR and
DISTRICT wherever used herein, and any pronouns used in place thereof,
shall mean and include the above-named GRANTOR and its heirs, personal
representatives, lessees, executors, successors, and assigns, including any
person claiming under them, and the above-named DISTRICT and its
successors and assigns, respectively.

18. _Integration. This Agreement is the final and complete
expression of the Agreement between the parties and any and all prior or
contemporaneous agreements written or oral are merged into this written
instrument.

19. Estoppel Certificates. DISTRICT shall, at any time during
the existence of the Agreement, upon not less than thirty (30} days' prior

written notice from GRANTOR, execute and deliver to GRANTOR a
statement in writing, certifying that Agreement is unmodified and in full
force and effect (or, it modified, stating the nature of such modification)
and acknowledging that there is not, to DISTRICT's knowledge, any default

jpb/ratchfordB.4.eas/8.18.94 11


http:jpb/ratchfordB.4.eas/8.18.94

by GRANTOR hereunder, or, it DISTRICT alleges a default by GRANTOR,
specifying such default.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, GRANTOR and DISTRICT have executed this

Agreement this \ ’d'\ day of Qﬁ%uy\: ., 1994.

THE ZELMA RATCHFORD FAMILY
TRUST

By: L2 /? A

ZELMA RATCHFORD, aftgistee

GRANTEE:

SONOMA COUNTY AGRICULTURAL
PRESERVATION AND OPEN SPACE
DISTRICT

ATTEST: M

Pr
Pt e

EEVE T. LEWIS, County Clerk and

ex-officio Clerk of the Board of
Directors

dent of the Board of Directors

jpb/ratchfordB.4.eas/8.18.94 12


http:jpb/ratchfordB.4.eas/8.18.94

State of QQ-_-.L\J@\’NQ

] County of Sonom)

on iU 18 1A sete me,_ Qi S kel

NAME. TITLE OF OFFICER - EL{.. “IANE PUBLIC™

X
personally appeared m&m@éwm

%'sonally known to me - OR - [ proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence to be the person(s) whose name(s)
1s/are subscribed to the within instrument and acknowledged to
me that he/she/they executed the same in his/her/their
authorized capacity(ies), and that by his/her/their signature(s) F
on the instrument the person(s), or the entity upon behalf of which
the person(s) acted, executed the instrument. I

r-——.—-—“—.-‘l WITNESS my hand and official seal.
| N LT ANNETIE §. RIZHARDS OJ\M_MM S
- ' - .

COMML, & 1017421 %
1 Notey Pukiic — Cokfernio 2

SIGNATURE OF NOTAKY

R SONOMA COUNTY
2G5 My Comm. Expites OCT 17. 1997
DESCRIPTION OF ATTACHED DOCUMENT

DESCRIPTION OF DOCUMENT {OPTIONAL)

Stute of _ (L0 F4 1 < |

County of k—SQﬂﬂmL J

|
On ?"7" ?"/ Lbcﬁ}rcme,cg(ﬁ;_/zfé'f&%délfémf& )’Z gézég
DATE NAME, TITLE OF OFFICER - EG.. "IANE DOE, NOTARY PU

personally appeared _[}ii_c%aef/ Qt/(} — I

/ NAME(S) OF SIGNER(S)

i{ personally known to me - OR - U proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence to be the person(s) whose name(s) |
1s/are subscribed to the within instrument and acknowledged to |
me that he/she/they executed the same in his/her/their
authorized capacity(ies), and that by his/her/their signature(s)
on the instrument the person(s), or the entity upon behalf of which
the person(s) acted, executed the instrument.

Ty, GLADYS AUNACHALAM §

% COMM. #957621 0 WITNESS my hand and official seal.
224 NOTARY PUBLIC - CALIFORNIA —
" SONOMA COUNTY
My Comm. Expires Feb 27, 1996 SIGNATURE OF NOTARY

DESCRIPTION OF ATTACHED DOCUMENT

' Leod o Loz

|

T2 (Rev. 3/94)



EXHIBIT "A”
LEGAL DESCRIPTION
PARCEL 1 |
Being a portion of the lands of Ratchford described as Parcels One and Two of Parcel
Twenty One in the deed recorded as Document No. 81060060, Sonoma County
Records, more particularly described as foliows:

Beginning at a point from which the northeasterly comer of Lot 10, Biock B of Camp
Rose as filed in Book 21 of Maps at Page 3, Sonoma County Records, bears S 9°56' E,
a distance of 50.00 feet. Thence from said POINT OF BEGINNING along the northerly
boundary of the lands of Ratchford described as Parcel 8 in the above mentioned deed
S 80°04’ W, a distance of 554.22 feet; thence S 74°43’' W, a distance of 199.36 feet;
thence N 22°48’ W, a distance of 102.94 feet; thence S 89°42' W, a distance of 173.19
feet; thence N 22°48' W, a distance of 178.18 feet; thence S 67°12' W, a distance of
371.36 feet; thence N 37°40' W, a distance of 417.86 feet; thence N 54°58° W, a distance
of 138.83 feet; thence S 80°18’' W, a distance of 469.91 feet; thence S 50°30° W, a
distance of 99.74 feet; thence N 83°10' W, a distance of 189.63 feet; thence N 41°36’ W,
a distance of 224.57 feet; thence N 67°30' W, a distance of 352.69 feet to the most
northerly comer of said Parcel 8, being also on the west line of Parcel One of Parcel
Twenty One of said deed; thence N 2°00’ E along said west line, a distance of 1148 feet
more of less to the northeast comer of Parcel Map No. 3058, filed in Book 173 of Maps
at Page 7, Sonoma County Records, being also the northwest corner of said Parcel One
of Parcel Twenty One and being on the south line of Parcel Two of Parcel Twenty One;
thence N 89°48'30" W along said south line, a distance of 1140.16 feet, more of less, to
the southwest corner of said Parcel Two of Parcel Twenty One as shown on the Record
of Survey filed in Book 496 of Maps at Page 31, Sonoma County Records; thence
N 0°06'40" E along the west line of said parcel, a distance of 1195.79 feet to the
southwesterly line of Fitch Mountain Road as shown on the map filed in Book 44 of
Maps at Pages 54 and 55; thence Southeasterly along said line on a non tangent curve
to the right, from a tangent that bears S 33°43' E, with a radius of 170.00 feet, through a
central angle of 10°54’, for a distance of 32.34 feet; thence S 22°49' E, a distance of
44.73 feet; thence Southeasterly on a tangent curve to the left, with a radius of 130.00
feet, through a central angle of 49°10’, a distance of 111.56 feet; thence S 71°59' E, a
distance of 70.95 feet; thence Easterly on a tangent curve to the right, with a radius of
110.00 feet, through a central angle of 30°42’, a distance of 58.93 feet; thence
Southeasterly on a tangent curve to the right, with a radius of 245.00 feet, through a
central angle of 17°06’, a distance of 73.12 feet; thence Southeasterly on a tangent
curve to the nght, with a radius of 130.00 feet, through a central angle of 28°00’, a
distance of 63.53 feet; thence S 3°49' W, a distance of 36.36 feet; thence Southerly on a
tangent curve to the left, with a radius of 80.00 feet, through a central angle of 123°30’, a
distance of 172.44 feet; thence N 60°19' E, a distance of 66.89 feet, more or less, to a
point on the southerly line of River View Drive as shown on Del Rio Woods Subdivision
No. 4 as filed in Book 48 of Maps at Pages 32 and 33, Sonoma County Records; thence
N 85°29° E along said southerly line, a distance of 107.56 feet; thence S 55°45'E, a
distance of 110.95 feet; thence S 66°23' E, a distance of 3.35 feet to the most northerly
comer of Lot 1, Block F of said Del Rio Woods Subdivision No. 4; thence along the



westerly and southerly line of said Block F, S 26°38’ W, a distance of 100.14 feet; thence
S 66°23' E, a distance of 64.68 feet; thence S 28°31' E, a distance of 60.78 feet; thence
S 9°18' E, a distance of 86.78 feet; thence Southerly on a tangent curve to the left, with
a radius of 140.00 feet, through a central angle of 132°23', a distance of 323.47 feet;
thence N 38°19' E, a distance of 96.51 feet; thence N 839°11’' E, a distance of 301.00
feet; thence S 83°47' E, a distance of 144.52 feet to the southeast corner of Lot 38 of
said Block F; thence leaving said Block F, S 71°48°33” E, a distance of 1978.28 feet to a
point from which the most southerly corner of Lot 30, Block D of Del Rio Woods
Subdivision No. 2 as filed in Book 47 of Maps at Pages 7 to 10 bears N 15° 40 E, a
distance of 180.00 feet; thence southeasterly in a direct line, a distance of 1730 feet,
more or less, to the POINT OF BEGINNING.

f\j’r }Jo_ﬁ ‘§J°1Liﬁi)tﬂ2$'
7110705 (™) ﬁ"‘"\\"’f

:§$ H{fi\
\ RIEHALD/ ). Siivin Y |
%1~t770'°' (¢t y 1 Yo.2193 . |

‘ S = e

}. T

PARCEL 11

Lots 1 through 4, inclusive, Block "F"; Lots 8 through 12, inclusive, Block "F";
Lots 15 through 38, inclusive, Block "F'", as shown on that certain map entitled
"Del Rio Woods Subdivision No. 4", filed in the office of the County Recorder of

Sonoma County, State of California, on May 25, 1932 in Book 48 of Maps at page(s)
32 and 33, Sonoma County Records.

AP Noo - pys- 01,02 04 00,07 0%



Forever Wild Easement
Fitch Mountain

EXHIBIT "B "

PERMITTED USES AND PRACTICES

The following uses and practices, though not necessarily an exhaustive recital of
consistent uses and practices, are permitted under this Agreement, and they are not
to be precluded, prevented, or limited by this Agreement, provided that they are
undertaken in accordance with the terms and provisions of this Agreement and that
all applicable governmental approvals and permits are properly obtained:

1. To use or lease the Property consistent with the conservation purpose
of this Agreement.

2. To maintain and repair existing fences, protection roads, and other

improvements on the Property. Additional boundary fencing deemed by GRANTOR
to be reasonably necessary may be constructed without DISTRICT’s consent. Such
fencing to consist of barbless wire. In the event of destruction, deterioration, or
obsolescence of any improvements, whether existing at the date hereof or
constructed subsequently pursuant to the provisions of this Paragraph, GRANTOR
may replace same with ones of similar size, function, capacity and location.

3. To utilize the Property for non-intrusive recreational or educational
purposes which include, but are not limited to, hiking, horseback riding and nature
study, and which require no significant surface alteration or other development of the

land.

4. To undertake conservation practices that prormote soil stabilization and

reduce erosion in accordance with sound, generally accepted practices. Approval of
DISTRICT is required when conservation practices include using significant amounts

of materials such as rock and concrete.

5. To undertake wildfire management plans in order to control and maintain
vegetation to lower the risk of wildfire. Such methods may include prescriptive
burning, firebreak construction and limited tree and brush removal. Plans shail be
reviewed by DISTRICT and shall be acceptabie to the California Department of

Forestry and Fire Protection or appropriate local fire protection entity.

6. To place signage on the Property, the size of each such sign not to
exceed one square foot in size.

7. To continue use in accordance with easements of record granted prior
to this Agreement. Modifications to pre-existing easements and subsequent easement

requests require the approval of DISTRICT.

L]

5 .
8. To remove invasive, non-native plant species that threaten or impede the
growth of native plant species. To remove feral, non-native animal species that

threaten the protected values of the Property.

10f2



Forever Wild Easement
Fitch Mountain

9. To convey all or a portion of the Property to the City of Healdsburg, or
other willing park or open space entity (hereinafter GRANTEE), for the purpose of a
park. In the event of such conveyance, the GRANTEE may construct, reconstruct or
replace improvements consistent with park usage, with the express prior written
approval of DISTRICT.

08/54 20f 2 Ftehmen emt



Forever Wild Easement
Fitch Mountain

EXHIBIT"C ™

P 1BIT

The following uses and practices, though not necessarily an exhaustive recital of
inconsistent uses and practices, are inconsistent with the purposes of this Agreement
and shall be prohibited upon or within the Property:

1. The impairment of the conservation purposes of the Agreement, except
as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement.

2. The establishment of any residential, agricultural, commercial orindustrial
use.

3. The construction, placement, or erection of any sign or billboard on the
Property, except as provided in Paragraph 6 of Exhibit "B".

. 4, The construction, reconstruction, or replacement of any improvement
except as provided in Paragraph 2 of Exhibit "B".

B. The division, subdivision, or de facto subdivision of the Property, except
as provided in Paragraph 9 of Exhibit "B"; provided however, that the voluntary
conveyance of all or a portion of the Property to a government or non-profit entity
exclusively for conservation or public access purposes, shall not be prohibited by this
Paragraph.

6. The use of motorized vehicles, except by GRANTOR or others under
GRANTOR’S control, for permitted property management activities, for inspections by
DISTRICT, for fire control, for emergency purposes and for uses pursuant to deeded
rights that pre-date this Agreement. Any use of motorized vehicles off roadways is

prohibited except when necessary for the above stated purposes.

7. The relocation of any roadway; provided however, that DISTRICT shall
consent to the construction of any roadway that is planned to minimize the impact on
the open space and natural features of the Property. -

8. The dumping or accumulation of trash, ashes, garbage, waste,
inoperative vehicles, or other unsightly or offensive material on the Property.

9. The above ground installation of new utility systems, including, without
limitation, water, sewer, power, fuel, and communication lines and related activities
and equipment.

K

10. The exploration for, or development or extraction of, minerals or

hydrocarbons by any mining method, surface or otherwise.

08/94 fitchentn.emt



EXHIBIT "D"

FITCH MOUNTAIN

Prepared by Sonoma County Agricultural Preservation and Open Space District

north




CERTIFICATE OF ACCEPTANCE

This is to certify that the interests in real property conveyed by the
foregoing agreement are hereby accepted by the undersigned pursuant to the
authority conferred by Resolution No. 94- 125 ¢ of the Board of Directors
of the Songma County Agricultural Preservation and Open Space District
dated - S B0 1494 and the District consents to the recordation
thereof.

Dated: 4- ; a4




RECORDING REQUESTED BY AND RETURN TO:

Clerk of the Board of Directors
Sonoma County Agricultural
Preservation and Open Space District
575 Administration Drive, Room 102A
Santa Rosa, CA 95403

DEED AND AGREEMENT

BY AND BETWEEN

The City of Healdsburg
AND

THE SONOMA COUNTY AGRICULTURAL PRESERVATION
AND OPEN SPACE DISTRICT
CONVEYING A CONSERVATION EASEMENT
AND
ASSIGNING DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS

The City of Healdsburg (GRANTOR) and the Sonoma County Agricultural Preservation
and Open Space District, a public agency formed pursuant to the provisions of Public Resources
Code sections 5500 et seq. (“DISTRICT”), agree as follows:

RECITALS

A. GRANTOR is the owner in fee simple of that certain real property located in
Sonoma County and more particularly described in Exhibit A, attached hereto and incorporated
herein by this reference ("the Property").

B. In 1990 the voters of Sonoma County approved the creation of DISTRICT and the
imposition of a transactions and use tax by the Sonoma County Open Space Authority ("the
Authority™). The purpose for the creation of DISTRICT and the imposition of the tax by the
Authority was to provide for the preservation of agriculture and open space through the
acquisition of interests in appropriate properties from willing sellers. The District was created
and the tax imposed in order to further the state policy for the preservation of agricultural and
open space lands, to meet the mandatory requirements imposed on the County and each of its
cities by Government Code sections 65560 et seq., and to advance the implementation of the
open space elements of their respective general plans. In order to accomplish those purposes,
DISTRICT and the Authority entered into a contract whereby, in consideration of the Authority’s
financing of DISTRICT's acquisitions, DISTRICT agreed to and did adopt an acquisition
program that was in conformance with the Authority's voter approved Expenditure Plan. In
2006, the voters of Sonoma County approved an extension of the transaction and use tax, a
transfer of the taxing authority to the County of Sonoma, and an update of the Expenditure Plan.
The DISTRICT’s acquisition program remains in full compliance with the updated voter-
approved Expenditure Plan.

Attachment 8



C. In 1994, DISTRICT acquired a conservation easement over a portion of the
Property (“the 1994 Easement”). The 1994 Easement was recorded in the Office of the Sonoma
County Recorder on September 15, 1994 as Document No. 1994-0106860. The 1994 Easement
expressly acknowledged the property owner’s right to convey the Property to the City of
Healdsburg or other willing park or open space entity for purposes of a public park. GRANTOR
and DISTRICT now desire to amend the 1994 Easement (1) to reflect that conveyance for park
purposes, (2) to expand the 1994 Easement to encompass the entirety of the Property, (3) to
clarify permitted natural resource management and recreation and educational uses, and (4) to
clarify procedural provisions of the Easement. This Conservation Easement provides
protections equal or greater than those provided by the 1994 Easement and constitutes an
amendment to the 1994 Easement, executed in accordance with Civil Code sections 815 through
816.

D. Oon|[ ], DISTRICT's Board of Directors, pursuant to Government
Code section 65402 and Sonoma County Ordinance No. 5180, determined, by its Resolution No.
[ ], that the acquisition of this Conservation Easement in the Property was

consistent with the Sonoma County General Plan (specifically the Plan's Open Space and
Resource Conservation Element) because the Conservation Easement will preserve the largely
open, scenic character of an important scenic landscape (OSRC-2), will protect and enhance
natural habitats and diverse plant and animal communities (OSRC -7), and will provide
opportunities for public outdoor recreation in a location convenient to urban areas (OSRC 17.1).
By that same resolution, the DISTRICT’s Board of Directors determined that its acquisition of
this Conservation Easement is consistent with the voter-approved Expenditure Plan.

E. This Conservation Easement will further the goals, objectives and policies of the
following adopted local plans. Under the City of Healdsburg’s General Plan Land Use Section
1.4, a portion of the Property is identified as Conserved Open Space. The General Plan’s Scenic
Resources Section 19.1 identifies Fitch Mountain as a scenic resource. Finally, in the General
Plan’s Biological Resources Section 15.3 Fitch Mountain is identified as having considerable
botanical and wildlife habitat. In addition, the City of Healdsburg’s Park and Open Space
Master Plan calls for the City to manage properties acquired by the Open Space District on Fitch
Mountain for nature preserves for wildlife and passive public use. The DISTRICT’s Connecting
Communities and the Land, A Long-Range Acquisition Plan also identifies Fitch Mountain as a
priority for preservation. Under the ‘Recreation and Education’ category, the Property fulfills the
goal of providing hiking trails and scenic vistas in many directions. It is a Property of regional
importance because of its high visibility and strategic location adjacent to Healdsburg and the
Highway 101 urban corridor. Under the *Greenbelts and Scenic Hillsides’ category, the Property
will protect a prominent, scenic, highly visible, and unique Property. Under the ‘Water, Wildlife,
and Natural Areas’ category, the Property supports multiple wildlife species within a designated
Priority Oak Woodland.

F. In 1994, DISTRICT acquired a conservation easement over a portion of the
Property (“the 1994 Easement”). The 1994 Easement was recorded in the Office of the Sonoma
County Recorder on September 15, 1994 as Instrument No. 1994-0106860. GRANTOR and
DISTRICT now desire to amend, replace, and supersede the 1994 Easement with this
Conservation Easement (1) to enhance natural resource protections; (2) to clarify permitted

2
Attachment 8



natural resource management and recreation and educational uses; and (3) to clarify procedural
provisions of the easement. This Conservation Easement provides protections equal to or greater
than those provided by the 1994 Easement and supersedes the 1994 Easement in conformance
with the requirements of California Public Resources Code Section 5540.

G. DISTRICT has the authority to acquire conservation easements by virtue of
Public Resources Code section 5540 and possesses the ability and intent to enforce the terms of
this Easement.

THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing recitations and of the mutual covenants,
terms, conditions, and restrictions herein set forth and other valuable consideration receipt of
which is hereby acknowledged, GRANTOR and DISTRICT agree as follows:

EASEMENT

PART ONE: GRANT OF EASEMENT

1. Grant and Acceptance of Conservation Easement and Assignment of Development
Rights. Pursuant to the common and statutory law of the State of California including the
provisions of Civil Code sections 815 to 816, inclusive, GRANTOR hereby grants to DISTRICT
and DISTRICT accepts a conservation easement over the Property in perpetuity under the terms
and conditions set forth herein (“the Easement”). GRANTOR hereby irrevocably assigns to
DISTRICT all development rights associated with the Property, except those rights which are
specifically reserved by GRANTOR through this Easement.

2. Conservation Values. The Property is situated adjacent to the City of Healdsburg. It
encompasses the upper slopes and the peak of the 991-foot high Fitch Mountain, a very
prominent natural landmark. The Property is heavily forested, with few small clearings. Critical
resources on the Property (collectively “the Conservation Values™), include open space, natural
resources and wildlife habitat, scenic qualities, and recreational and educational opportunities.
These include, but are not limited to the following:

2.1  Natural Resources. The Property has an extensive forested area, including oak
woodland, and mixed oak/Douglas fir and redwood forest, which provides habitat for a wide
variety of species. The Property has also been identified in the County’s General Plan as an area
with special species habitat. Protection of the Property will help protect the water quality and
quantity of Russian River watershed. The Russian River is significant for natural resources
because, among other things, it provides habitat for endangered steelhead and threatened Coho
salmon.

2.2 Scenic Values. The Property encompasses the entire 991-foot peak of Fitch
Mountain and its surrounding upper slopes. Fitch Mountain is very visible from a significant
length of County-designated Scenic Corridor Highway 101. The Russian River, a County-
designated Waterway Trail, wraps around the base of Fitch Mountain on the north, east, and
south sides. Fitch Mountain thus provides a prominent backdrop for recreational river users. In
addition, Fitch Mountain is the most prominent natural feature seen from the city of Healdsburg,

3

Attachment 8



which borders it on the west side. The green forested area provides a natural backdrop to the city
and contributes to its ambiance. Looking out from the Property, visitors may see Mt. St. Helena,
the Mayacama Mountains, the Alexander Valley, and many other prominent features of Sonoma
County.

2.3  Recreation and Education. The Property provides opportunities for passive
outdoor public recreation and educational uses providing that such uses are compatible with the
protection of the Property’s natural resources. The Property provides opportunities for
recreational activities and wildlife viewing in a natural area adjacent to the Healdsburg urban
area.

3. Conservation Purpose. It is the purpose of this Easement to preserve and protect
forever the Conservation Values of the Property, as described in Section 2. This purpose shall
hereinafter be referred to as “the Conservation Purpose of this Easement.” GRANTOR and
DISTRICT intend that this Easement will confine the use of the Property to activities that are
consistent with the Conservation Purpose of this Easement and will prohibit and prevent any use
of the Property that will materially impair or interfere with the Conservation Values of the
Property. GRANTOR and DISTRICT intend that all Conservation Values of the Property will
be fully preserved and protected in perpetuity. In the event, however, that the preservation and
protection of one Conservation Value becomes irreconcilably inconsistent with the preservation
and protection of another Conservation Value, the following priorities shall be followed:
preservation and protection of natural resources and scenic views shall take precedence over
preservation and protection of recreation and educational uses.

PART TWO: RESERVED AND RESTRICTED RIGHTS

4. Affirmative Rights of DISTRICT. DISTRICT shall have the following affirmative
rights under this Easement:

4.1  Protecting Conservation Values. DISTRICT shall have the right to preserve,
protect and document in perpetuity the Conservation Values of the Property.

4.2  Property Inspections. DISTRICT shall have the right to enter upon the Property
and to inspect, observe, and study the Property for the purposes of (i) identifying the current
activities and uses thereon and the condition thereof, (ii) monitoring the activities and uses
thereon to determine whether they are consistent with the terms, conditions and Conservation
Purpose of this Easement, (iii) enforcing the terms, conditions and Conservation Purpose of this
Easement, and (iv) exercising its other rights under this Easement. Such entry shall be permitted
at least once a year at reasonable times, upon one week’s prior notice to GRANTOR, and shall
be made in a manner that will not unreasonably interfere with GRANTOR’s use and quiet
enjoyment of the Property pursuant to the terms and conditions of this Easement. Each entry
shall be for only so long a duration as is reasonably necessary to achieve the purposes of this
Section 4.2, but shall not necessarily be limited to a single physical entry during a single twenty-
four hour period. Notwithstanding the foregoing, should DISTRICT’s General Manager have a
reasonable belief that GRANTOR is in breach of this Easement, DISTRICT shall have the right
at any time, upon twenty-four hours’ prior notice to GRANTOR, to enter upon the Property for

4

Attachment 8



the purpose of determining whether such breach has occurred. The rights of entry provided by
this Section 4.2 shall extend to the officers, agents, consultants, and volunteers of DISTRICT.

4.3  Enforcement. DISTRICT shall have the right to enforce the rights herein granted
and to prevent or stop, by any legal means, any activity or use on the Property that is inconsistent
with the terms, conditions or Conservation Purpose of this Easement and to require restoration of
such areas or features as may be damaged by such activities or uses.

4.4  Approval of Certain Uses. DISTRICT shall have the right to review and
approve proposed uses and activities on the Property as more specifically set forth in Section 5
and Section 6.

4.5  DISTRICT Signage. DISTRICT shall have the right to erect and maintain a sign
or other appropriate marker in a location on the Property acceptable to GRANTOR, visible from
a public road, bearing information indicating that the Property is protected by DISTRICT and
acknowledging the sources of DISTRICT funding for the acquisition of this Easement. The
wording and design of the sign or marker shall be determined by DISTRICT with consent of
GRANTOR. No such sign or marker shall exceed thirty-two (32) square feet in size nor be
artificially illuminated. DISTRICT shall be responsible for the cost of erecting and maintaining
such sign or marker.

5. GRANTOR’s Reserved and Restricted Rights. GRANTOR shall confine use of the
Property to activities and uses that are consistent with the Conservation Purpose of this
Easement. Any activity or use that is inconsistent with the Conservation Purpose of this
Easement is prohibited. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the following activities
and uses are expressly reserved, restricted or prohibited as set forth below. GRANTOR and
DISTRICT acknowledge that the following list does not constitute an exhaustive recital of
consistent and inconsistent activities and uses, but rather (i) establishes specific allowed
activities and uses, (i) establishes specific prohibited activities and uses, and (iii) provides
guidance for determining the consistency of similar activities and uses with this Easement, in
accordance with the procedures set forth in Section 6.

5.1 General Requirements for All Uses.
5.1.1 Compliance with Governmental Requlations. All activities and uses on

the Property shall be undertaken in a manner consistent with all applicable federal, state,
and local statutes, ordinances, rules, and regulations.

5.1.2 Compliance with Terms, Conditions and Conservation Purpose of this
Easement. All activities and uses on the Property shall be undertaken in a manner
consistent with the terms, conditions and Conservation Purpose of this Easement.

5.1.3 Protection of Conservation Values. All activities and uses on the Property
shall be undertaken in a manner that protects and preserves the Conservation Values.

Attachment 8



5.1.4 Protection of Soil and Water. No activity or use on the Property shall be
undertaken in a manner that results in significant soil degradation or pollution, or
significant degradation or pollution of any surface or subsurface waters.

5.1.6 Notice and Approval Procedures. Whenever in this Section 5, prior notice
to or approval by DISTRICT is required, such notice shall be given or approval shall be
obtained in accordance with Section 6 of this Easement.

5.1.7 Management Plan. GRANTOR intends to develop and implement, or
cause to be developed and implemented, a Management Plan and a Trails Master Plan for
the Property (both plans referred to hereinafter as “Management Plan”). The
Management Plan may include designation of trails, nature and location of proposed park
improvements, nature and location of proposed park uses, and other provisions for
operation and management of the Property as a public park and open space preserve as
GRANTOR deems appropriate. The Management Plan will be subject to review and
approval by DISTRICT in accordance with Section 6.1 of the Easement. The
Management Plan shall not be implemented on the Property until it has been approved by
District. DISTRICT’s review and approval of the Management Plan shall be based on
the Management Plan’s consistency with the terms, conditions and Conservation Purpose
of this Easement

Once the Management Plan is approved by DISTRICT, uses and improvements described
in that approved Management Plan shall be deemed to be consistent with the
Conservation Purpose of this Easement and shall be permitted on the Property without
further notice to or approval by DISTRICT required not withstanding any other provision
in this Easement. All such uses and improvements shall be undertaken in accordance
with the terms and conditions of this Easement and in compliance with all applicable
laws and regulations.

The Management Plan may be amended, revised or updated from time to time provided
that such amendment, revision or update shall be subject to DISTRICT’s approval in
accordance with Section 6.1 of this Easement. DISTRICT’s review and approval of
amendments, revisions and updates to the Management Plan shall be based on the
amendment, revision or update’s consistency with the terms, conditions and Conservation
Purpose of this Easement.

5.2  Land Uses. Use of the Property is restricted solely to natural resource protection
preservation, restoration and enhancement, and recreational and educational uses as defined in
this Section 5.2. Residential, commercial, or industrial use of or activity on the Property is
prohibited except for commercial use as reserved in Section 5.2.4.

5.2.1 Natural Resource Protection, Preservation, Restoration and Enhancement.
GRANTOR reserves the right to protect, preserve, restore and enhance the natural
resources of the Property in accordance with sound, generally accepted conservation
practices and the provisions of Section 5.5.

6
Attachment 8



@) Mitigation. The Property shall not be available to mitigate for
environmental impacts of projects located on or off site.

5.2.2 Recreational and Educational Use. Subject to the provisions of Section
5.6, GRANTOR shall make the Property available to the public for passive outdoor
recreational and educational uses. All outdoor recreational and educational uses and
activities on the Property shall be designed and undertaken in a manner compatible with
natural resource protection. As used in this Section 5.2.2, “passive outdoor recreational
and educational uses” shall mean those recreational and educational activities typically
associated with natural, undeveloped open space lands, and that are generally non-
structured and require minimal or no developed facilities or improvements, such as
walking, biking, jogging, hiking, dog walking, bird watching, nature viewing, picnicking,
and public events that avoid impact to significant cultural and natural resources. No
sound amplification is permitted on the Property. No artificial lighting is permitted on
the Property except for safety lighting located within the “Park Improvement Areas”
designated, as described below, that is described within an approved Management Plan.
Permitted passive outdoor recreational and educational uses include, but are not limited
to:

@) Walking, bicycling, jogging, hiking, bird watching, nature study,
picnicking, and other such passive recreational and educational uses similar in
nature.

(b)  Public or private special events, such as park celebration events,
fundraising events, weddings, picnics, and other activities that promote the scenic
values while respecting the conservation values of the property shall be permitted
only as follows:

I. Events with up to 25 people in attendance may occur on the
Property without limitation on the number of events per
year.

ii. Events with up to 50 people in attendance may occur within
the Park Improvement Areas designated within a
Management Plan reviewed and approved in accordance
with Section 6.1 (“Park Improvement Areas”), without
limitation on the number of events per year.

ii. Events with up to 150 people in attendance may occur on
the Property within the “Park Improvement Areas” no more
than 12 times per year. GRANTOR shall document date,
event size, type and location of each such event. Such
documentation shall be made available to DISTRICT upon
request.

Attachment 8



v, Special events shall not result in any permanent alteration
of the Property nor have any detrimental impact on the
natural resources of the Property.

(c) Subject to the limitations of Section 5.2.2 (b)(iv), camping for
groups of up to 25 people may be permitted as a special event within the Park
Improvement Areas designated within the Management Plan only if and to the
extent that GRANTOR can demonstrate that such uses are consistent with the
preservation of natural resources and the Conservation Purpose of this Easement.

(d) Dogs shall be permitted on the Property only on trails designated
by GRANTOR. All dogs shall remain on-leash at all times.

(e) GRANTOR may charge a nominal fee to cover costs directly
associated with recreational and educational programs and use of the Property.
DISTRICT reserves the right to request, and GRANTOR shall provide
documentation of such costs.

5.2.3 Limited Agricultural Use (Grazing). GRANTOR reserves the right to
graze livestock for purposes of vegetation and fire management in accordance with
Section 5.5.4. Such grazing shall be undertaken in accordance with sound, generally
accepted conservation practices, and in a manner that preserves the natural resources and
open space character of the Property.

5.2.4 Commercial. GRANTOR reserves the right to use the Property for the
following commercial uses in connection with use of the Property as a public park. Any
revenue generated from commercial activities and uses shall be used toward the cost of
operating, maintaining, restoring, and enhancing the Property, and towards recreational
and educational programs that take place on the Property. If revenues exceed the cost of
operating, maintaining, restoring and enhancing the Property, excess revenues may be
used for purposes of operation, maintenance, restoration and/or enhancement of park and
open space properties owned by the City of Healdsburg and preserved by DISTRICT
under a recorded conservation easement.

@) Recreation and Education. Nominal fees may be charged for
permitted recreational and educational uses in accordance with Section 5.2.2.

(b) Special Events and Fundraising. GRANTOR may use the
Property for special public and private events in accordance with Section
5.2.2.(b).

(c) Ancillary Uses. Subject to DISTRICT approval, GRANTOR may,
in connection with use of the Property for public recreational and educational

8
Attachment 8



purposes, undertake other minor ancillary commercial uses found to be consistent
with the Management Plan and with Conservation Values of this Easement.

5.3  Subdivision and Parcels. GRANTOR and DISTRICT acknowledge and agree
that the Property is now and shall always remain under one common ownership. GRANTOR
shall not further divide the Property, whether by subdivision, conveyance, lot line adjustment, or
any other means, nor shall GRANTOR gain or seek to gain recognition, by certificate of
compliance under the Subdivision Map Act or otherwise, of additional parcels which may have
previously been created on the Property by prior patent or deed conveyances, subdivisions, or
surveys, nor shall GRANTOR place or convey any portion of the Property into ownership
separate from the whole of the Property.

5.3.1 Exceptions. This prohibition against division of the Property shall be
inapplicable to:

@ Conveyance to Government or Non-Profit Entity. Subject to prior
written approval by DISTRICT, GRANTOR may voluntarily convey a portion of
the Property to a government or non-profit entity exclusively for conservation or
public access purposes.

(b) Leases. Subject to prior written approval by DISTRICT,
GRANTOR reserves the right to lease a portion(s) of the Property for the
permitted grazing, recreational and educational uses described in Section 5.2.

5.3.2 Historic Parcels. GRANTOR acknowledges that one or more additional
historic parcels may exist on the Property, previously created by patent or deed
conveyances, subdivisions, lot line adjustments, surveys, recorded or unrecorded maps or
other documents. GRANTOR waives all rights to recognition of such historic parcels,
whether through certificate of compliance under the Subdivision Map Act or otherwise.

5.4  Structures and Improvements GRANTOR may repair, replace, construct, place
and maintain structures and improvements on the Property only as provided below. At no time
shall structures and improvements on the Property result in impervious surfaces on,
cumulatively, more than .5 acres of the Property. Furthermore, no structure or improvement
shall exceed 18 feet in height. Furthermore, at least ninety percent (90%) of the Property, by
acreage, shall, at all times, remain undeveloped and free of any structure or improvement of any
kind.

5.4.1 Maintenance, Repair or Replacement of Structures and Improvements.
GRANTOR may maintain, repair or replace structures and improvements existing at the
date hereof or constructed subsequently pursuant to the provisions of this Easement, as
follows:

@ If the maintenance, repair or replacement does not increase the
height of the structure or improvement, increase the land surface area it occupies
9

Attachment 8



or change its location or function, no notice to or approval by DISTRICT shall be
required.

(b) Any maintenance, repair or replacement that increases the height
of the structure or improvement, increases the land surface area it occupies, or
changes its location or function shall be treated as new construction and shall be
subject to the provisions of Sections 5.4.2 through Section 5.4.6.

5.4.2 Improvements for Recreational and Educational Uses. GRANTOR
reserves the right to construct or place improvements associated with permitted public
outdoor recreational and educational uses as set forth in this Section 5.4.2.

@ Minor Improvements. GRANTOR may construct or place minor
improvements associated with permitted public outdoor recreational and
educational uses, including, but not limited to benches, drinking fountains, refuse
and recycling containers and other similar minor improvements without further
notice to or approval from DISTRICT.

(b) Trails and Pathways. GRANTOR may construct or place paved or
permeable trails and pathways with prior written approval of DISTRICT.

(©) Other Improvements. GRANTOR may construct or place other
improvements associated with public outdoor recreational and educational uses
permitted under Section 5.2.2., that have not been approved in the Management
Plan, including, but not limited to restrooms, safety lighting, public art location,
play structures, picnic tables and other similar improvements only with prior
written approval of DISTRICT. All such improvements shall be located within
one or more “Park Improvement Areas” designated within a Master Plan
reviewed and approved in accordance with Section 6.1.

5.4.3 Access Roads. Subject to prior written approval of DISTRICT,
GRANTOR may construct new roads and reconstruct or expand existing roads provided
that such roads (i) either are required for emergency vehicle access, or for permitted
public recreation and educational use, and (ii) are the minimum necessary for such uses
and activities. Roads shall be constructed and maintained so as to minimize erosion and
sedimentation and ensure proper drainage, utilizing Best Management Practices for roads
as recommended by California Department of Fish and Game or other similar or
successor entity. Roads constructed subsequent to this Easement may not be paved with
asphalt, concrete or other impervious surface unless such paving is required by any
federal, state or local law, code, ordinance or regulation. Roads that are abandoned,
permanently closed and/or decommissioned shall be revegetated with native species,
stabilized and ensured of proper drainage.

5.4.4 Fences and Gates. GRANTOR may construct, place and erect fencing and
gates only as necessary for either permitted natural resource protection, preservation,
restoration or enhancement, or permitted public recreational and educational use of the

10

Attachment 8



Property. Fencing must be the minimum necessary for such use. All fencing and gates
must (a) preserve the scenic values of the Property; (b) not impede wildlife movement
except in cases where necessary to protect the allowed natural resources preservation,
restoration and enhancement, or recreational and educational uses described in this
Easement and (c) comply with the DISTRICT’s then current guidelines for fences on
conservation lands. Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 5.4.1, in the event of
destruction or deterioration of any fences and gates, whether existing at the date hereof or
constructed subsequently in accordance with the provisions of this Easement,
GRANTOR may maintain and/or replace such fencing and gates only pursuant to the
provisions of this Section 5.4.4. In the event any fence or gate, or portion thereof,
becomes obsolete or unnecessary for the uses described in this Section 5.4.4, GRANTOR
shall remove such fencing or gate from the Property.

5.4.5 Utilities and Energy Resources. Subject to prior written approval of
DISTRICT, GRANTOR may expand existing or develop or construct new underground
utilities, including but not limited to electric power, septic or sewer, communication lines,
and water storage and delivery systems provided that such utilities are directly required
for permitted public recreational and educational uses of the Property and are reasonably
scaled to serve only those uses.

5.4.6 Signs. GRANTOR reserves the right to construct signs as set forth in this
Section 5.4.6. No sign shall be artificially illuminated.

@ Without prior written notice or approval of DISTRICT,
GRANTOR reserves the right to construct or place two signs not to exceed 16
square feet in size each in connection with permitted public recreation and
educational uses.

(b) Without prior written notice or approval of DISTRICT,
GRANTOR reserves the right to construct or place signs less than 6 square feet in
size to (i) mark the boundary of the Property; (ii) provide directional, interpretive
and educational information; and (iii) set forth park and/or local area rules or
regulations applicable to use of the Property as a public park, provided that the
size and number of such signs shall be limited to that which is reasonably
necessary to accomplish the permitted uses herein, and further provided that such
signs are sited and constructed in a manner that does not create a significant visual
impact.

(c) Subject to prior written approval of DISTRICT, GRANTOR may
construct or place additional signs necessary or appropriate for permitted public
recreation and educational uses, provided that any such additional signs are sited
and constructed in a manner that does not create a significant visual impact.

11
Attachment 8



5.5. Land and Resource Management. All land and resource management activities
shall be designed and implemented in accordance with sound, generally accepted conservation
practices.

5.5.1 Surface Alteration. Alteration of the contour of the Property in any
manner whatsoever is prohibited, including, but not limited to, excavation, removal or
importation of soil, sand, gravel, rock, peat or sod, except as reasonably necessary in
connection with the uses allowed under Section 5 of this Easement. In connection with
allowed uses, movement of over 12 cubic yards of material in any calendar year that is
not included in an approved Management Plan is subject to prior District consent.

5.5.2 Water Resources. Draining, filling, dredging, diking, damming or other
alteration, development or manipulation of watercourses, subsurface water, springs,
ponds and wetlands is prohibited except as reasonably necessary in connection with (i)
the maintenance, replacement, development and expansion of water storage and delivery
systems allowed under Section 5.4.5, and (ii) the preservation, restoration and
enhancement of natural resources allowed under Section 5.5.5. Subject to the limitations
of this Section 5.5.2, GRANTOR reserves all rights and entitlements to use of surface
and subsurface water as may exist under state or federal law.

5.5.3 Mineral Exploration. Exploration for, or development and extraction of,
minerals and hydrocarbons by any surface or sub-surface mining or any other method is
prohibited.

5.5.4 Fire Management. GRANTOR reserves the right to undertake vegetation
management activities for the purpose of fire control provided the techniques used
minimize harm to native wildlife and plants and are in accordance with all applicable
laws, and subject to District approval of a Fire Management Plan. Fire management
methods are limited to:

@) Brush removal and mowing of the Property, or other methods of
similar nature and intensity; and

(b) Prescriptive burning undertaken in a manner consistent with the
standards and requirements of the local fire protection agency having
Jurisdiction; and

(©) Limited grazing consistent with Section 5.2.3.

5.5.5 Natural Resource Preservation, Restoration and Enhancement.
GRANTOR reserves the right to undertake natural resource conservation and restoration
activities, including, but not limited to, bank and soil stabilization, practices to reduce
erosion, enhancement of water quality, and plant and wildlife habitat, and activities that
promote biodiversity. GRANTOR may remove or control invasive, non-native plant and
animal species that threaten the Conservation Purpose of this Easement or impede the

12
Attachment 8



growth of native species, provided the techniques used minimize harm to native wildlife
and plants and are in accordance with all applicable laws.

5.5.6 Native Vegetation and Tree Removal. Harvesting, cutting, removal or
destruction of any native vegetation and trees is prohibited, except as reasonably
necessary (i) to control insects and disease, (ii) to prevent personal injury and property
damage, (iii) within footprint of permitted public recreational and educational
improvements, (iv) for the purpose of fire management, in accordance with Section 5.5.4;
and (v) for natural resource management, including native seed collection and plant
propagation for use on the Property as set forth in Section 5.5.5 of this Easement.

5.5.7 Native Animal Removal. Killing, hunting, trapping, injuring or removing
native animals is prohibited except (i) under imminent threat to human life or safety; and
(ii) as reasonably necessary to promote or sustain biodiversity in accordance with
restoration and enhancement activities in connection with Section 5.5.5, using selective
control techniques consistent with the policies of the Sonoma County Agricultural
Commissioner and other governmental entities having jurisdiction.

5.5.8 Off-road Motorized Vehicle Use. Use of motorized vehicles off roadways
is prohibited, except for the minimum necessary in connection with permitted
construction, maintenance, emergency access and property management activities.

5.5.9 Dumping. Dumping, releasing, burning or other disposal of wastes,
refuse, debris, non-operative motorized vehicles or hazardous substances is prohibited.

5.5.10 Qutdoor Storage. Outdoor storage is prohibited except as provided in this
section.

@ Materials Required For Permitted Uses. GRANTOR may store
materials and supplies required for permitted uses outdoors, provided such storage
shall be located so as to minimize visual impacts.

(b) Storage of Construction Materials. GRANTOR may store needed
construction and other work materials outdoors during construction of permitted
structures and improvements on the Property while work is in progress and for a
period not to exceed thirty (30) days after completion or abandonment of
construction. Construction shall be deemed abandoned if work ceases for a
period of 180 days.

5.6. Public Access Limitations. GRANTOR and DISTRICT understand and agree

that the Property will be developed for and will continue to be a public park and open space
preserve in perpetuity. GRANTOR, however, reserves the right to exclude the public from the
Property on a temporary basis to the extent necessary for public health or safety or for
preservation of the Conservation Values of the Property. Nothing in this Easement shall be
construed to preclude GRANTOR’s right to grant access to third parties to the Property
consistent with the terms, conditions and Conservation Purpose of this Easement.

13
Attachment 8



5.7. Easements. GRANTOR may continue the use of existing easements of record
granted prior to this Easement. The granting of new temporary or permanent easements, and the
modification or amendment of existing easements is prohibited without the prior written
approval of the DISTRICT. Itis the duty of GRANTOR to prevent the use of the Property by
third parties that may result in the creation of prescriptive rights.

PART THREE: PROCEDURES AND REMEDIES

6. Notice and Approval Procedures. Some activities and uses permitted by this Easement
require that prior written notice be given by GRANTOR to DISTRICT, while other activities and
uses permitted by this Easement require the prior written approval of DISTRICT. Unless and
until such notice is given or approval is obtained in accordance with this Section 6, any such
activity or use shall be deemed to be prohibited on the Property. GRANTOR shall use the
procedures in this Section 6 and Section 19 of this Easement to provide notice to DISTRICT or
to obtain DISTRICT’s approval. All notices and requests for approval shall include all
information necessary to permit DISTRICT to make an informed judgment as to the consistency
of the GRANTOR’s request with the terms, conditions and Conservation Purpose of this
Easement. Forms for notices and requests for approval shall be available at DISTRICT’s offices.

6.1 Approval, Amendments, Revisions and Updates of Master Plan. GRANTOR
and DISTRICT acknowledge that within three years of the execution of this Easement it is
GRANTOR’s intent to prepare, or cause to be prepared, a Management Plan for the Property to
define and guide future use and development of the Property. For purposes of this Easement, it
is agreed that the Management Plan and any amendments, revisions or updates (collectively
“Revisions”) will be deemed sufficient for its purpose provided the plan identifies (a) all major
components of proposed park use (including recreational, educational, and resource management
use), (b) the nature of each proposed use and its intended location, (c) all proposed structures,
and (d) all actions to be taken to protect natural resources. If GRANTOR desires to construct or
place improvements for recreational and educational uses pursuant to Section 5.4.2(b),
GRANTOR shall designate one or more areas for such improvements within the Management
Plan (“Park Improvement Areas”). Park Improvement Areas shall not, cumulatively, exceed ten
percent (10%) of the Property, by acreage. Pursuant to Section 5.1.7 of this Easement, such
Management Plan and Revisions require DISTRICT’s approval prior to their implementation.
The Grantor reserves the rights to include any permitted uses and / or activities allowed under
this Easement in the Management Plan.

6.1.1 Standards for Approval. DISTRICT’s approval of the Management Plan
and any Revisions shall be based solely upon its reasonable determination as to whether
the Management Plan and Revisions are consistent with the terms, conditions and
Conservation Purpose of this Easement. DISTRICT acknowledges that, in light of the
public processes required for development of the Property for recreation and educational

14

Attachment 8



use and natural resource preservation, time is of the essence and DISTRICT’s approval
shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed. GRANTOR shall use the following
procedure to obtain DISTRICT’s approval for the Management Plan and any Revisions:

6.1.2 Procedure for Approval. GRANTOR may, at its discretion, at any time,
submit a Management Plan or Revisions to DISTRICT for its review and approval.
DISTRICT shall have forty-five (45) days from the receipt of the Management Plan or
Revisions, plus fourteen (14) days from any subsequent or follow up submittal, to review
the Management Plan or Revisions and either approve the Management Plan or Revisions
or notify GRANTOR of any objection thereto. DISTRICT’s response, whether tentative
approval or objection, shall be in writing and delivered to GRANTOR in accordance with
Section 19. If DISTRICT has any objections to the Management Plan or Revisions, it
shall state such objections in sufficient detail to enable GRANTOR to modify the
Management Plan or Revisions so as to bring it into compliance with the terms,
conditions and Conservation Purpose of this Easement.

6.1.3 California Environmental Quality Act. In connection with any
environmental review of the Management Plan or Revisions under the California
Environmental Quality Act (“CEQA”) or any successor statute then in effect, GRANTOR
shall provide DISTRICT with notification of and opportunity to comment on any draft
environmental document made public under the statute, prior to adoption or certification
of that environmental document.

6.1.4 District Approval of Master Plan. Upon DISTRICT’s approval and
GRANTOR’s adoption of a Management Plan or Revisions, all uses and improvements
described therein and all development reasonably necessary to implement those described
uses and improvements, shall be deemed to be consistent with the terms, conditions and
Conservation Purpose of this Easement and shall be permitted on the Property with no
further notice to or approval by DISTRICT required. All such uses, development,
improvements and activities shall at all times remain subject to the substantive limitations
of Section 5. Any update or amendment to the approved Management Plan or Revisions
shall be subject to District approval.

6.2 Uses/Activities Requiring Notice or Approval to DISTRICT. In the absence of a
Master Plan approved by DISTRICT, or for uses and activities not described in a Master Plan
approved by DISTRICT, the following procedures shall be followed for giving notice or
obtaining DISTRICT approval where such notice or approval is required by this Easement.
Unless and until such notice is given or approval is obtained in accordance with this Section 6.2,
any such activity or use shall be deemed to be prohibited on the Property.

6.2.1 Standards for Approval. In any instance in which DISTRICT approval is
required, DISTRICT’s approval shall be based solely upon its reasonable determination
as to whether the activity or use is consistent with the terms, conditions and Conservation
Purpose of this Easement and whether the request is complete and accurate. DISTRICT
acknowledges that, in light of the public processes required for development of the

15
Attachment 8



Property for recreation and educational use and natural resource preservation, time is of
the essence and DISTRICT’s approval shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed.

6.2.2 Procedure for Giving Notice to DISTRICT. For any activity or use that
requires prior written notice to DISTRICT, GRANTOR shall deliver such notice to
DISTRICT at least forty-five (45) days prior to the commencement of such activity or
use. That forty-five (45) day time period provides DISTRICT an opportunity to evaluate
whether the proposed activity or use is consistent with the terms, conditions and
Conservation Purpose of this Easement before the activity or use is begun.

6.2.3 Procedure for Obtaining Prior Approval from DISTRICT. For any
activity or use that requires prior written approval from DISTRICT, GRANTOR shall file
a request for such approval (“GRANTOR’s request”) at least forty-five (45) days prior to
the intended commencement of such activity or use. DISTRICT shall have forty-five
(45) days from the receipt of a complete request for approval to review the request and to
approve, conditionally approve, disapprove or notify GRANTOR of any objection
thereto. Disapproval or objection, if any, shall be based on DISTRICT’s determination
that the proposed activity or use is inconsistent with the terms, conditions or
Conservation Purpose of this Easement or that GRANTOR’s request is incomplete or
contains material inaccuracies. If, in DISTRICT’s judgment, the proposed activity or use
would not be consistent with the terms, conditions or Conservation Purpose of this
Easement or the request is incomplete or contains material inaccuracies, DISTRICT’s
notice to GRANTOR shall inform GRANTOR of the reasons for DISTRICT’s
disapproval or objection. Only upon DISTRICT’s express written approval, given by
DISTRICT’s General Manager, may the proposed activity or use be commenced, and
then only in accordance with the terms and conditions of DISTRICT’s approval.

6.2.4 DISTRICT’s Failure to Respond. Should DISTRICT fail to respond to
GRANTOR’s request for approval within forty-five (45) days of the receipt of
GRANTOR’s request, GRANTOR may, after giving DISTRICT ten (10) days written
notice by registered or certified mail, commence an action in a court of competent
jurisdiction to compel DISTRICT to respond to GRANTOR’s request. In the event that
such legal action becomes necessary to compel DISTRICT to respond and GRANTOR
prevails in that action, DISTRICT shall reimburse GRANTOR for all reasonable attorney
fees incurred in that action. In the alternative, GRANTOR may commence a proceeding
in arbitration under Section 13.

6.2.5 Uses Not Expressly Addressed. In the event GRANTOR desires to
commence an activity or use on the Property that is neither expressly reserved nor
expressly prohibited in Section 5, GRANTOR shall seek DISTRICT’s prior written
approval of such activity or use in accordance with the procedure set forth in Section 6.2.
The exercise of any activity or use not expressly reserved in Section 5 may constitute a
breach of this Easement and may be subject to the provisions of Section 10.

Costs and Liabilities Related to the Property.

16
Attachment 8



7.1  Operations and Maintenance of the Property. GRANTOR agrees to bear all
costs and liabilities of any kind related to the operation, upkeep, and maintenance of the Property
and does hereby indemnify and hold DISTRICT harmless therefrom. Without limiting the
foregoing, GRANTOR agrees to pay any and all real property taxes, fees, exactions, and
assessments levied or imposed by local, state or federal authorities on the Property. GRANTOR
further agrees to maintain general liability insurance covering acts on the Property. Except as
specifically set forth in Section 8.2 below, DISTRICT shall have no responsibility whatever for
the operation of the Property, the monitoring of hazardous conditions thereon, or the protection
of GRANTOR, the public, or any third parties from risks relating to conditions on the Property.
Except as otherwise provided in Section 8.1, GRANTOR hereby agrees to indemnify and hold
DISTRICT harmless from and against any damage, liability, claim, or expense, including
attorneys' fees, relating to such matters.

7.2 Hazardous Materials.

7.2.1 No DISTRICT Obligation or Liability. Notwithstanding any other
provision of this Easement to the contrary, the parties do not intend and this Easement
shall not be construed such that it creates in DISTRICT:

@ The obligations or liabilities of an “owner” or “operator” as those
words are defined and used in environmental laws, as defined below, including,
but not limited to, the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation
and Liability Act of 1980, as amended (42 United States Code, sections 9601 et
seq.) (“CERCLA™);

(b) The obligations or liabilities of a person described in 42 United
States Code section 9607(a)(3) or any successor statute then in effect;

(c) The right to investigate and remediate any hazardous materials, as
defined below, on or associated with the Property; or

(d) Any control over GRANTOR’s ability to investigate and remediate
any hazardous materials, as defined below, on or associated with the Property.

7.2.2 Warranty of Compliance. GRANTOR represents, warrants, and covenants
to DISTRICT that GRANTOR’s use of the Property shall comply with all environmental
laws, as defined below.

7.2.3 Definitions. For the purposes of this Easement:

@) The term "hazardous materials™ includes, but is not limited to, any
flammable explosives, radioactive materials, hazardous materials, hazardous
wastes, hazardous or toxic substances, or related materials defined in CERCLA,
the Hazardous Materials Transportation Act, as amended (49 United States Code
sections 1801 et seq.), the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act of 1976, as
amended (42 United States Code sections 6901 et seq.), sections 25117 and 25316

17

Attachment 8



of the California Health & Safety Code, and in the regulations adopted and
publications promulgated pursuant to them, or any other federal, state, or local
environmental laws, ordinances, rules, or regulations concerning the environment,
industrial hygiene or public health or safety now in effect or enacted after the date
of this Easement.

(b) The term "environmental laws" includes, but is not limited to, any
federal, state, local or administrative agency statute, regulation, rule, ordinance,
order or requirement relating to environmental conditions or hazardous materials.

8. Indemnification.

8.1 GRANTOR's Indemnity. GRANTOR shall hold harmless, indemnify, and
defend DISTRICT, its agents, employees, volunteers, successors and assigns, from and against
all damages, liabilities, claims and expenses, including reasonable attorneys' fees, arising from or
in any way connected with (i) injury to or the death of any person, or physical damage to any
property resulting from any act, omission, condition or other matter related to or occurring on or
about the Property, except to the extent that such damage, liability, claim or expense is the result
of the negligence, gross negligence, or intentional misconduct of DISTRICT (it being the intent
of this provision to limit GRANTOR's indemnity to the proportionate part of DISTRICT's
damage, liability, claim or expense for which GRANTOR is responsible); and (ii) the obligations
specified in Section 7; and (iii) any approvals given under Section 6. In the event of any claim,
demand, or legal complaint against DISTRICT, the right to the indemnification provided by this
Section 8.1 shall not apply to any cost, expense, penalty, settlement payment, or judgment,
including attorneys' fees, incurred prior to DISTRICT's written notice of such claim, demand, or
legal complaint to GRANTOR, unless GRANTOR has acquired knowledge of the matter by
other means, nor to any costs, expenses, or settlement payment, including attorneys' fees,
incurred subsequent to that notice unless such cost, expense, or settlement payment shall be
approved in writing by GRANTOR, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld.

8.2  DISTRICT's Indemnity. DISTRICT shall hold harmless, indemnify, and defend
GRANTOR, its heirs, devisees, successors and assigns, from and against all damages, liabilities,
claims and expenses, including reasonable attorneys' fees, arising from or in any way connected
with injury to or the death of any person, or physical damage to any property, resulting from any
act, omission, condition, or other matter related to or occurring on or about the Property and
attributable to DISTRICT, except to the extent that such damage, liability, claim or expense is
the result of the negligence, gross negligence, or intentional misconduct of GRANTOR (it being
the intent of this provision to limit DISTRICT's indemnity to the proportionate part of
GRANTOR's damage, liability, claim or expense for which DISTRICT is responsible). In the
event of any claim, demand, or legal complaint against GRANTOR, the right to the
indemnification provided by this Section 8.2 shall not apply to any cost, expense, penalty,
settlement payment, or judgment, including attorneys' fees, incurred prior to GRANTOR's
written notice of such claim, demand, or legal complaint to DISTRICT, nor to any costs,
expenses, or settlement payment, including attorneys' fees, incurred subsequent to that notice
unless such cost, expense, or settlement payment shall be approved in writing by DISTRICT,
which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld. DISTRICT hereby also agrees to hold

18

Attachment 8



harmless, indemnify and defend GRANTOR from and against all damages, liabilities, claims and
expenses, including attorneys' fees, asserted against GRANTOR by any officer, agent, employee,
or volunteer of DISTRICT, for personal injury and/or property damage arising out of any
inspection or visit to the Property by any such officer, agent, employee or volunteer on behalf of
DISTRICT, except to the extent that such injury is attributable to the negligence, gross
negligence or intentional misconduct of GRANTOR.

9. Baseline Documentation for Enforcement. In order to establish the present condition
of the Property, DISTRICT has prepared a Baseline Documentation Report which will be
maintained on file with DISTRICT and which is intended to serve as an objective information
baseline for monitoring compliance with the terms of this Easement. A copy of the Baseline
Documentation Report has been reviewed and approved by GRANTOR. The parties agree that
the Baseline Documentation Report provides an accurate representation of the Property at the
time of the execution of this Easement. The Baseline Report will be supplemented through
periodic monitoring reports as the DISTRICT performs its regular monitoring of the Property.

10. Remedies for Breach.

10.1 DISTRICT's Remedies. In the event of a violation or threatened violation by
GRANTOR of any term, condition or restriction contained in this Easement, DISTRICT may,
following notice to GRANTOR, institute a suit to enjoin and/or recover damages for such
violation and/or to require the restoration of the Property to the condition that existed prior to
such violation. The DISTRICT’s notice to GRANTOR shall contain a general description of the
condition claimed by DISTRICT to be a violation and shall contain a reasonable and specific
cure period by which the violation is to cease and the Property is to be restored to the condition
that existed prior to the violation. The notice shall be provided in accordance with Section 19. If
DISTRICT reasonably determines that circumstances require immediate action to prevent or
mitigate significant damage to the Conservation Values protected by this Easement, DISTRICT
(a) may pursue any and all remedies available under law without waiting for the cure period to
expire, and (b) shall have the right, upon the giving of 24 hours’ notice, to enter the Property for
the purpose of assessing damage or threat to the Conservation Values protected by this Easement
and determining the nature of curative or mitigation actions that should be taken. DISTRICT’s
rights under this Section 10 shall apply equally in the event of either actual or threatened
violations of the terms of this Easement. GRANTOR agrees that DISTRICT’s remedies at law
for any violation of the terms of this Easement are inadequate and that DISTRICT shall be
entitled to injunctive relief, both prohibitive and mandatory and including specific performance,
in addition to such other relief, including damages, to which DISTRICT may be entitled, without
the necessity of proving either actual damages or the inadequacy of otherwise available legal
remedies.

10.2 DISTRICT's Discretion. Enforcement of the terms of this Easement shall be at
the sole discretion of DISTRICT, and any forbearance by DISTRICT to exercise its rights under
this Easement in the event of any violation or threatened violation of any term of this Easement
shall not be deemed or construed to be a waiver by DISTRICT of such term or of any subsequent
violation or threatened violation of the same or any other term of this Easement. Any failure by

19
Attachment 8



DISTRICT to act shall not be deemed a waiver or forfeiture of DISTRICT's right to enforce any
terms or conditions of this Easement in the future.

10.3 Liquidated Damages. Inasmuch as the actual damages that would result from
the loss or deprivation of the Conservation Values of the Property caused by a violation by
GRANTOR of the terms of this Easement are uncertain and would be impractical or extremely
difficult to measure, GRANTOR and DISTRICT agree that the damages allowed to DISTRICT
by Civil Code section 815.7(c) shall be measured as follows:

@ For an improvement prohibited by this Easement, an amount equal to the
product of (i) the market value of the improvement, (ii) the length of time that the
improvement exists on the Property (in terms of years or portion thereof) after notice of
violation has been given, and (iii) the then current annual interest rate for post judgment
interest; and

(b) For an activity or change in use prohibited by this Easement, whether or
not it involves an improvement, an amount equal to any economic gain realized by
GRANTOR because of the activity or change in use; and

(©) For an activity or change in use prohibited by this Easement, whether or
not it involves an improvement and where there is no measurable economic gain realized
by GRANTOR, the product of (i) the cost of restoration, as set forth in a written estimate
by a qualified person selected by DISTRICT, (ii) the length of time that the prohibited
activity or use continues (in terms of years or portion thereof) after notice of the violation
has been given, and (iii) the then current annual interest rate for post judgment interest.

All liquidated damages assessed under this Section 10.3 shall be paid to DISTRICT.

10.4 GRANTOR's Compliance. If DISTRICT, in the notice to GRANTOR, demands
that GRANTOR remove an improvement, discontinue a use or both and claims the damages
allowed by Civil Code section 815.7(c), then GRANTOR may mitigate damages by fully
complying with DISTRICT's notice within the cure period provided therein. 1f GRANTOR so
complies, then in the event of litigation arising out of the notice, brought either by GRANTOR or
by DISTRICT, if GRANTOR prevails, then GRANTOR shall be entitled to economic damages,
if any, resulting from its compliance with DISTRICT’s notice. Neither DISTRICT nor
GRANTOR shall be entitled to damages where DISTRICT has not claimed damages in its
notice.

10.5 Remedies Nonexclusive. The remedies set forth in this Section 10 are in addition
to, and are not intended to displace, any other remedy available to either party as provided by
this Easement, Civil Code sections 815 et seq. or any other applicable local, state or federal law.

11. Limitations on Liability.

11.1  Acts Beyond GRANTOR's Control. Nothing contained in this Easement shall
be construed to entitle DISTRICT to bring any action against GRANTOR for any injury to or
20

Attachment 8



change in the Property resulting from causes beyond GRANTOR's control, including, but not
limited to, fire, flood, storm, and earth movement, or a tortious or criminal act of a third party
which GRANTOR could not have prevented in the exercise of due care, or from any prudent
action taken by GRANTOR under emergency conditions to prevent, abate, or mitigate significant
injury to the Property resulting from such causes so long as such action, to the extent that
GRANTOR has control, is designed and carried out in such a way as to further the Conservation
Purpose of this Easement.

11.2 Lawful Exercise of Pre-Existing Rights. Nothing contained in this Easement
shall be construed to entitle DISTRICT to bring any action against GRANTOR for any injury to
or change in the Property resulting from a third party’s lawful exercise of its own rights under a
valid and enforceable easement, encumbrance, reservation or restriction recorded on the Property
prior to and existing as of the time of the recordation of this Easement and surviving as of the
time of the injury or change in the Property.

11.3 Retention of Remedies Against Third Parties. Nothing contained in this
Easement shall, in any way, limit any remedy against third parties available to GRANTOR or to
DISTRICT under this Easement, Civil Code sections 815 et seq. or any other applicable local,
state or federal law.

11.4 No Intended Third Party Beneficiaries. This Agreement is made and entered
into for the purposes described herein and for the benefit of the GRANTOR and the DISTRICT,
and their respective successors and assigns. The parties hereto do not intend to create any third
party beneficiaries to this Agreement. It is the intent of the parties that no other person or entity
shall have any right of action or remedy based upon, nor any right to seek enforcement of, any
provision in this Agreement, except as may otherwise be provided by law

12.  Arbitration. If a dispute arises between the parties concerning the consistency of any
activity or use, or any proposed activity or use, with the terms, conditions or Conservation
Purpose of this Easement, or any other matter arising under or in connection with this Easement
or its interpretation, either party, with the written consent of the other, may refer the dispute to
arbitration by a request made in writing upon the other. Provided that GRANTOR agrees not to
proceed with any activity or use that is the subject of the dispute pending resolution of the
dispute, the parties shall select a single arbitrator to hear the matter. If the parties are unable to
agree on the selection of a single arbitrator, then each party shall name one arbitrator and the two
arbitrators thus selected shall select a third arbitrator who shall be a retired United States District
Court or California Superior Court judge; provided, however, if either party fails to select an
arbitrator within fourteen (14) days of delivery of the request for arbitration, or if the two
arbitrators fail to select a third arbitrator within fourteen (14) days after the appointment of the
second arbitrator, then in each such instance, a proper court, on petition of any party, shall
appoint the second or third arbitrator or both, as the case may be, in accordance with California
Code of Civil Procedure sections 1280 et seq., or any successor statutes then in effect. The
arbitration shall be conducted in accordance with said statute, including, without limitation, the
provisions of Section 1283.05 of the Code of Civil Procedure which are incorporated into, made
a part of, and made applicable to any arbitration pursuant to this Section. The Conservation
Purpose of this Easement, the terms and conditions of this Easement, and the applicable laws of
21

Attachment 8



the State of California shall be the bases for determination and resolution, and a judgment of the
arbitration award may be entered in any court having jurisdiction thereof. The prevailing party
shall be entitled, in addition to such other relief as may be granted, to a reasonable sum as and
for all its costs and expenses related to such arbitration, including, but not limited to, the fees and
expenses of the arbitrators, but excluding attorneys’ fees, which sum shall be determined by the
arbitrators and any court of competent jurisdiction that may be called upon to enforce or review
the award.

13. Extinguishment and Condemnation.

13.1. Extinguishment. Subject to the requirements and limitations of California Public
Resources Code section 5540, or successor statute then in effect, if circumstances arise in the
future that render the Conservation Purpose of this Easement impossible to accomplish, this
Easement can only be terminated or extinguished, whether in whole or in part, by judicial
proceedings in a court of competent jurisdiction, and the amount of the compensation to which
DISTRICT shall be entitled from any sale, exchange or involuntary conversion of all or any
portion of the Property after such termination or extinguishment, shall be determined, unless
otherwise provided by California law at the time, in accordance with Section 13.2. All proceeds
paid to DISTRICT shall be used by DISTRICT for the purpose of the preservation of agriculture
and open space within Sonoma County.

13.2 Condemnation. If all or any part of the Property is taken by exercise of the
power of eminent domain or acquired by purchase in lieu of condemnation; whether by public,
corporate, or other authority, so as to terminate this Easement in whole or in part, either
GRANTOR or DISTRICT (or both, on such conditions as they may agree) may commence
appropriate actions to recover the full value of the Property (or portion thereof) subject to the
condemnation or in-lieu purchase and all direct or incidental damages resulting therefrom. Any
expense incurred by GRANTOR or DISTRICT in any such action shall first be reimbursed out
of the recovered proceeds; the remainder of such proceeds shall be divided between GRANTOR
and DISTRICT in accordance with Section 13.3.

13.3  Property Interest and Fair Market Value. This Easement constitutes a real
property interest immediately vested in DISTRICT. For the purpose of this Section 13, the
parties stipulate that, in the event of condemnation of the Property or any portion thereof, the fair
market value of the Property for purposes of just compensation shall be determined as though
this Easement did not exist. Unless otherwise agreed upon by the parties in writing at the time of
condemnation all compensation received shall be paid to DISTRICT, except such sums as are
directly attributable to improvements made on the Property by GRANTOR after the date of this
Easement, which sums shall be paid to GRANTOR, provided that the improvements were not
made or funded by DISTRICT and further provided that the improvements do not constitute a
breach of this Easement.

PART FOUR: MISCELLANEOUS

22
Attachment 8



14.  Approvals. Whenever in this Easement the consent or approval of one party is required
for an act of the other party, such consent or approval shall not be unreasonably withheld,
conditioned or delayed.

15.  Interpretation and Construction. To the extent that this Easement may be uncertain or
ambiguous such that it requires interpretation or construction, then it shall be interpreted and
construed in such a way that best promotes the Conservation Purpose of this Easement. This
Easement is intended and shall be construed to supersede the 1994 Easement.

16. Easement to Bind Successors. The Easement herein granted shall be a burden upon and
shall continue as a restrictive covenant and equitable servitude running in perpetuity with the
Property and shall bind GRANTOR, GRANTOR's heirs, personal representatives, lessees,
executors, successors, including but not limited to purchasers at tax sales, assigns, and all
persons claiming under them forever. The parties intend that this Easement shall benefit and
burden, as the case may be, their respective successors, assigns, heirs, executors, administrators,
agents, officers, employees, and all other persons claiming by or through them pursuant to the
common and statutory law of the State of California. Further, the parties agree and intend that
this Easement creates an easement encompassed within the meaning of the phrase “easements
constituting servitudes upon or burdens to the property,” as that phrase is used in California
Revenue & Taxation Code section 3712(d), or any successor statute then in effect, such that a
purchaser at a tax sale will take title to the Property subject to this Easement.

17. Subsequent Deeds and Leases. GRANTOR agrees that a clear reference to this
Easement will be made in any subsequent deed, or other legal instrument, by means of which any
interest in the Property (including, but not limited to, a leasehold interest) is conveyed and that
GRANTOR will attach a copy of this Easement to any such instrument. GRANTOR further
agrees to give written notice to DISTRICT of the conveyance of any interest in the Property at
least ten (10) days prior to any such conveyance. These obligations of GRANTOR shall not be
construed as a waiver or relinquishment by DISTRICT of rights created in favor of DISTRICT
by Section 16 of this Easement, and the failure of GRANTOR to perform any act required by this
Section 17 shall not impair the validity of this Easement or limit its enforceability in any way.

18.  Warranty of Ownership. GRANTOR warrants that it is the owner in fee simple of the
Property, and that on the date it executed this Easement the Property is not subject to any liens or
deeds of trust.

19. Notices.

19.1 Method of Delivery. Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, all notices,
(including requests, demands, approvals or communications) under this Easement shall be in
writing and either served personally or sent by first class mail, postage prepaid, private courier or
delivery service or telecopy addressed as follows:

To GRANTOR: Assistant City Manager
City of Healdsburg
401 Grove St.
23

Attachment 8



Healdsburg, CA 95448
Fax:

To DISTRICT: General Manager

Sonoma County Agricultural Preservation and Open Space District
747 Mendocino Avenue, Suite 100

Santa Rosa, CA 95401

Fax :

Or to such other address as such party from time to time may designate by written notice
pursuant to this Section 19.

19.2 Effective Date of Notice. Notice shall be deemed given for all purposes as

follows:

@ When personally delivered to the recipient, notice is effective on delivery.

(b) When mailed first class postage prepaid to the last address designated by
the recipient pursuant to Section 19.1, notice is effective one business day following the
date shown on the postmark of the envelope in which such notice is mailed or, in the
event the postmark is not shown or available, then one business day following the date of
mailing. A written declaration of mailing executed under penalty of perjury by the
GRANTOR or DISTRICT or an officer or employee thereof shall be sufficient to
constitute proof of mailing.

(©) When mailed by certified mail with return receipt requested, notice is
effective on receipt as confirmed by the return receipt.

(d) When delivered by overnight delivery with charges prepaid or charged to
the sender’s account, notice is effective on delivery as confirmed by the delivery service.

(e) When sent by telex or fax to the last telex or fax number of the recipient
known to the party giving notice, notice is effective on receipt as long as (i) a duplicate
copy of the notice is promptly given by first-class or certified mail or by overnight
delivery or (ii) the receiving party delivers a written confirmation of receipt. Subject to
the foregoing requirements, any notice given by telex or fax shall be considered to have
been received on the next business day if it is received after 5 p.m. (recipient’s time) or
on a non-business day.

19.3 Refused or Undeliverable Notices. Any correctly addressed notice that is

refused or undeliverable because of an act or omission of the party to be notified shall be
considered to be effective as of the first date that the notice was refused or considered
undeliverable by the postal authorities, messenger, or overnight delivery service.

Amendment. If circumstances arise under which an amendment or modification of this

Easement would be appropriate, GRANTOR and DISTRICT shall be free to jointly amend this

24
Attachment 8



Easement, provided that any amendment shall be consistent with the Conservation Purpose of
this Easement, shall ensure protection of the Conservation Values of the Property, shall not affect
the Easement’s perpetual duration and shall be consistent with Public Resources Code section
5540 and any successor statute then in effect. Any such amendment shall be in writing, executed
by GRANTOR and DISTRICT, and recorded in the Office of the Sonoma County Recorder.

21.  No Forfeiture. Nothing contained in this Easement shall result in a forfeiture or
reversion of GRANTOR’s title in any respect.

22.  Termination of Rights and Obligations. A party’s rights and obligations under this
Easement shall terminate upon transfer of the party’s interest in the Property, except that liability
for acts or omissions occurring prior to transfer shall survive transfer.

23.  Enforceable Restriction. This Easement and each and every term contained herein is
intended for the benefit of the public and constitutes an enforceable restriction pursuant to the
provisions of Article XIII, section 8 of the California Constitution and California Public
Resources Code section 5540, or any successor constitutional provisions or statutes then in
effect.

24.  Applicable Law and Forum. This Easement shall be construed and interpreted
according to the substantive law of California, excluding the law of conflicts. Any action to
enforce the provisions of this Easement or for the breach thereof shall be brought and tried in the
County of Sonoma.

25.  Pronoun Number and Gender. Whenever used herein, unless the provision or context
otherwise requires, the singular number shall include the plural and the plural the singular, and
the masculine gender shall include the feminine and neuter.

26. GRANTOR and DISTRICT. Wherever used herein, the terms GRANTOR and
DISTRICT, and any pronouns used in place thereof, shall mean and include the above-named
GRANTOR and its heirs, successors, and assigns, including any persons claiming under them,
and the above-named DISTRICT and its successors and assigns, respectively.

27.  DISTRICT’s General Manager. Wherever used herein, the term DISTRICT’s General
Manager, and any pronoun used in place thereof, shall mean and include the General Manager of
DISTRICT and his duly authorized representatives.

28.  Entire Agreement. This instrument sets forth the entire agreement of the parties with
respect to this Easement and supersedes all prior discussions, negotiations, understandings, or
agreements relating to this Easement, all of which are merged herein. No alteration or variation
of this instrument shall be valid or binding unless contained in a written amendment prepared,
executed and recorded in accordance with Section 20.

29.  Severability. In the event any provision of this Easement is determined by the

appropriate court to be void and unenforceable, all remaining terms and conditions shall remain

valid and binding. If the application of any provision of this Easement is found to be invalid or
25

Attachment 8



unenforceable as to any particular person or circumstance, the application of such provisions to
persons or circumstances, other than those as to which it is found to be invalid, shall not be
affected thereby.

30. Estoppel Certificates. DISTRICT shall, at any time during the existence of this
Easement, upon not less than thirty (30) days' prior written notice from GRANTOR, execute and
deliver to GRANTOR a statement in writing certifying that this Easement is unmodified and in
full force and effect (or, if modified, stating the date of execution and date of recording of the
respective amendment) and acknowledging that there is not, to DISTRICT's knowledge, any
default by GRANTOR hereunder, or, if DISTRICT alleges a default by GRANTOR, specifying
such default. DISTRICT’s obligation to deliver the statement of certification is conditioned on
GRANTOR’s reimbursing DISTRICT for all costs and expenses reasonably and necessarily
incurred in its preparation as determined by DISTRICT’s General Manager.

31. No Liens, Encumbrances, or Conveyances. GRANTOR warrants that after it has
executed this Easement, it will not record any lien, encumbrance, or otherwise convey any right,
title, or interest in and to the Property until such time as this Easement has been accepted and
recorded by DISTRICT.

32.  Effective Date. This Easement shall be effective as of the date of its acceptance by
DISTRICT pursuant to California Public Resources Code sections 5500 et seq.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, GRANTOR and DISTRICT have executed this Easement this
day of , 20,

GRANTOR:

By:
City Manager, City of Healdsburg

ATTEST:

DISTRICT:

SONOMA COUNTY AGRICULTURAL PRESERVATION AND OPEN SPACE
DISTRICT

By:
President of the Board of Directors

ATTEST:

Clerk of the Board of Directors

26
Attachment 8



NOTE: ACKNOWLEDGMENTS MUST BE ATTACHED FOR ALL SIGNATORIES.

2009197.1

27
Attachment 8



F. EASEMENT AMENDMENTS

State law significantly limits the District’s ability to allow easement amendments. Moreover, the
success of the District's program depends on the public's confidence that the District will meet
its obligation to enforce its agreements as written. This confidence could be seriously eroded if
the District were to allow easement amendments other than those that clearly enhance the
conserved open space values.

OBJECTIVE

Strictly limit the circumstances under which amendments to conservation easements may be
considered so as to protect the District’s goals, maintain public confidence and ensure
compliance with state law.

POLICIES

1. Approve amendments to conservation easements only where there is a clear benefit to the
District and its conservation goals.

2. Approve amendments to conservation easements only where the amendment is consistent
with law, with adopted District policies and with the conservation purpose of the easement.

3. Amendments to provide for additional natural resource protection shall be permitted
provided that such additional protection does not diminish or otherwise impair the
conservation values of the land.

4. Notwithstanding the policies set forth herein, conservation easements, like other interests in
real property, can be condemned for public purposes. Where it appears that the
condemnation power has been properly exercised or there is a substantial threat that it will
be so exercised, the District may enter into settlement negotiations with the condemning
authority and the landowner, as appropriate under the circumstances, to seek settlement in
lieu of condemnation.

PROCEDURES

1. Application by Landowner.

a) All requests by a landowner for an amendment to a conservation easement shall be in
writing and shall include the following:

(1) A description of the proposed amendment.
(2) The specific reason(s) why landowner is requesting the amendment.

22
Attachment 9


sjackson
Typewritten Text

sjackson
Typewritten Text
Attachment 9


(3) An explanation of how the amendment is consistent with the conservation
easement and with the amendment policies and procedures of the District.

(4) A map with notations identifying locations affected by the proposed amendment
together with any other documentation necessary to understand the significance of
proposed amendment.

(5) Payment of the initial filing fee set by the District along with a written agreement
to pay all costs, including District’s staff costs, relating to processing the
amendment request.

b) Within thirty (30) days after receipt of the amendment application, the District shall
inform landowner whether the application is complete or incomplete. If the application
is incomplete, the District shall identify the additional information required. Where
sensitive natural resources may be affected by a proposed conservation easement
amendment, the District may require that further site study be conducted prior to
considering the proposed amendment.

2. Amendments Requested by District. There may be circumstances when the District
determines that amending the conservation easement will advance the purpose of the
conservation easement. For example, the District may want to update the conservation
easement to the District’s current form or correct a mistake, or provide additional resource
protection. In such circumstances, District staff may initiate an amendment to a
conservation easement provided staff first obtains landowner consent. Upon receipt of
landowner written consent, District staff shall prepare a written proposal, setting forth all
information required under Procedures 1(a)(1) through (4) above, for submission to the
District Board of Directors.

3. Fees.
a) The District shall establish a fee schedule for amendments.

b) When the District initiates an amendment pursuant to Procedure 2 above, all costs of
such application shall be borne by the District provided, however that if the landowner
simultaneously requests an amendment, the landowner shall pay fees based on the costs
reasonably allocated to the amendment sought by the landowner.

4. Review of the Application.

a) Upon receipt of a complete application, the District shall evaluate the amendment
application with respect to Policies 1 through 4 above and the findings required by
Procedure 7 below. Staff evaluation may include consultation with appropriate experts,
a site visit, and preparation of environmental documentation as may be required by the
California Environmental Quality Act. The evaluation may also include consultation
with the property owner, and any individual, entity or public agency that donated lands
or contributed funds to the acquisition, apart from District funds.

23



6.

b) District staff shall, upon completion of its evaluation of the application, make a written
recommendation to the General Manager and the District’'s Counsel. The written
recommendation may recommend approval, approval with conditions or denial of the
application. The staff recommendation shall be made within six months after receipt of a
completed application.

General Manager’s Decision/Recommendation. The District staff shall present its
evaluation, together with its recommendation, to the General Manager. A copy of the
evaluation and recommendation shall also be provided to the District's Counsel. The
General Manager shall consult with the District’s Counsel, and shall, within sixty (60) days
of presentation by District staff, do one of the following:

a) Refer the proposed amendment back to staff for further evaluation, clarification or other
action. The referral shall be in writing, explaining the reasons for the referral.

b) If the General Manager concludes that the amendment is legally permissible, is
consistent with Policies 1 through 4 above, and is advisable, and that the findings
required by Procedure 7 below can be made, the General Manager shall present the
matter to the District’'s Board of Directors at a regularly scheduled Board meeting,
together with his/her written recommendation for approval. In addition, if the General
Manager determines that the Open Space Authority has jurisdiction over the proposed
amendment, the matter shall also be placed on the agenda of the Open Space Authority.
A copy of the recommendation shall be sent to the landowner.

c) If the General Manager concludes that the proposed amendment is not legally
permissible, is contrary to Policies 1 through 4 above, is not advisable or that the
findings required by Procedure 7 below cannot be made, the General Manager may
deny the application for amendment and so notify the applicant. The denial shall be in
writing and shall state the reasons therefore.

d) If, for any reason, the General Manager does not recommend approval of the
amendment to the Board of Directors, he/she may, as an alternative to denial of the
application under Procedure 5c, submit the amendment to the Board of Directors with
no recommendation. Any such action shall be by written memo explaining the reasons
for the action. A copy of the written memo shall be sent to the landowner.

Appeal of Decision by General Manager. In the event that the General Manager denies an
application pursuant to Procedure 5c, the landowner may appeal the denial by the General
Manager to the Board of Directors. The appeal shall be in writing, shall include the required
fee and shall be filed with the District within twenty (20) days after the District mails notice
of the General Manager’s decision.

Board of Directors Action. The Board of Directors shall consider de novo any application
that comes before it, whether by presentation of the General Manager or by appeal. The
Board shall approve an amendment (whether initiated by a landowner or the District) only
if it makes all of the following findings:

24



The amendment is clearly consistent with the conservation purpose of the conservation
easement.

The amendment enhances and otherwise does not impair the conservation values of the
land subject to the conservation easement.

The amendment does not undermine the perpetual nature of the conservation easement.

The amendment is not precluded by the conservation easement or by state or federal
law.

The amendment does not reconvey any interest in land that has been expressly
extinguished by the conservation easement.

The amendment is the minimum change necessary to satisfy the purpose of the
amendment.

The amendment is consistent with the District’s Acquisition Plan and other applicable
District policies in effect at the time of the proposed amendment.

The amendment is consistent with all applicable land use and zoning regulations.

The amendment incorporates, to the maximum extent practical and legally permissible,
the language used by the District in its then-current conservation easements.

The amendment increases or has no effect on the appraised value of the conservation
easement.

In its consideration of an amendment, the Board of Directors further shall make a finding as
to whether the proposed amendment will require approval of the County voters or the
California legislature pursuant to Public Resources Code Section 5540 et seq.

Notwithstanding Procedure 7, in the event of condemnation or a bona fide threat of
condemnation of a conservation easement or a portion thereof, the Board may enter into
settlement negotiations with the condemning authority and the landowner, as appropriate
under the circumstances, to seek settlement in lieu of condemnation.

25



APPRAISAL REPORT

FITCH MOUNTAIN
EIGHT RURAL RESIDENTIAL LOTS
: Located at
UNINCORPORATED HEALDSBURG,
SONOMA COUNTY, CALIFORNIA

PREPARED FOR

Mr. Stuart Martin, SR/WA
Sonoma County Open Space District
747 Mendocino Avenue
Santa Rosa, California 95401

as of
December 15, 2010

PREPARED BY
Dana W. Burwell, MAI, ASA

PO Box 115
Healdsburg, California 95448



Dana W. Burwell, MAI, ASA

Real Estate Valuation - Consultation
Post Office Box 115, Healdsburg, CA 95448
Tel: 707-433-7490 - Fax; 707-778-1389
email: danaburwell@earthlink.net

June 27, 2011

Mr. Stuart Martin, SR/WA

Sonoma County Agricultural Preservation & Open Space District
747 Mendocino Avenue, Suite 100

Santa Rosa, California 95401

Re: Fitch Mountain
Eight Rural Residential Lots
Unincorporated Healdsburg, Sonoma County, California

Dear Mr. Martin:

Subsequent to your request and authorization, | have completed an appraisal to estimate the Market
Value of the Fee Simple Interest in the proposed eight lot developrnent located on Fitch Mountain in
an unincorporated area of Healdsburg, Sonoma County. The function of the appraisal is {o assist
the District in its decision making process regarding the purchase of the subject property.

In order to appraise this property, | have completed an inspection of the subject property and
observed trends of land uses in the area. In addition, | researched comparable land sales that
provided an indication of the retail value of each iot. A subdivision analysis was alsoc completed that
inciuded a retail sales analysis of the lots over a sell-out period less site development costs and
holding costs. The property also includes seven Assessor Parcels that are considered unbuildable
and have not been included in the valuation.

Based upon my analysis of the available information, the Market Value of the Fee Simple Interestin
the subject property, as of December 15, 2010, is considered to be:

ONE MILLION EIGHT HUNDRED THOUSAND DOLLARS
($1,800,000)

The valuation stated herein is subject to the conditions and assumptions stated on the following
pages. In addition, the report has been made in conformity with the Uniform Standards of
Professional Appraisal Practice and is subject to the requirements of the Code of Ethics, the
Standards of Professicnal Conduct of the Appraisal Institute and the standards and reporting
requirements of the District.

Respectfully submitted,

Dana W. Burwell
Certified General Real Estate Appraiser
AG003696


mailto:danaburwell@earthlink.net

SUMMARY OF SALIENT FACTS AND CONCLUSIONS

PROPERTY IDENTIFICATION:

OWNERSHIP:

ASSESSOR’S PARCELS:

SITE DESCRIPTION:

ACCESS:

UTILITIES:

CURRENT USE:

HIGHEST AND BEST USE:

ZONING:

INTEREST APPRAISED:

VALUE INDICATIONS

© $/Acre;

Retail Value of 8 Lots:
Cost of Development:
Cash Fiow:

Sell-out period:
Discount Rate:

Fitch Mountain
Unincorporated Healdsburg, Sonoma County,

California

FRANCEZ,LLC

Various (See Page 31)

198.7 gross acres. Lots 1 though 7 range in size from
3.3 to 12.4 acres while Lot 8 contains 147.9 acres
and is partially encumbered by a Forever Wild
Easement. The property also includes seven APN’s
that are a part of Lot 8 and are not encumbered by
the conservation easement. These lots are
considered unbuildable and have not been included
in the valuation.

The property is accessed from the extension of Hilltop
Road, a county street that further connects to Fitch
Mountain Road.

Each lot includes a building envelope and requires
the extension of a water line from a proposed mutual
water system. Each lot requires an engineered septic
system and the extension of PG&E utilities from
Hilltop Road.

Rural Land

Rural Residential Development

RRD- B8 with eight legal lots

Fee Simple Interest

$10,000 per acre
$3,490,000
$1,.266277)
$2,223,723
Three years
15.0%



SUMMARY OF SALIENT FACTS AND CONCLUSIONS

INDICATED VALUES

Sales Comparison Approach: $1,990,000
Income Approach to Value: $1,600,000
VALUE CONCLUSION: $1,800,000
EFFECTIVE DATE OF VALUE: December 15, 2010

DATE OF INSPECTION: December 15, 2010



ERTIFICATION

| certify that, to the best of my knowledge and belief:

The statements of fact contained in this report are true and correct.

The reported analyses, opinions, and conclusions are limited only by the reported assumptions and
limiting conditions and is my personal, impartial, and unbiased professional analyses, opinions, and
conclusions.

| have no present or prospective interest in the property that is the subject of this report and no
personal interest with respect to the parties involved.

| have no bias with respect to the property that is the subject of this report or to the parties involved
with this assignment.

My engagement in this assignment was not contingent upon developing or reporting predetermined
results.

My compensation for completing this assignment is not contingent upon the development or
reporting of a predetermined value or direction in value that favors the cause of the client, the
amount of the value opinion, the attainment of a stipulated result, or the occurrence of a subsequent
event directly related to the intended use of this appraisal.

The reported analyses, opinions, and conclusions were developed, and this report has been
prepared, in conformity with the requirements of the Code of Professional Ethics & Standards of
Professional Appraisal Practice of the Appraisal Institute, which include the Uniform Standards of
Professional Appraisal Practice USPAP.

The use of this report is subject to the requirements of the Appraisal Institute relating to review by
its duly authorized representatives.

The appraiser previously appraised this property in 2007 for the same client.
Dana W. Burwell made a personal inspection of the property that is the subject of this report.

The appraisal report is in conformance with the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal
Practice.

As of the date of this report, Dana Burwell has satisfied continuing education requirements of the
Appraisal Institute and the State of California.

Dana W. Burwell
Certified General Real Estate Appraiser
Lic. AGO03696



SUBJECT PHOTOGRAPHS

=

Pad Area of Lot 8



SUBJECT PHOTOGRAPHS

Pad Area of Lot 5

View toward Lot 7



SUBJECT PHOTOGRAPHS

View toward Lot 6

Pad Area near Lots 3 & 4



SUBJECT PHOTOGRAPHS

——

ical Road Section

f Typ

iew o

V

View of Typical Road Section



TABLE OF CONTENTS

Title Page

Cover Letter

Executive Summary

Certificate of Appraisal
Photographs of Subject Property
Table of Contents

INTRODUCTION
Identification of Subject Property ......................ocoee,
HIS Oy o,
Purpose and Function of the Appraisal ...........................
Use of the Appraisal Report............coi i
Date of Value ... .. .. o e,
Date of Inspection .. .. ..o
Competency ..o
Market Vaiue "As-Is" on the Appraisal Date ......................

Property Rights Appraised ...

Scope ofthe Appraisal ...
Definition of Market Value ...............cco i
Assumptions and Limiting Conditions ..............................

REGIONAL DESCRIPTION
Sonoma County Description ...
City of Healdsburg.............coooo
Neighborhood.. ...
Healdsburg Housing Market .................cccooi e,

SITEDESCRIPTION ... e
Forever Wild Easement ... ...,
Easements and Encumbrances..........covovviei i,
Property Maps

DESCRIPTIONOF LOTS ... ... e,
Site Development Costs..........ooiiiiiiiii e

HIGHESTAND BESTUSE ...
THREE APPROACHES TOVALUE ........... ...

SALES COMPARISON APPROACH TO VALUE
Methodology ..o
Application ...

Group One Sales

Comparable Sales of Large Rural Properties.....................
Analysis of MarketData .................. i

Conclusionof Value ...............cooo i

O~ B WWNMNMNNNN -

12
19
22
23

25

26
28

32

35

37

40

43
43

44
46
49



TABLE OF CONTENTS

SALES COMPARISON APPROACH TO VALUE

Group Two Sales
Comparable SalesforLot 8 ...
Group Three Sales
Comparable Sales for Lots 1though 7 ..........................
Analysis of Market Data ..................o oo,
Conclusion of Retail Lot Values ...........coo oo
Chart of Retail Lot Values.............cooiiiiiii e,
INCOME APPROACH TO VALUE
Methodology ...
Sell-out Period for Lots
Gross Lot Revenue ...
Deductions for Costs
DiscoUnt Rate. .. ..o e e
Conclusion of Value ... e
Subdivision Analysis Table

SUMMARY AND VALUE CONCLUSION ............cocii i o,

DATA SHEETS (GROUP ONE SALES)
DATA SHEETS (GROUP TWO SALES)
DATA SHEETS (GROUP THREE SALES)

APPENDIX

Engagement Letter

Development Costs

Preliminary Title Report and Listing of APN’s
Conservation Easement

Zoning

Resume

50

51
52
54
55

56
57
57
57
57
58
59

60



REPORT SUMMARY

Identification of Subject Property

The subject property represents an approximately 198.7 acre parcel consisting of eight legal
lots, further identified as Administrative Certificates of Compliance (ACCs) issued by the County
of Sonoma. The largest lot, Lot 8, is partially encumbered by a conservation easement. In
addition, seven lots that are apart of Lot 8 are located outside the area encumbered by the
conservation easement and are considered unbuildable. The property originally consisted of 26
assessor's parcels that were assembled into the eight lots based on a survey by Ray Carlson &
Associated, dated June, 1996, and subsequent lot lines adjustments. The property is known as

Fitch Mountain and is a prominent landmark in the greater Healdsburg area.

The eight lots include seven lots located on the eastern portion of Fitch Mountain that range in
size from 3.3 acres to 12.4 acres. Each of the eight lots includes a building envelope. The
largest lot, Lot 8, contains 147.9 acres and is situated along the western portion of Fiich
Mountain. This parcel is further encumbered by a Forever Wild Conservation Easement with the
Sonoma County Open Space District that encompasses most of the parcel. The eight lots are
accessed from Hilliop Road that connects o a gravel/dirt road that further connects to each lot
and respective building pads. The road requires grading, instaliation of drainage culverts and

asphalt paving to meet County fire standards.

Fitch Mountain is located outside the city limits of Healdsburg but within the city’s sphere of
influence. The area has a combination of private and public services. Water is available to
each of the subject lots from the Fitch Mountain Water District. Water service to each lot would
be from a large holding tank located near the highest elevation of Fitch Mountain with a water
line extension to each lot. Each lot would also require a mound septic system. Electrical
service is available from PG&E and would be provided from newly installed overhead utility

poles.



History of Subject Property

The subject property is currently vested in F.RAN.C.E.Z.,, LLC. The property was sold to the
current title holder for $2,639,000 in March, 2003. At the time of the sale, the property included
the elght parcels that required extension of services to each lot. Lot 8 was partially encumbered
with a Forever Wild Conservation Easement in a fransfer that occurred in 1994. A portion of Lot
8 is located outside the conservation easement. Previous to the most recent transfer, the
property has been owned by the Ratchford family for over 20 years. There have been no

transfers of ownership since 2003.
Purpose and Function of the Appraisal

| have been requested by Mr. Stuart Martin, representing the Sonoma County Agricultural
Preservation & Open Space District (District), to estimate the market value of the Lots 1 through
8 representing 200 acres located on Fitch Mountain. The appraisal report includes the fee
simple retail value of the eight individual lots and a discounted cash flow analysis of the property
assuming a typical sell-out of the lots and completion of site development costs estimated by

Carlile-Macy, dated January, 2011.

This appraisal assignment is a Self Contained Appraisal Report (under Standards Rule 2-2, as
defined in the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice, USPAP).

Use of the Appraisal Report

The contents and conclusions presented in this report have been prepared for the exclusive use
of the District. No other release or duplication is permitted without the written authorization of
Dana W. Burwell. Please refer to item 18 of the Assumptions and Standard Limiting Conditions

for further clarification.
Inspection of Subject and Date of Valuation

The subject property was inspected with Stuart Martin, a representative of the Open Space
District, on December 15, 2010. The effective date of valuation is December 15, 2010.



Disclosure of Competency

The appraiser has extensive experience in appraising properties similar to the subject property.
Over the past thirteen years, | have appraised rural residential and agricultural properties
located throughout the San Francisco Bay area. in addition, | have valued agricultural,
commercial and residential real estate in Mann, Napa and Socnoma Counties for the past twenty

years. The appraiser's qualifications are included in the addenda of this appraisal report.

Markei Value “As-Is” On Appraisal Date

The estimated Market Value of a property considers its condition observed upon the date of
inspection and as it physically and legally exists without hypothetical conditions, assumptions, or
qualifications as of the date the appraisal is prepared. In the case of the subject, this value

refers to the eight lots that require offsite development work to be marketable for residential

development.



Property Rights Appraised

Fee Simple Interest

The purpose of the appraisal is to estimate the Market Value of the Fee Simple Interest in the

subject property as described herein,

The Fee Simple Interest is defined by the Appraisal Institute as an absolute ownership
unencumbered by any other interest or estate, subject only to the limitations imposed by the

government powers of taxation, eminent domain, police power and escheat.

The conservation easement is appraised as to less than fee simple, or easement interest.
Easement is defined by the Appraisal Institute as an interest in real property which conveys use,
but not ownership, of a portion of the real property. An easement is specific right granted to

another to uiilize a property for a specified purpose.



Scope of the Appraisal

The scope of the appraisal assignment required investigating sufficient data relative to the
subject property to derive an opinion of value. The depth of analysis was based on the
significance of the appraisal problem. This appraisal assignment is a Self Contained Appraisal
assignment (under Standards Rule 2-2, gs defined in the Uniform Standards of Professional

Appraisal Practice, USPAP). The appraisal assignment required the following steps:

1. An inspection of the property and its neighborhood was conducted to determine the
physical features and conditions of the subject in addition to its environment and

surrounding influences.

2. The appraiser also researched municipal records to ascertain current and historical

assessment information and ownership data regarding the subject property.

3. The subject property's current physical and legal conditions were researched in addition

to its background and history.

4. The market area was examined to determine existing and proposed inventory, demand

and marketability of comparable properties.

5. The highest and best use of the property in the before and after condition was
determined based on the factors of physical possibility, legal permissibility, financial

feasibility and maximum productivity.

6. The retail value of each lot is based on a survey of rural and city lots within the
Healdsburg area. A subdivision analysis was also undertaken and includes a
discounted cash flow analysis with a projected sell-out rate of the lots less sales and
holding costs and site development costs. The site development costs were provided by

the engineering firm of Carlile-Macy, dated January, 2011.

7. Based on a review and analysis of the market data, the market value of the subject

property was estimated by the Sales Comparison Approach and the Income Approach.



8.

A final value conclusion was derived and the value conclusion is subject to certain

assumptions and limiting conditions.



Definition of Market Value (FIRREA)

For the purpose of this appraisal, Market Value will be defined as foliows:

The most probable price a property should bring in a competitive and open market under all
conditions requisite to a fair sale, the buyer and seller each acting prudently, knowledgeably,

and assuming the price is not affected by undue stimulus.

Implicit in this definition is the consummation of a sale as of the specified date and the passing

of title from seller to buyer under conditions whereby:
1. Buyer and seller are typically motivated.

2. Both parties are well informed or well advised, and each acting in what they consider

their own best interest.
3. A reasonable time is allowed for exposure in the open market.

4. Payment is made in terms of cash in U.S. dollars or in terms of financial arrangements

comparable thereto.

5. The price represents a normal consideration for the property sold unaffected by special

financing or creative financing or sales concessions granted by anyone associated with

the sale.



General Assumptions and Standard Limiting Condition
This appraisal is subject to the following limiting conditions.

1. The legal description and area dimensions furnished the appraiser is assumed to be

correct. No survey of the boundaries of the property was completed.

2. | assume no responsibility for matters legal in character, nor do | render any opinion as
to fitle, which is assumed to be marketable. All existing liens, encumbrances, and
assessments have been disregarded, except where noted, and the property is appraised

as though free and clear, under responsible ownership and competent management.

3. Unless otherwise noted herein, it is assumed that there are no encroachments, zoning,

or restrictive violations existing in the subject property.

4, No opinion is intended to be expressed on matters which require legal expertise or
specialized investigation or knowledge beyond that customarily employed by real estate

appraisers.

5. The exhibits in this report are included to assist the reader in visualizing the property. |

have made no survey of the property and assume no responsibility in connection with

such matters.

6. The distribution or allocation, if any, of the total valuation of this report between land and
improvements applies only under the existing program of utilization. The separate
valuations for land and improvements must not be used in conjunction with any other
appraisal and are invalid if so used. Any value estimates provided in the report apply to
the entire property, and any proration or division of the tofal into fractional interests will
invalidate the value estimate, unless such proration or division of interests has been set

forth in the report.
7. The statements of value and ali conclusions shall apply as of the date shown herein.

8. | assume no responsibility for economic or physical factors which may affect the opinions



10.

11.

12.

herein stated, which may be present or occur at some date afier the date of value.

| have inspected, as far as possible, by observation, the land; however, it was impossible
to personally inspect conditions beneath the soil; therefore, no representations are made
as to these matters unless specifically considered in the appraisal. Further, no opinion is
expressed as to the value of sub-surface oil, gas, or mineral rights, or whether the
property is subject to surface entry for the exploration or removal of such materials,

except as is expressly stated.

This appraisal is predicated on the assumption that the existence of hazardous material,
which may or may not be present on or near the property, was not observed by the
appraiser, unless otherwise stated in the appraisal, knowledge of the existence of such
materials on or in the property. The appraiser, however, is not quaiified to detect such
substances. The presence of asbestos or other potentially hazardous materials may
affect the value of the property. The value estimate herein is predicated on the
assumption that there is no such material on or in the property that would cause a loss in
value. No responsibility is assumed for any such condition, or for any expertise or

knowledge required to discover them.

No engineering survey has been made by us. Except as specifically stated, data relative
to size and area were taken from sources considered reliable. Furthermore, no warranty
is implied with regard to physical or structural or operational deficiencies which are not

disclosed to the appraiser and noted herein.

The appraiser assumes no responsibility for determining if the property requires
environmental approval by the appropriate governing agencies, nor if it is in violation
thereof, unless otherwise noted herein. The appraiser assumes that there is full
compliance with all applicable federal, state, and local envircnmental regulations and
laws unless noncompliance is stated, defined and considered in the appraisal report.
The appraiser assumes that all required licenses, certificates of occupancy, consents or
other legislative or administrative authority from any local, state, or national government
or private entity or organization have been or can be obtained or renewed for any use on

which the value estimate contained in this report is based.



13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

Information, estimates, and opinions contained in this report are obtained from sources
considered reliable and where feasible, has been verified. However, no liability can be

assumed for information supplied by others.

| reserve the right to make such adjustments to the valuation herein reported, as may be

required by the consideration of additional data or more reliable data that may become

availabie.

All projections of income and expenses in this report are estimates of current market
expectations, not predictions of the future. No warranty or representation is made that
these projections will materialize. Where Discounted Cash Flow Analyses have been
undertaken, the discount rates utilized to bring forecast future revenues back to
estimates of present value, reflect both our market investigations of vyield anticipations
and our judgement as to the risks and uncertainties in the subject property and the

consequential rates of return required fo attract an investor under such risk conditions.

The appraiser may not be required to give testimony or to appear in court or any
governmental or other hearing by reason of this appraisal, unless prior arrangements

have been made.

The appraiser has no present or contemplated future interest in the property which is not

specifically disclosed in this report.

This report shall be used for its intended purpose only and by the parties o whom it is
addressed as of the current date of valuation. Possession of this report does not carry
with it the right of publication, or duplication. The signer of this report is subject to the
Appraisal Institute Bylaws and Regulations. The Institute requires each member or
candidate to control the use and distribution of each appraisal signed by such member or
candidate. Therefore, except as hereinafter provided, the party for whom this appraisali
was prepared may distribute copies of this report, in its entirety, to such third parties as
may be selected by the party for whom this report was prepared; however, selected
portions of this appraisal shall not be given to third parties without the prior written
consent of the signatories of this report. Neither all nor any part of the contents of this

report shall be conveyed to the public through advertising, public relations, news, sales,

-10-



or other media without the written consent or approval of the author. This applies
particularly to value conclusions, the identity of the appraiser or firm with which is

connected, and any reference to the Appraisal Institute.

-11 -



REGIONAL AND NEIGHBORHOOD DESCRIPTION

Hapdooino dounls

Sonoma County

owardsle

Sonoma

Sonoma County is one County

of the original 27
counties in the state. It
is the northernmost of
the nine greater San

Francisco Bay Area

counties. Bordered on : L. E
the north and east by I e e =

Mendocino, Lake, and Napa counties and to the west and south by the Pacific Ocean,

Marin County, and San Pablo Bay, its area encompasses 1,598 square miles.

The county extends 50 miles from north to south and has a width of about 35 miles.
Geographically, Sonoma County is divided almost equally into mountainous regions,
rolling hills and valley land. Three narrow valleys, separated by mountains, run north to
south, which creates numerous microclimates within the county. Elevations in the
county range from sea level to 4,262 feet at the top of Mi. St. Helena, where Sonoma,

Napa and Lake Counties converge.

Sonoma County's climate is characterized by dry, pleasant summer months followed by
a rainy season from November through April. Mean temperatures throughout the county
vary significantly during the summer, ranging from the cool weather of the coastal area

to the warmer climate of the inland valleys. Rainfall averages about 50 inches along the

coast and about 30 inches in the valleys.

Between 1950 and 1980, Sonoma County's population tripled, with almost half the
growth occurring during the 1970's. Between 1980 and 1990, the county's population
increased by 88,541 people or 29.5%. This is equivalent to an annual growth rate of
2.6% per year. Between 2000 and 2010, the county's population growth has averaged
2.9% per year similar to the growth rate during the 1980’s and 1990’s.

_12-



However, it is expected that long term growth over the next two decades will be lower

than the 1980-2010 period due to slow growth policies backed by the electorate and the

buiid-out conditions of most cities in the county.

5%

4%

3%

2t

3.5%
3.005

—_ 0w b G o OO

FORECAST

&

1102 '03 '04 05 '06 '07 '08 /0910 11 12

TOTAL EMPLOYMENT. PERCENT GROWTEI

FORECAST

N

‘ 01 '02 '03 ‘G4 '05 06 '07 '08 09 10 11 12

T MIGERATION UVTHOUSANDIS)

FORECAST

01 '02 '93 04 05 06 '07 '0& '09 1011 12

GROSS METRO PRODUCT, PERCENT GROWTH

520000

$15000

$10000

$5000

PERSONAL INCOME GROWTEH

FORECAST

40
3%
23

1%

0% 55702 '03 '04 05 '06 '07 108 '09 10 1112

MORTGAGE ORIGINATIONS i SMIL)

FORECAST

50

PERSONAL BANKRUMTCLES

FORECAST

2000

L

1560

1000

S04

-13 -




Sonoma County Indicators for 2010

The following analysis and statistics are excerpts from the research in 2010 Sonoma
County Indicators Report developed by the Sonoma County Economic Development

Board (www.sonomaedb.org)

Economy

Over the pasi year, the number of jobs in Sonoma County has declined by five percent.
Employment losses in Sonoma County were among the most severe in comparable
counties, but tracked in line with the California average. Accordingly, unemployment in
Sonoma County has risen higher than the national average, and while still below the

California state average, is among the highest of comparable counties.

The aggregate number of businesses in Sonoma County has grown considerably in the
past year, suggesting that despite the challenging economic climate, many new

businesses were created in Sonoma County since the start of the recent recession.

The national mortgage crisis has hit Sonoma County particularly hard. Home prices in
Sonoma County have dropped more than in other comparable counties and the state.
However, poor housing affordability, which has hindered economic growth in recent
years, improved significantly in 2009. The percent of residents able {o afford a median-
priced home increased from 26% to 44% between mid-2008 and mid-2008.

-14 -


http:www.sonomaedb.org

HOME BUYERS SONOMA COUNTY
70 AFFORDABILITY INDEX 2009 POPULATION PROJECTIONS,
F {THOUSANDS)
5k Hispanic Population
400 ~ 2050: 305,607
White Papulation
a2 350 |- 2008:330,186
WMMW»
@
be M
8E g 300 .
_ & o,
R ki 250 White Popul aticn
5 ;| 2050, 257 437
5 ~§ 200 - HispanicPopufation
0 : ;‘E 200%:111,210
i 2 o = : 1s0L
& ﬁ““ & fx o & &
o 3 T & & 7@ 100 -
G° QP < &&w ‘:Dv R
o 50 L 1 i i L 1
2000 2010 2020 2030 2040 2050
4 rWWW sonomaedb. org *Mater Percent abde b afford rned'urrp'luedhm-
Scuree-Catfanta, of Feahioes (W g Sowrce-{atfornig doperonent af Anencs Demograplic Researsh Uni (www dofea gout

Tourism

Sonoma County’s tourism-related industries have faced challenges during the recent
economic turmoil. Data from 2010 suggests that overall hotel occupancy rates are
down from the previous years but have rebounded from the 2008/2009 period during
the recession. Trends from across California mirror the challenges faced in Sonoma
County, where employment in Leisure and Hospitality industries, which encompass

much of the tourism workforce, is down statewide.

With signs that the impacts of the recent economic recession are now dissipating, many
of Sonoma County’s core industry metrics remain strong and new strengths are coming
to the fore. Sonoma County's 10-year employment trends show that job growth has
been primarily concentrated in sectors paying annual wages above the county and
national averages, a trend which could potentially increase the average pay of Sonoma

County residents over time.
Society & Workforce
Our population is becoming much more diverse. Birth rates for the most populous

ethnicities mirror state trends toward increasing diversity. The Hispanic birthrate in

Sonoma County is twice the county average. The Caucasian birthrate is the lowest

-15 -



among those compared. In line, the number of Latino, Asian, and African-Americans
has grown substantially since 2000. Between 2000 and 2015, the Hispanic, Asian, and
African-American populaiions are expected to grow by 85%, 95%, and 45%
respectively. The Caucasian population is projected to decline slightly over the same

period.

Our population is also growing older. Between 2000 and 2015, the number of residents
over the age of 50 is expected to grow by 50%. At the same time, the number of
residents under the age of 50 is only expected to grow 3%. Industries with large
numbers of workers aged 55 and older will likely seek large quantities of replacement
employment in the coming decade. An aging population will also have implications for

the county’s healthcare infrastructure.

Educational achievement gaps are a growing issue of concern for Socnoma County.
High school exit exam scores are one of many indicators reflecting the substantial
achievement gaps among various populations in the county. The Sonoma County
Office of Education has published additional indicators detailing that nearly two-thirds of
Latino students in Sonoma County are not proficient in English, and the graduation rate
among Hispanic students (64%) has remained far below those of Caucasian students
(81%). Itis imperative for public policy to react to changing demographic patterns in

order to better educate and prepare Sonoma County’s future workforce.
Environment & Agriculture

Sonoma County is sustaining a long-term commitment to improving its natural and built
environments, but there is still room for improvement. Sonoma County generates more
renewable energy than any other comparable county, and diverts 65% of its residential
and commercial waste from landfills through single-stream recycling. While water
conservation has increased over 50% in the past five years, resulting in decreased
water consumption per capita, water usage and availability will remain an important civic

issue as the county’s population grows.

- 16 -



Revenue for the major wine varietals between 2008 and 2010 has been approximately
level with most prices down but tonnage up. However, reductions in livestock and
poultry values were partially offset by increases in other commodities such as apples
and vegetables. The total number of acres under organic agricultural production has

increased substantially and represents one of the fastest growing Ag segments in the

county.
Health

Sonoma County boasts a higher rate of health insurance than most comparable
counties and the state and national averages. The 2007 California Health Interview
Survey reports that 6.6% of residents under the age of 65 in Sonoma County had no
health insurance in the 12 months prior to polling. The number of uninsured is up

slightly from the 2005 report, but down significantly from 2001.
Payroli Growth and Unemployment Rate

Payroll growth measures the percentage increase in aggregate compensation between
2008 and 2009. Unemployment rates measure the percentage of individuals relative to
the entire workforce who are not working but able, available and actively seeking work

during the week that includes the twelfth of the month.

Sonoma County’s unemployment rate of 10.1% for 2010 was near the average among
comparable regions. Although Sonoma’s unemployment rate has historically been
better than the state and national rates, in 2008 its seasonally adjusted unemployment
rate surpassed that of the nation. Other North bay county’s have a similar level of

unemployment as Sonoma County, although are lower than the State average of 12.3%

Payroll growth provides a measure of general business performance and the level of
available consumption and savings acitivity in the locai economy. Higher unemployment
rates represent increased gaps between job seekers and available jobs (frictional
unemployment) and/or an endemic dearth of jobs (structural unemployment). Higher
unemployment rates also typically portend economic downturns and decrease the ability

of members of the workforce to generate income.

-17-



Job and Establishment Growth

One of the major challenges facing Sonoma County’s economy since it dipped info
recession has been job growth. Over the course of 2008-2009, Sonoma County
experienced a 5.3 percent decrease in fotal jobs. This was identical to the California
average. During this same time, neighboring counties Marin and Napa saw declines of -
4.5 and -4.2 percent respectively. Despite job losses, Sonoma County boosted its total
number of firms by 5.4 percent year-over in 2008, placing its performance with the top

comparable counties.

Job growth illustrates an economy’s ability to generate more employment opportunities.
Because jobs are the primary source of income for most residents and employment

typically moves in line with business patterns, this metric often reflects overall economic

performance.

Establishment growth also can be viewed as an indicator of the overall business
climate, because it captures both the creation and shuttering of firms. Strong growth
could reflect the creation of new businesses by people who have transitioned from prior

employment.

Summary

Job growth remains a concern for Sonoma County’s economy. Attracting high-paying
jobs to the County has been a concern for county administrators and politicians for the
last several years, not only due to the dot-com bust which tock place at the beginning of
the decade, but also due to the more recent economic downturn. Frofessional and
business services are expected to be the biggest area of growth in the near future for
jobs and business development. Sonoma County’s growth and recession curve roughly
follows that of California and it is expected that as California climbs out of the current

recessionary climate, so will Sonoma County.

-18-



The City of Healdsburg

Healdsburg’s early residents, the Pomo Indians, built their villages in the open fertile
valleys along the Russian River. The California Gold Rush brought new settlers to the
generous farming land here. Cne early entrepreneur, Harmon Heald, envisioned a
grand plan for the village that would be his namesake. In 1857 he consiructed a store
and post office, sold lots downtown, and plotted a fown complete with a Spanish-style
Plaza. Healdsburg was officially incorporated ten years later. The extension of the
Northwestern Pacific Railroad in 1871 brought visitors and increased commerce to the

town of Healdsburg.

Today Healdsburg is a wine country destination, with its town plaza and proximity to

numerous wineries, tasting rooms and orientation toward a wine country lifestyle.

The City of Healdsburg is located on U.S. Highway 101, approximately twelve miles
north of Santa Rosa and seventy miles north of San Francisco. The unincorporated
community of Geyserville is eight miles to the north and the City of Cloverdaie is
approximately eighteen miles north. The rapidly growing recently incorporated town of
Windsor is eight miles to the south. The fifth largest city in Sonoma County, Healdshurg
currently encompasses an area of approximately two thousand two hundred seventy-

seven acres, with its General Plan comprising 3.56 square miles.

Geographically, Healdsburg is defined principally by U.S. Highway 101 to the west and
Fitch Mountain to the east. The Russian River flows through the southeastern portion

of the city, affording numerous recreational opportunities.

Surrounded by mountains to the east and west, the city lies at the intersection of three
rich agricultural valleys: the Sonoma Valley, Dry Creek Valley and Alexander Valley,

from which it derives its appellation as being “in the heart of the premium wine country.”

Voters in Healdsburg adopted a 20-year Urban Growth Boundary (UGB) in the middie
1990's that restricts expansion of urban services to lands outside the current sphere of
influence. They also voted in a Growth Management Ordinance that limits the city from

issuing more than 30 residential building permits per year with exceptions for affordable

-19 -



housing projects and previously approved development. Development expansion is
anticipated to continue within the current UGB, particularly within the 230 acres of
Pianning Area “A” that were annexed in 1995, Industrial activity within the City of
Healdsburg and its environs is based principally upon the agriculturai and wine
production businesses, food processing and building and lumber product industries, and

the geothermal industry at the Geysers development north of the city.

Employment levels within the city have been steadily increasing since 1960.
Historically, agriculture and related industries have been the primary employers in the
agrarian based economy, which includes viticulture. Moderate growth potential is
forecast for vineyards. The largest non-institutional employers in the city include
RLW/Boise Cascade, Safeway and Simi Winery.

Healdsburg today exhibits healthy signs of growth, particularly within the downtown area
surrounding the central Plaza. The City of Healdsburg Redevelopment Agency has
provided various forms of financial aid for redevelopment in the downtown core and
commercial areas. In an attempt to provide a more cohesive downtown image as well
as to preserve and enhance architecturally and historically significant structures, the city
has allocated funds for grants to downtown businesses for facade renovation. The
history and character of the city is reflected in the remaining examples of numerous
earlier architectural styles including Greek Revival, ltalianate, Queen Anne, Prairie,

Mission and Mediterranean.
Demographics

The City of Healdsburg has traditionally been a small town with a moderate growth rate,
with a 32% population increase between 1970 and 1980 as compared with an increase
of 46.3% for the county as a whole. However, between 1980 and 1990 the popuiation
increased 31% as compared with 28% for Sonoma County and 13.2% between 1990
and 2000, again slower than the County as a whole. The January, 2011 population
estimate of 11,475 represents a relatively larger increase of 5.4% due to the new
residences constructed in Area “A,” but this rate of increase is not anticipated to persist

given the new growth management limitations on new residential building permits.

- 20 -



The City of Healdsburg consists of a rather diverse ethnic and social population;
according to the 2010 U.S. Census statistics with 30.3% of the residents being
Hispanic. The city’s median age is 34.8 years old, which is the same as Sonoma
County’s. According to Department of Finance, 2010 projections, the average

household size is 2.74 persons as compared with 3.06 for the county as a whole.

The economies of Sonoma County and its cities, including Healdsburg and its
immediate environs, have grown dramatically during the past decades. The county’s
economy is slowing to a more sustainable long-term pace from a peak job growth rate
of 5% in 1997. While the economy is projected to maintain a healthy rate of growth,
factors that will lead to a slower pace or recession include a slowdown in business
investment, higher costs of capital due to tamer equity markets, local layoffs in the high
technology sector and slower income growth nationwide. Sonoma County will continue
to outpace California and the nation, but the gap will narrow. A more moderate pace of
growth will help the county to balance economic, social and environmental concerns in
a healthy economic environment. The majority of that growth will be concentrated
within the cities' spheres of influence as compared with the unincorporated areas, which

were the major growth areas during the 1980's.

The City of Healdsburg lies at the northern end of Sonoma County’s rapidly growing
Highway 101 corridor and has been experiencing increasing pressures for growth which
affect the area’s character and quality of life. Growth management is one of the most
important issues in Sonoma County as well as the Bay Area as a whole. The attendant
problems of growth, such as sewage collection, treatment and disposal, water supply
and the capacity of transportation systems both within the cities as weill as the Highway
101 corridor are issues currently under study. Resolution of these infrastructure
constraints will be determinative of future growth, both short and long term, within the

county and its cities.

-21 -



12,356.43 acres or
5368 square miles (12/11/2002 Reorg. 2002-1, Grove Street)

‘Area

‘Elevation

Incorporation

La’ut ude SN D
Long|tude . 1225205W s 5 S 1

420m,|esofma|nta|nedstreet5 e S 8

~ 10,722 (2000 Census)
‘Popuiation 111,522 (1-1-2002 Department of Finance)
11,600 (2004 Department of Finance)

The Subject Neighborhood

The subject property is located in the Fitch Mountain area. Fitch Mountain is located
outside the eastern boundary of the city limits of Healdsburg and abuts the Russian
River. Most of the residential properties in the area were originally developed as
summer homes and are located along South and North Fitch Mountain Road. South
Fitch Mountain Road connects to Matheson Street in central Healdsburg and proceeds
around the base of Fitch Mountain connecting to North Fitch Mountain Road and
eventually to Powell Street in central Healdsburg. Sales activity of single family homes
in the area is modest and reflects the lower value and rural nature of the area. The area
is served by the Fitch Mountain Water Company and each lot requires a septic system.
The lower elevations of Fitch Mountain are heavily wooded with a combination of large
redwood trees, pine and fir trees. Most of the housing development is along Fitch
Mountain Road within the lower elevations of Fitch Mountain. Homes located along the
eastern line of South Fitch Mountain have views of the Russian River; however, most of
the properties in the area do not have Russian River views. Despite the close proximity
of the area to central Healdsburg, the area is very rural and appeals to recreational
users of the Russian River and a combination of summer residents and longer term

residents desiring a rural setting.

S22


http:2,356.43

HEALDSBURG HOUSING MARKET

Overview

The Healdsburg housing market consists of the communities of central Healdsburg, the

Dry Creek Valley, Alexander Valley and Geyserville.

The appraiser has researched housing trends for property sold within the area since the
beginning of 1999. The housing market in the area can be segregated into three
distinct districts; lower priced homes located in the central Healdsburg, rural ranch
properties that sell as executive home sites and the more traditional housing market in

central Healdsburg.

Lower prices homes in central Healdsburg typically range from $450,000 to $550,000
and are considered entry level housing. Most of these homes are older in age, and
were built in the 1950’s and 1960’s.

The rural ranch properties are larger homes located on five to 25 acres in the wine
areas of Healdsburg. Most of the properties sell in the range from $800,000 to
$3,000,000. The prices are heavily influenced by the desire to acquire attractive home
sites with view amenities that could be furiher developed with second units and
vineyards. Many of these homes are second homes or retirement homes. Most of
these properties are located in Dry Creek Valley, Alexander Valley and the surrounding
area outside the city limits of Healdsburg. Typically, the properties have septic and well

systems and reflect country living standards.

The largest inventory of soid homes is located in the central core of Healdsburg. Over
2010, there have been 164 property sales (13.7 sales/month} in the area with an
average price of $786,000. The average sale price in the area reached its high point in
2006 at $933,400 and dropped to its lowest level in 2009 at $671,300. The average
price in 2010 appears to have recovered slightly from its low point in 2009. Days on the
market (DOM) was approximately three months. The typical house is a three bedroom,
two bath house with from 1,700 to 2,100 square feet. The homes range in age from

over 30 years {0 new, however, most of the homes in the area were developed in the

_923 -



1980’s and 1990’s. Several larger developments were constructed in the 1990’s by

major deveiopers.

The condominium market is a subset of the housing market. The area includes only a
few major condo projects, most developed in the 1980's. The condo prices are lower
than for typical single family homes prices. Higher end condo projects have sold for
over $600,000 per unit while lower end condo projects sold for under $300,000 per unit.

Rural lot prices for lots ranging from 5 to 25 acres have remained level over the past
several years due to limited supply and a steady but slow sales pattern. The median
price for a rural lot without city services was $795,000 with a DOM of 92 days.
However, the market for residential lots with city services has collapsed due to
extensive foreclosures. There are currently over twenty lots on the market at under
$200,000, all representing REQ’s. These lots sold at the peak period in 2005 through
2007 for $400,000 to $500,000 per lot. Many of these projects were developed in the
2004 through 2007 period and encountered a slow market for finished lots in 2009 and

2010 and were subsequently taken back by local lenders.

Qver the past two years, there have been 20 sales of residential lots that are under 10
acres in size. The sales prices have ranged from $62,000 to $265,000 with a mean
sales price of $215,000. Approximately 75% of the sales were REO's and reflect the

weak market for vacant city lots.

The overall housing market in Healdsburg remains stable despite the difficult financing
market and lower priced homes in other nearby cities. DOM is less than three months.
Homes prices appear to be approximately 10% higher than in the larger community of
Santa Rosa. In addition, development is limited in the area due to slow growth policies
and the build-out conditions of the neighboring towns. However, the market for
residential lots has collapsed and remains weak with most listings representing REO’s.
Sales of these properties are slow due to the lack of financing and the slow construction

market.

-4 -



SITE DESCRIPTION

Surrounding Environs

Fitch Mountain is accessed from Hilltop Road, a narrow, two lane county maintained
road that lacks curbs, gutters and sidewalks. Hilltop Road connects to North Fitch
Mountain Road to the southeast. The immediate area consists of older single family
homes situated on small and relatively steep lots. Most of the single family homes
situated on Hiiliop Road were developed in the 1930’s and have been upgraded and
remodeled over the past ten years. Moreover, the immediate area has less appeal than
other residential areas in Healdsburg due to its narrow roadway access, the small lot

configuration of the neighborhood and the rural nature of the area.
Topography

Fitch Mountain has an elevation of slightly over 900 feet at its peak and drops off to an
elevation of 300 feet along its base and access point at Hilitop Road. The mountain
peak area includes a level area that runs in a west-east direction, across the ridgeline of
Fitch Mountain. Lots 1 through 7 are located within an area that changes in elevation
from a peak of 700 feet declining to 300 feet. Lot 8 includes the peak of Fitch Mountain
and is more steep than the seven lots locaied along the eastern portion of the mountain.
The southern and northern portion of Lot 8 drop steeply to the base of Fitch Mountain.
The mountain includes a number of very steep gullies that run from the peak downward

to the lower elevations. Most of the gullies are located within Lot 8.

Zoning

The subject property is zoned RRD-B8, Resources and Rural Development, Frozen Lot
Size. The property is under the zoning jurisdiction of Sonoma County and is also within
the City of Healdsburg's sphere of influence. The General Plan designation by the
County is for 60 acre minimum lots and as Open Space by the City of Healdsburg. The
property has been divided into eight Administrative Certificates of Compliance (ACC'’s)
based on a survey by Ray Carlson Associates, dated June, 1996. The eight ACC’s

were created from approximately 27 assessor parcels with subsequent lot line

-5



adjustments. Each ACC includes a designated building envelope established by a
geotechnical study that determined the feasibility of the building sites and location of the
septic system and building pad area. Lot 8 is aimost entirely encumbered by a Forever

Wild Caonservation Easement with the District.
Forever Wild Conservation Easement

The Conservation Easement encumbering the majority of Lot 8 was recorded in 1994
between Zelma Ratchford and the SCAPOSD. The purpose of the easement is to
identify, preserve and protect in perpetuity the open space, natural and scenic values of
the property. The grantor has rights for management and preservation of natural
resources and other uses, which include wildfire management, maintenance of the
fences, protection of the roads and the undertaking of conservation practices which
promote soil stabilization and reduce erosion. Residential development within the
conservation easement is prohibited. The cost of maintaining appropriate
environmental practices is to be incurred by the property owner without oversight by the
District. The property can also be used by the property owner for non-intrusive
recreationa! or educational purposes, which include hiking, horseback riding and nature
study. The District has the right to enter upon the property and inspect, observe and
study for purposes of identifying current uses and practices regarding their consistency
with the Agreement. Furthermore, the Grantor is required to obtain the District's
approval for certain activities that might have an adverse impact upon the conservation
purposes. The Agreement does not provide for public access o the property. However,
the Grantor is permitted to convey all or a portion of the property to the City of
Healdsburg, or other willing entities, for the purpose of a park. A complete copy of the

conservation easement is included in the addendum of the report.
Utilities

The area has a combination of private and pubiic services. Water is available from the
Fitch Mountain Water District. The most reasonable scenario for development of water
services would be to construct a 20,000 gallon water fank near the top of the hill and
extent a water line from the tank to each lot. The water system would be private and

managed by the Fitch Mountain Water District. Each lot will require a mound septic

- 26 -



system. Electrical service is available from PG&E and would be provided from newly

installed overhead utility poles.

Access

Access to proposed development is from Hilltop Road, a two lane county maintained
road. Hilltop Road connects to an existing interior road that connects to each of the
subject lots. The existing road is currently a combination of dirt and gravel and would
require grading, installation of drainage culverts and asphalt paving to meet County fire
standards. Road widths are to be 12 feet wide with 2-foot wide dirt shoulders with
turnouts every 500 feet. The switchback at Station 8+00 would require a retaining wall.
A two-way road to each lot is not required due to the overall length of the existing road

system.
Flood Hazard

According to the National Flood Insurance Data Map provided by FEMA, the subject site
is not located within a flood-designated area for flood insurance programs. It is located
in zone C, an area of minimal flooding {Community Panel Number 060375 0530 B,
effective April 2, 1991).

Seismic Hazard

The subject property is not located within an Alquist-Priolo Special Studies Zone area.

Soils/Toxic Hazards

Neither a soils report nor a Preliminary Site Assessment on the subject property was
available for inspection. The appraisers are not qualified as soils experts and are not
capable of determining the development potential of the site or whether the site contains
contaminated or toxic particles or other hazardous waste. This appraisal is predicaied
upon the assumption that the site may be improved to its highest and best use and that
no contamination or hazardous substances exist either on the subject or adjacent

properties which would negatively impact the subject property.

-27 -



Drainage and Hydrology

The property represents steep terrain across its eastern section with a hilitop
configuration along the ridge top. The appraiser noted several areas that appeared io
be subject to extreme drainage run-off caused by heavy rains. These areas include
steep gullies that run in a downward slope and are located primarily along the northern
portion of the property, where the property is very steep and generally un-accessible by

foot.

Implied Dedication

implied dedication can be derived from adverse possession and prescription as
well as by fitle. The appraiser did not note any evidence of implied
dedication. The property has been held by a one family for many years and there was

no evidence of public use, adverse possession or prescriptive use.

Easements and Encumbrances

The appraiser has reviewed a Preliminary Title report prepared by First American Title
Company dated November 23, 2010.

Exceptions to coverage are as follows:

Property taxes.

2. Various easements for ingress and egress, righis of way and right of entry to
various parties.
An easement was granted to PG&E for poles and incidental purposes.

4. An easement was granted to Sonoma County for access {0 a water tank.

The property is partially encumbered by a conservation easement.

The easements or encumbrances noted are not judged to negatively affect the market
value of the property. The title report noted delinquent property taxes of approximately

$72,300.

.28 -



Taxes and Assessments

Since passage of Proposition 13, or the Jarvis Gann Initiative in 1978, real property
taxes are limited to 1 % of Market Value, as of a specified base year. The base year
valuation is the Assessor's 1875 Market Value estimate, unless there is a transfer of
ownership (sale), new construction, or the property is leased on a tong-term basis.
Whenever this occurs, the property is reassessed at full Market Value. If a

reassessment is not triggered, the assessed value is trended upward at 2% annually.

Furthermore, Proposition 13 limits annual taxes to 1 %, plus an amortized amount for

voter approved bonded indebtedness, of the assessed value.

The subject property represents 26 assessor parcels that have been combined into

eight ACC's after lot fine adjustments. The tax information on each ACC is not

available.

Legal Data

Address: N/A

Location: Fitch Mountain

Owner: FRANCEZ LLC

Assessor's Parcel Nos.; See table on next page

Legal Description: The legal description for the subject is contained in the
Appendix.

Thomas Brothers Map: 322-B2.

Preliminary Title Report: A copy of the Preliminary Title Report is included in the
Appendix of this report.

-929.


http:F.R.A.N.C.EZ

Conclusion

The subject property represents eight ACC’s with seven of the lots ranging in size from
3.3 acres o 12.4 acres. Lot 8 contains 147.9 acres and is almost completely
encumbered by a Forever Wild Easement. Lot 8 also includes seven APN's that are not
encumbered by the conservation and are considered unbuildable. The proposed
development is accessible from Hilltop Road, a county street. The development

reguires extensive site development work to be marketable as residential lots.



REAL PROPERTY TAXES

2010-2011 Fiscal Year

Variable Direct Total Tax

APN Land Improve. Total Taxes Taxes Taxes Rate
087-130-002 $59,434 $0 $59,434 3692 $150 3842 1.1843%
087-140-037 $54,042 $0 $54,042 $630 $150 $780 1.1658%
087-171-025 $75,578 $0 $75,578 $875 $155 $1,030 1.1577%
087-140-038 $113,466 $0 $113,466 31,312 $165 $1.467 1.1563%
087-130-003 $108,062 30  $108,062 $1,255 $150 31,405 1.1614%
087-110-007 $108,063 30  $108,0863 $1,250 $150 $1.400 1.1567%
087-110-008 $108,063 30  $108,063 $1,250 $150 $1,400 1.1567%
087-110-009 $54,031 $0 $54.031 $625 $150 $775 1.1567%
087-110-010 $52,992 $0 $52,992 $625 $150 $775 1.1794%
087-110-011 $189,110 $0  $189,110 $2,188 $150 $2,338 1.1570%
087-053-005 381,047 30 $81,047 $942 $150 $1,092 1.1623%
087-110-012 $151,289 30  $151,289 $1,751 $150 $1,901 1.1574%
087-130-004 $2,173 30 $2,173 $25 $152 $177 1.1321%
087-171-026 377,804 30 $77,804 $900 3155 $1.055 1.1567%
087-181-024 $1,020 50 $1,020 $0 30 3G 0.0000%
087-191-022 $1,020 $0 $1,020 $0 50 30 0.0000%
087-120-001 $6,646 $0 $6,646 $76 $150 $226 3.4005%
087-181-025 $0 30 30 50 30 $0 0.0000%
087-220-001 $1,010 30 $1,010 $11 30 $11 1.1321%
087-044-036 $21.612 $0 $21,612 $255 3150 $405 1.1799%
087-045-001 $579 30 $579 30 $0 50 0.0000%
087-045-002 $579 50 $579 50 50 $0  0.0000%
087-045-004 $579 30 $579 30 30 $0  0.0000%
087-045-006 $579 50 $579 50 30 $0 0.0000%
087-045-007 $579 $0 $579 30 30 $0  0.0000%
087-045-008 $877 $0 5877 30 30 30 0.0000%
Total $1,270,237 $0 $1,270,237 $14,662 $2,417 $17,078



PROPERTY MAP.



DESCRIPTION OF LOTS

Overview

The proposed development consists of eight lots. Seven of the lots range in size from
3.3 to 12.4 acres while the iargest lof, Lot 8, contains 147.9 acres and is aimost fuily
encumbered by a Forever Wild Conservation Easement. Each lot includes a building
envelope that allows for the construction of a single family house. The property also
includes seven APN’s confaining a total of 11.7 acres located within Lot 8, but on the
northern portion of the property. The lots are located outside the conservation
easement area and are considered unbuildable. A description of each lot and

discussion of site development costs follows.

Description of Lots

LLA Lots 1 and 2 contain 7.4 and 12.4 acres, respectively, and are located at the
southeast area of the property. Both building envelopes are located near the road at
the higher elevation of the parcels. The remainder of the parcels are fairly steep and

does not appear to be usable. The lots have partially blocked views toward the east.

LLA Lots 3 and 4 contain 6.5 acres each and are located near the eastern portion of
the property, near the entrance to the project. These lots are located at a lower
elevation than the other lots and have only partial views toward the east. The building
envelopes are located near the center of each parcel. The two lots also wrap around in-
holding property owned by the City of Healdsburg and a private property owner.

LLA Lots 5 and 6 contain 3.3 and 3.5 acres, respectively, and are located toward the
eastern portion of the property. The extension of Hilltop Road bisects Lot 6. The
building envelope of each lot is located near the street and the supporting site area

appears to be moderately sloped. The lots have partially blocked views toward the

east.

LLA Lot 7 contains 11.4 acres and is located near the northeast corner of the property.

The lot abuts the road along its southern boundary. The building envelope is located at

-32 -



the rear of the lot, at a lower elevation. Access to the building environment would have

to be from a long driveway across the width of the lot. The lot appears fo have views

toward the northeast.

LLA Lot 8 contains 147.9 acres and represents the peak and highest elevations of Fitch
Maouniain. The lot is almost entirely encumbered with the Forever Wild Conservation
Easement. The building envelope is located outside the conservation easement area,
in a triangular shaped area located near the eastern portion of the parcel. The building
envelope is also located near the building envelopes of Lot 1 and 2, also near Hilltop
Road. Access to the building envelope is from a future driveway extension from the
road. The view from the building envelope is partially blocked due to the heavy tree
growth. The three building envelopes (Lots 1, 2 & 8) are clustered together and most
likely a common driveway would be used by all lots. The remainder of Lot 8 is heavily
forested, very steep in many places but has interior paths that meander through the
parcel. The utility of the most of the parcel is limited due to its heavy wooded condition,

high costs related to fire maintenance and difficult access.

Miscellaneous Lots

The property also includes seven APN’s containing a total of 11.7 acres located on the
northern portion of the property. The lots are located outside the conservation
easement area. These lots are located above River View Drive and abut a portion of
North Fitch Mountain Road. The lots are extremely steep and appear to be inaccessible
due to their steep ferrain.  The lots are considered unbuildable but would offer a privacy
buffer to Lot 8.

Site Development Costs

An estimate of site development costs was undertaken by Carlile-Macy, dated January,
2011. Costs were developed for earthwork related to road work, street work, septic
system costs, cost of storm drains, extension of water sysiems and overhead utilities.
The cost estimate includes costs that would typically incurred by the developer and
costs incurred by the future lot owner. These costs have been segregated on the

foliowing page. Costs that are typically incurred by the lot purchaser include road prep

-33-



for the driveway to each building envelope, base for the driveway, AC for the driveway,

the septic system on each lof and the water storage tank on each lot.

Total site development costs were estimated at $1,419,000 and include a 20%
contingency. However, costs that will be incurred by the lot owners are estimated at
$663,960. The developer costs are estimated at $754,994 including the 20%
contingency. Total developer costs of $755,000, rounded, equate to $94,375 per lot,
based on eight lots. Typical site development costs for more urban oriented subdivision
developments range from $50,000 to $100,000 per lot. Thus, the estimated costs

appear appropriate.

- 34 -



FITCH MOUNTAIN PROPERTY
SITE DEVELOPMENT COSTS - 2011

Developer Lot Owner Total Costs
Earthwork
Clear and Grub Road $9,850 $9.850
Ciear and Grub Driveway $90,000 $90,000
Road Prep - Hilltop $19,700 $19,700
Road Prep - Driveway $51,360 $51,360
Erosion Control $10,000 $10,000
Roadside Ditches $21,250 $21,250
Total $150,800 $51,360 $202,160
Street Work
Base - Road $29,700 $29,700
Base - Driveway $20,460 $20,460
Base - Turnarounds $1,320 $1,320
Base -Turnouts $3,388 $3,388
AC Road $48,600 $48 600
AC Driveway $33,480 $33,480
AC Turnaround 52,160 $2,160
AC Turnouts $5,544 $5,544
Switchback $15,000 $15,000
Total $105,712 353,940 $159,652
Sewer
Septic Systems $400,000 $400,000
Storms Drains
Cuivert $16,000 $16,000
Riprap $4,000 34,000
Total $20,000 30 $20,000
Water Systems
Pumping Systems $20,000 $20,000
Water Main $87,500 $87,500
Valves $2,400 $2,400
Water Line to BE $38,750 $38,750
Regulators $6,000 $6,000
Individual Lot Tanks $48,000 348,000
Main 20,000 gal Tank $26,000 $26,000
Total $180,650 $48,000 $228,650
Utlilities
Overhead Utilities $172,000 $172,000
Subtotal Costs $629,162 $553,300 $1,182,462
Contingency (20%) $125,832 $110,660 $236,492
Grand Total $754,994 $663,960 $1,418,954
Rounded $755,000 Rounded $1,419,000

-35 -



Summary

Seven of the lots range in size from 3.3 acres to 12.4 acres. The largest lot, Lot 8,
contains 147.9 acres and is almost entirely encumbered by a Forever Wild Easement.
A small portion of Lot 8 is outside the conservation easement area and includes the
building envelope. Most of the lots have partial views fo the east. Each of the lots
includes a building envelope area that requires a driveway access from Hilltop Road.
Each lot will require installation of a mound septic system, extension of water lines from
a mutual water system and exiension of utility poles with power. The property also
includes seven APN'’s containing 11.7 acres that are located on the northern portion of
Lot 8 and are considered unbuildable. These lots are located outside the conservation

easement area.

-36 -



HIGHEST AND BEST USE

Definition

According to the Third Edition of The Dictionary of Real Estate Appraisal, a publication

of the Appraisal Institute the Highest and Best Use is defined as follows.

That reasonable and probable use that supports the highest present value, as
defined, as of the effective date of the appraisal. Afternatively, that use, from
among reasonably probable and legal alternative uses, found to be physically
possible, appropriately supported, financially feasible, and which results in the
highest land value.

The definition differs somewhat for improved property and vacant property; however,
four criteria must in effect be met for both. The highest and best use must (1) be
physically possible, (2) be legally permitted, (3) be feasible, and (4) produce the highest

return or value.

Implied in this definition is recognition of the contribution of a specific use of the
community environment or to the community's development goals, in addition to wealth

maximization of individual property owners.

The highest and best use is that use which is most likely to produce the greatest return
over a given period of time. Only those uses which are natural, probable, and legally
permissible may be properly considered tenable. Thus, it may be defined as the
available use and program of future utilization which produces the highest present value
to the land.

Even when improvements exist on a site, it is possible that the current use does not
represent the highest and best use. An estimate of highest and best use requires two
separate analyses: the highest and best use of the property as improved, and the
highest and best use of the property as if vacant. The purpose of the separate anaiyses

is to ensure consistency of uses between the subject land and land sales used to value

-37 -



the subject site, as well as to determine if the existing improvements have contributory

value which warrants their continuance.

Since the subject property is currently unimproved, it is necessary to consider only the
highest and best use of the site as if vacant. | have analyzed the highest and best use

for the property within the following parameters:

Highest and Best Use as If Vacant

Physically Possible

The physical characteristics of the site appear to be adequate for a rural residential
development. Significant site development work is required to bring the lots to a

marketable condition.

Legally Permissible

The highest and best use of vacant land is typically that use {or uses} permitted by the
existing zoning ordinance. One exception is when a zone change or use variance can
likely be obtained. The subject property consists of eight ACC's that include a
designated building envelope. Residential development is legally permitted.

Economically Feasible

The subject property includes 8 ACC's that can include seven smaller rural parcels
(Lots 1 through 7) and a large rural parcel (Lot 8), all of which can be developed with a
single family house. Demand for smaller residential parcels is very weak. In addition,
the market for such properties suffers from an over-supply of lots that have been taken
back in foreclosure. However, the market for larger rural parcels remains moderately
strong due to the limited supply of such properties and their overall appeal to wine
country buyers. Based on the weak demand for smaller residential lots, it appears that
the subject’'s smaller lots would be effectively competing with the supply of REO city
lots with city services. Demand for smaller residential lots is expected to remain weak
for several years, until the REO market has shrunk.

-38 -



Maximally Productive

The subject property could be developed with eight rural residential lots based on the

configuration of the ACC’s.

Conclusion

The market for rural residential lots has been impacted by the high level of REQ's and
the subsequent over-supply of city lots in Healdsburg. Demand for smaller residential
lots is not expected to return until the overall residential market improves. Thus,
development of the Fitch Mountain project should be placed on hold until the overall

residential market improves.

- 30 _



THREE APPROACHES TO VALUE

The estimation of market value is a procedure in which the scope of the appraisal
problem is defined, data is collected and analyzed, appraisal techniques are applied,
value indicators are derived through one or more of the traditional approaches to value

and the various value indicators are reconciled into a final value estimate.

There are three major approaches io real property valuation, the Sales Comparison

Approach, The Income Approach and the Cost Approach.

The Sailes Comparison Approach

The Sales Comparison approach to value is a method of estimating market value by
comparing the subject property to similar properties that have recently sold. Comparison
is facilitated by the calculation of unit values that are adjusted to reflect differences
between the subject and the comparable for such factors as terms of financing, market

conditions, and physical characteristics. The reliability of this process is dependent

upon:

e The availability of comparable data.
®* The verification of that data.
®* The degree of comparability and the exient of necessary adjustments for the

differences.

» The absence of nontypical conditions affecting the sale price of properties.

In this appraisal we are using the Sales Comparison Approach as one of the
approaches from which we are deriving value. We have researched sales of rural

residential parcels with development potential.

- 40 -



The Income Approach

The Income Approach to Value is based upon the economic principle that the value of
an income producing property is the present worth of anticipated future benefits which
comprise the annual income stream (cash flow or net income) and the reversion
benefits (resale value). The net income is estimated by deducting from the gross annual
income an appropriate allowance for vacancy and operating expenses. The net income

can be converted into a present value estimate using a capitalization process.

There are various methods of capitalization that are based upon the inherent
assumption concerning the pattern of the income stream, as well as the quantity,

quality, and durability of the income stream.

The Direct Capitalization Method applies an overall capitalization rate to a singie year
net operating income (NOI). By dividing the estimated NOI by an appropriate
capitalization rate, the value estimate by the Income Approach is derived. This is
appropriate where the income stream, either actual or estimated, is generated by rental

rates at or near the fair market level.

When the pattern of the anticipated income stream is irregular due to an absorption or
stabilization period for a new project, or due to existing leases that will terminate during
a future period, the Discounted Cash Flow Analysis is considered to be a valid and
appropriate method. The Discounted Cash Flow Analysis is a method to estimate the
present worth of the future income stream by discounting each successive period of
anticipated cash flow or net income by an appropriate discount rate. The indicated
Market Value utilizing this method is the sum of the present worth of each projected
annual net income stream (before depreciation and taxes); and the present worth of the

reversion, or potential resale benefits.

In this approach, | am using a subdivision analysis with a discounted cash flow {o value

the income stream of the proposed project.

_47 -



The Cost Approach

The Cost Approach to Value utilizes a method in which the value of the property is
derived by estimating the reproduction or replacement costs new of the improvements,
deducting there from depreciation due to all causes atiributable to the improvements,
and then adding the Market Value of the land. This method is based on the theory of
substitution, which implies that a knowledgeable buyer will pay no more for the real

property than the cost of producing a comparable property of similar utility.

The Cost Approach was not ulilized in this report since it is not applicable in rural lot

sales valuation.
Conclusion

The Sales Comparison Approach and the Income Approach to Value are applied and

the two approaches are reconciled to arrive at a final value conclusion.

-47 -



SALES COMPARISON APPROACH

Methodology

The Market Value of the subject property will be estimated by the direct sales
comparison approach, utilizing recent sales and/or listings of similar rural land sales and
residential land sales. Those sales/listings which are considered to provide the most
meaningful comparison have been summarized on the following table. A discussion and
analysis of the comparable sales follows with a conclusion of estimated value for the

entire property with eight ACC’s and the subject’s eight individual lots.

Application

The appraiser has researched three groups of comparable sales. The first group of
sales includes five rural property sales that have the potential for residential
development. These sales are comparable to the subject property if sold in a bulk
condition before development. Each sale has been analyzed for similarities to the
subject and the appraiser has concluded with a unit value per acre for the entire subject
property. The second group of sales includes three rural residential property sales that
are comparable to the subject’s Lot 8, which contains 147.9 acres. While only a small
portion of Lot 8 can be developed due to the Forever Wild Conservation Easement, the
property has a building envelope outside the easement area, located near the terminus
of Hilltop Road. The third group of sales includes five residential lot sales that are
comparable to the subject Lots 1 through 7. These sales represent both urban and rural
lots similar in size and development potential to the subject’s smaller lots. The sales
from Group Two and Group Three provide a basis for arriving at the retail value for the
eight lots. The retail value for each lot has been incorporated into a cash flow

subdivision analysis in the Income Approach section.

-43 -



Discussion of Rural Property Sales (Group One Sales)

Rural Residential Sale No. 1 is the July, 2010 sale of a 212.0 acre property located at
6531 Bennett Valley Road in the Bennett Valley area of unincorporated Santa Rosa,
Sonoma County. The property represents a rural residential parcel with no
improvements. The property consists of rolling hills and grazing tand and has desirable
views of the valley. The property sold with a tentative map for the development of four
lots ranging in size from 41 acres to 77.5 acres. The property includes four wells and
six potential septic areas, although no engineered perc systems. The property is zoned
RRD B6 SR 40/40 acre minimum, which allows for up to five rural residential lots. The

property sold for $2,400,000, or $11,321 per acre.

This comparable is similar to the subject in terms of access, view amenity, location and
natural attributes but superior to the subject in terms of topo features. It is inferior to the
subject in terms of utility services. A downward adjustment of 10% was made for the
subject’s conservation easement, a downward adjustment of 5% was made for the
subject’s overall amenities while an upward adjustment of 5% was made for inferior

utility services. The adjusted unit value for the comparabie is $10,189 per acre.

Rural Residential Sale No. 2 is the January, 2009 sale of an 85.0 acre vacant parcel
located at 13555 Highway 20 in Clearlake Oaks in Lake County. The property
represents a rural residential property with access to city services. The property has
both Clear Lake and canal frontage. The property also has development potential with
a minimum of four lots. The property sold for $860,000, or $10,118 per acre. The
property is zoned RR, Rural Residential by the County.

This comparable is similar to the subject in terms of view amenity and natural attributes
but superior to the subject in terms of access and topo features. it is inferior to the
subject in terms of location. It is also superior to the subject in terms of utility services.

It is smaller than the subject and also has inferior development potential. A downward
adjustment of 10% was made for the subject’s conservation easement, a downward
adjustment of 5% was made for the subject’s overall amenities. A downward adjustment

of 20% was made for size and a downward adjustment of 10% was made for utilities.

_44 -



Address

APN

Sale Date
Sales Price
Acres
$lAcre

Zoning

Development Pot.

Utilities

Location (View)

Topography

Subject.

" Fitch Mountain |

""" Healdsburg

Sonoma County . -

Various

1968.70

RRD-B8
Conservation Easement

(8) ACC's

Mutual water
and seplic
Utilities to site

Long Views
and Obscure Views

Sloping

4
§

COMPARABLE RURAL PROPERTY SALES

' Comp 1

/6631 Bennett. Valley Rd.
Santa Rosa -

" Sonoma County |

049-010-048 & 049

7/9/2010
$2,400,000
212.00
$11,321

RRD-B6 40/40

{(4) Lois
with approved TM

{4) wells with
required septic
Utitities to site

Local Views

Sloping

Group One Sales

. .Con'_lpz_ :

13556 Hwy 20

. Clearlake Oaks.
Lake County

006-560-16, 17, 18, 19

1/15/2009
$860,000
85.00
$10,118

RR

(4) Potential Lots
Public water and sewer
Utifities to site
Local Views

Level

S Comp3

Litite Buckhorn Ranch

20400 Coleman _Valléy Rd "

' _'Occid'ental o
_Sonoma County

101-090-001
097-210-004 & 005

4/18/2007
$5,650,000
471.00
$11,996

RRD CC B6 SR 160/640

3ACC's

Utilities to site
Springs cnsite

Panoramic views from highest
elevation

Rolling to steep terrain

- Comp4-

500 Walker Road -

Petaluma

"’ Sonoma County

022-050-008, 007
008 & 009

1/18/2006
$2,700,000
367.00
$7.357
LEA B6 100 2

Williamson Act

Potential for (3) Lots
through zoning

Utilities to site
35 acre-foot reservoir
No well water available

No views

Rolling terrain

Comp 5

19160 King Ridge Road

.. Cazadero '
. Sonoma County

106-240-008, 011-014,
106-240-016,018,018

141212007
$3,500,000
722.4
$4.845
RRD B6 160

Portion BR

7 ACC's
Merged to 4 ACC's
after purchase

Utilities at Street
Springs and no septic

Rural location
Heavily forested

Gentle fo steep terrain



ADJUSTMENT GRID

Subject Comp 1 Comp 2 Comp 3 Comp 4 Comp 5
$ Unit Value $11,321 $10,118 $11,096 $7,357 $4,845
Property Rights Fee Simple Fee Simple Fee Simple Fee Simple Fee Simple Fee Simple
Financing Cash Eq. Cash £q. Cash Eq. Cash Eq. Cash Eq. Cash Eq.
Conditions of Sale Market Market Market Market Market Market
Market Conditions 12/15/2010 7/9/2010 1/15/2009 411812007 1/18/2006 11122007

Inspection
Date of Sale Similar Similar Downward Downward Downward
-15% -15% -16%
Adjusted $/Acre $11,321 $10,118 $10,196 $6,253 $4,118
Conservation Easement Superior Superior Superior Superior Superior
-10% -10% -10% -10% -10%
Access Similar Superior Inferior Similar Inferior
View Similar Similar Superior inferior Infarior
l.ocation Similar Inferior Inferior Inferior Infarior
Topo Superior Superior Similar Superior Inferior
Natural Attributes Similar Similar Similar infarior Inferior
Overall Adj. -5% -5% 5% 15% 20%
Size of Property Simitar Smailer Larger Larger Larger
-20% 20% 20% 25%
Utilities Inferior Superior Inferior Inferior Inferior
5% -10% 5% 5% 5%
Develop. Potential Similar Inferior Inferiar Inferior Similar
10% 10% 10%
Total Adjustments -10% -35% 30% 40% 40%
Adj.. Unit Value $10,000 $10,189 $6,576 $13,255 $8,755 $5,766



HENDOCTHO

COMPARABLE SALES MAP

SOHOHA
0o

y fo0}

101

e ”
SLAKE

SEC. cueanike
2\ A

.
- HOWHTAIN
: " ‘1 STATE
: } FOREST
: \
Y n ﬁ LAKE
S %, ! {é) \
O 4 \'“ o . LAKE
- %\m&ms&
¥
o ; 6 - 7%, P
j STEVENSD! L
HEALDSBURG STRTE P
SUBJECT H
CALSTOGA !
v i X,
. 3
WINDSOR
-
AT
HELENA
il SANTA b . P 9
' ROSA \_\
I 2L
OMP 4 SUGARLOAF N
~  fIoeE
SEBASTOROL \smr{ A R
&
HOHNERT 3 .
AR .
SONOHA \ [TUTI
© coTAT!
101 oo 1 i
souom{' ]
PETALUMA .t
AE "
O b, )
R : £
~. U =
“ AaE
—— R A '%%
A AMERIC
ﬁmgif'. o PN = CANYOR _
el
W :
srezr N ey &
(AE \ \ Y
NOVATO - - ” Y E‘“ >
BABLS e
;’j gAY
A0 oRakes _ —
i BAY ’ . (




COMPARABLE SALES MAP

Mendoging

itter S

e BAARTLETT

Samalnga E3 3 3 % MTN. RAVGE
S prings A%, g Gy i : = Farest

Hationa!

i’[ngtan 5 -

aliey

ﬁ’f:s&nac;:\L
O

indian Yalley

A

smark Publishers

> ‘"sugﬁnunannx
“L.'\?

Hs R T

3 o : ! <

An = R y A
A, M Kenoeti . B ety
Koaocil Bay

Estates

k]
SPRUCE GROVE
A0

3
<z \‘f(od’&
a by E
Yy g Hébegs o~ W
L_umunfliumm Aiman e
"0 ) G,
" !nmca; § | c S v
snrer Crask 2, ia ¥ ™
Compyround @ -3 O{ ufsgﬁyg
Bogyt Mauntain |-~
Demasstoation
B Stete =
farest ; é%I“-?, &
H B LA S
Py ™ - W o e Ve :%ﬂ ARABIAN LN
3 R e ABTAN
: £ Harbin k j % 2. BOWCHER LI
Hot Springs a» % 3. GUENDG LN
W%, Yy HARTMARN. \Mj/a. COMSTOCK
ngbi,n:% EXT I
Shmrlimrer pring e -




Finally, an upward adjustment was made for inferior development potential. The

adjusted unit value for the comparable is $6,576 per acre.

Rural Residential Sale No. 3 is the April, 2007 sale of a 471.0 acre property known as
Little Buckhorn Ranch located at 20400 Coleman Valley Road in Occidental, Sonoma
County. The property represents a rural residential property with an older single family
house and barns in addition to older septic system and springs. The improvements had
minimal value. The property consists of rolling hills, grazing land and has panoramic
views at the peak elevation of 1,200 feet. The property included (3) ACC’s containing 8
acres, 19 acres and 436 acres that were perfecied after the sale in January, 2008. The
property sold for $5,650,000, or $11,996 per acre. The property is zoned RRD CC B6
SR 160/640 acre minimum, which allows for one primary residence and Ag employee

residence per 160 acres with a minimum parcel size of 640 acres.

This comparabie is similar to the subject in ierms of topo features and natural attributes
but inferior to the subject in terms of access and location. It is also superior to the
subject in terms of view amenities. It is aiso superior to the subject in terms of view
amenities. It is larger than the subject and is also inferior to the subject in terms of utility
services and development potential. A downward adjustment of 15% was made for
date of sale. A downward adjustment of 10% was made for the subject’s conservation
easement, an upward adjustment of 5% was made for the subject’s overall amenities
while an upward adjustment of 20% was made for size. An upward adjustment of 5%
was made for inferior utility services and an upward adjustment of 10% was made for
inferior development potential. The adjusted unit value for the comparable is $13,255

per acre.

Rural Residential Sale No. 4 is the January, 2006 sale of a 367.0 acre property located
at 500 Walker Road in the unincorporated area of Petaluma, Sonoma County. The
property represents a rural residential property with no improvements and limited water
availability. The property included a 35-acre reservoir and is primarily grazing land. The
property was encumbered by a Williamson Act. The property sold for $2,700,000, or
$7,357 per acre. The property is zoned LEA B6 100 Z, which allows for three parcels

based on zoning.

- 45 -



This comparable is similar to the subject in terms of access but inferior to the subject in
terms of view amenities, location and natural atiributes. |t is superior to the subject in
terms of topo. lt is also larger than the subject and is inferior to the subject in terms of
utility services. Finally, it is inferior to the subject in terms of development potential. A
downward adjustment of 15% was made for date of sale. A downward adjustment of
10% was made for the subject's conservation easement, an upward adjustment of 15%
was made for the subject’s overall amenities while an upward adjustment of 20% was
made for size. An upward adjustment of 5% was made for inferior utility services and an
upward adjustment of 10% was made for inferior development potential. The adjusted

unit value for the comparable is $8,755 per acre.

Rural Residential Sale No. § is the January, 2007 sale of a 722.4 acre property located
at 19160 King Ridge Road in the Cazadero area of Sonoma County. The property
represents a rural residential property with older improvements of minimal value, utilities
at the street and springs. The property is located in the Austin Creek watershed area
and is heavily forested with steep and undulating terrain. In addition, the location of the
property is somewhat isolated. The property sold for $3,500,000, or $4,845 per acre.
The property is zoned RRD B6 160 acre minimum, which allows for one primary
residence and Ag employee residence per 160 acres. The property sold with (7) ACC’s,
however, after the sale the (7) ACC’s were merged into (4) ACC’s.

This comparabile is inferior to the subject in terms of access, view, location, topo
characteristics and natural attributes. [t is larger than the subject and is inferior to the
subject in terms of utility services. It is similar to the subject in terms of development
potential. A downward adjustment of 15% was made for date of sale. A downward
adjustment of 10% was made for the subject’s conservation easement, an upward
adjustment of 20% was made for the subject’s overall amenities and an upward
adjustment of 25% was made for size. An upward adjustment of 5% was made for

utilities. The adjusted unit value for the comparable is $5,766 per acre.

The adjusted unit values for the comparable sales within Group One range from $5,766

per acre {o $13,255 per acre.

- 46 -



Analysis of Market Data

Property Rights Conveyed

All the sales were analyzed represent fee simple transactions. The subject is partially
encumbered by a Forever Wild Conservation Easement, which is an encumbrance upon
the fee simple interest in the property. The conservation easement requires the property
owner to mainfain the property to certain preservation standards with oversight by the
District. This is considered a burden on ownership. None of the comparable sales
included a conservation easement and are considered superior to the subject. | have
adjusted each of the sales downward by 10% for their superior property rights relative to

the subject.

Financing Terms

Adjustments for financing terms are warranted when a property is purchased subject to
non-market financing arrangements. Non-market financing can include seller-carried
notes or assumable loans with interest rates below (or above) terms currently
achievable. All sales utilized invoived the transfer of all-cash, or included notes reported

to be at market rates at the time of sale. No adjustments were required for financing.

Condition of Sale

Each of the property transfers included herein were "arms-length" transactions where
the sellers and buyers were not under undue duress or atypical motivations. No

adjustments were applied for condition of sale.

Date of Sale

Adjustments for date of sale are due to changing market conditions in the investment,
leasing or development of similar properties. The sale dates range from January, 2006
to July, 2010, or up to five year ago. Rural land sales that have residential development
potential require extensive lead times for development due to the requirements for

approval of the subdivision, approval of the perc systems and installation of the water

-47 -



systems. The market for rural properties appreciated from 2003 to 2006 and has
declined modestly since 2006 to reflect the slowdown in residential sales. | have
adjusted the older sales that occurred in 2006 through 2007 downward by 15%.

Amenities
Amenity adjustments are necessary when access, view features, location, topo and
natural attributes characteristics of the comparable properties are different than those of

the subject. The comparable sales have been adjusted downward 5% to upward 20%

for these features.

Physical Characteristics

Adjustments for physical characteristics are necessary when these differences are
reflected in the prices paid for comparable properties. Physical differences of

significance include size, utility services and entitements for development.

Size

The comparables range in size from 85.0 to 722.4 acres, bracketing the subject with
198.2 gross acres. | have adjusted Sale No. 2 downward by 20% for smaller parcel size
and have adjusted Sales Nos. 3 through 5 upward by 20% to 25% for larger parcel size.

Utilities
Sale Nos. 1, 3, 4 and 5 are slightly inferior to the subject in terms of availabie utilities and
have been adjusted upward by 5%. Sale No. 2 includes public water and sewer and has

been adjusted downward by 10%.

Entitlements

Fach of the comparable sales has some level of entitlements for rural residential
development. However, the ability to perc, water availability and other development
issues are outstanding on some of the properties. Sale No. 1 included a TM for four
parcels and is considered similar to the development potential of the subject. Sale No.
2 included the potential for development but did not have entittements. | have adjusted
this sale upward by 10%. Sales Nos. 3 and 4 included less intensive development

- 48 -



potential than the subject and have been adjusted upward by 10%. Sale No. 5 has
similar development potential to the subject and no adjustment was made.

Conclusion of Unit Value per Acre

The adjusted values range from $5,766 fo $13,255 per acre with most in the range from
$8,755 per acre to $13,255 per acre. The subject appears to be slightly superior in
outstanding entitlements and should have a unit vaiue at the upper end of the range of
the comparables. The subject is most comparable to Sale Nos. 1 and 3. Each of these
sales has the least amount of adjustments, indicating their overall closer comparability to
the subject. These sales provide a range in value from $10,189 per acre to $13,255 per
acre. However, Sale No. 1 provides the best support for the subject due to its smallest

amount of adjustments.

| have concluded with a unit value of $10,000 per acre, close to the unit value of the two
most similar sales and at the upper end of the range of all the sales due to the subject’s
slightly superior development potential. The value of property is as follows:

$10,000 per acre x 198.7 acres = $1,987,000

Rounded = $1,990,000

-49 -



Discussion of Rural Residential Land Sales and Smaller Lot Sales (Group

Two and Three Sales)

The following residential sales are comparable to Lots 1 through Lot 8. Group Two
sales are more comparable to Lot 8 while the Group Three sales are more comparable
to Lots 1 through Lot 7.

Group Two Sales

Rural Residential Land Sale No. 1 is the December, 2010 sale of a 165.8 acre parcel
located at 5187 Wallace Creek Road in the unincorporated area of Healdsburg, Sonoma
County. The property is located in the Mill Creek area, approximately fifteen miles from
central Healdsburg. The Mill Creek area is more isolated than properties located closer
to town. This property represents a sloping parcel with obscure views. The property
includes a well and 4 bedroom perc. Development on the property is limited to a single
family house. The property sold for $650,000, or $3,920 per acre.

Rural Residential Land Sale No. 2 is the May, 2010 sale of a 160.0 acre parcel located
at 4390 Wallace Creek Road in the unincorporated area of Healdsburg, Sonoma County.
The property is located in the Mill Creek area, approximately ten miles from central
Healdsburg. The property represents a sloping parcel with obscure views. The property
includes a well and 4 bedroom perc. Development on the property is limited 1o a single
family house. The property sold for $525,000, or $3,281 per acre.

Rural Residential Land Sale No. 3 is the March, 2010 sale of a 170.3 acre parcel
located at 3000 Sweetwater Springs Road in the unincorporated area of Healdsburg,
Sonoma County. The property includes open pasture areas and several potential home
sites amidst rolling hills. The property includes views of the pasture areas coupled with
a very desirable setting. The property includes a well and (2) 3 bedroom percs.
Development on the property is limited to a single family house. The property sold for
$1,850,000, or $10,863 per acre.

-50 -



Address

APN

Sale Date
Sales Price

Site Area (acres)

$/Acre

Zoning

Devel. Pot.

Utilities

Location {View)

Topography

COMPARABLE RURAL RESIDENTIAL LAND SALES
Group Two Sales

“‘Subject. - Compt ot oo Comp2oc o0 Compdl
Fitch Mountain . 5187 Wallace Creek Rd -~ 4390 Wallace Creek Rd 3000 Sweetwater Springs Rd
. Healdsburg -~ .- Healdsburg - - . Healdsburg. - " Healdsburg - -
Various 111-130-063 089-240-018 110-200-020
12/30/2010 5/25/2010 3/26/2010
$650,000 $525,000 $1,850,000
147.9 165.8 160.0 170.3
$3,920 $3,281 $10,863
RRD-BS RRD B6 240 RRD BG6 240 RRDOWA B6 160

Conservation Easement

(1) SFH (1) SFH {1} SFH (1) SFH
Mutual Water Well Well Well
and septic 4 Br perc 4 Br perc (2) 3 Br percs
Long Views Local Views Local Views Local Views
Steep Sloping Sloping Level and Sloping



ADJUSTMENT GRID

Subject Comp 1 Comp 2 Comp 3
$ Value $650,000 $525,000 $1,850,000
Property Rights Fee Simple Fee Simple Fee Simple Fee Simple
Financing All Cash Cash Eq. Cash Eq. Cash Eq.
Conditions of Sale Market Market Market Market
Market Conditions 1211512010 12/30/2010 5/25/2010 3/26/2010
Date of Sale Similar Similar Simitar
$/Acre $3,920 $3,281 $10,863
Conservation Easement Superior Superior Superior

-10% -10% ~10%
Access inferior Inferior Similar
View Inferior Inferior Simifar
Location Similar Similar Similar
Topo Similar Similar Superior
Natural Attibutes Similar Similar Superior
QOverall Adj. 10% 10% -“10%
Size Similar Simitar Similar
Utilities Inferior tnferior tnferior

5% 5% 5%

Develop. Pot. Similar Similar Similar
Total Adjustments 5% 5% -15%
Adj Value/Acre $5,000 $4,116 $3,445 $9,234



COMPARABLE SALES MAP

i KA , St QQ;LN_,; 2 f\jﬁg
| :
LAk B g
- ) ‘;;—» CLEARLAXE
101 B o0 Ti_ - L3 :
: ’*-x ot e NS 2
' H’.”MAJN
i d\ STATE
FOREST
% LAKE
_\ w )
3 £ b
o e H f101 o
5 \\ : ﬁ ROBERT (OIS
¥ 4 STEVENSD:
SOHGHA HEALDSBURG SUBJECT ! STATE PARK
e CALISTOGA
' F?
CREEK STATE ;
' 5 . ™ saNT
- $ HELENA
X SANTA S
ROSA N
L\-_ 3
/ o,
SURARLQAF N
i N RIDGE
3, SEBASTOPOL YTATE PARK
3
k. r <t + " ROHNERT \i \\
- paRK i
X e S sonom \
\ el 4 e COTAT
Fl@f N, 101 co
morae P ARIR g "“\g SONOMA
sy L0 SN PETALUMA

LAKE

(k\ 8 RRFESSA \-.

N a

]

X

NAPA \fi/
YGUNTVII.LEgg \‘
3 LasE
CLREY
NAPA i (%‘
g ‘
EID
BENICIA
1/
.,
N O



Group Three Sales

Lot Sale No. 4 is the February, 2011 sale of a 0.49 acre parcel located at 320 East
Street in central Healdsburg. The property represents a level city lot with city services.
Up to three single family homes can be developed on the property. The property sold
for $1,100,000, or $366,667 per potential lot.

Lot Sale No. 5 is the October, 2010 sale of a 0.20 acre parcel located on Clear Ridge
Road in central Healdsburg. The property represents a sloping city lot with city services.
The property sold for $112,500. The property is located within a partially completed
subdivision that has a significant number of lot foreclosures.

Lot Sale No. 6 is the August, 2008 sale of a 0.25 acre parcel located at 1026 Sunset
Drive in central Healdsburg. The property represents a level city lot with city services.
The property sold for $298,000.

Lot Sale No. 7 is the January, 2010 sale of an 8.0 acre parcel located at 822 Dry Creek
Road in the unincorporated area of Healdsburg. The property represents a level parcel
that requires septic and well services. The property can be developed with a single
family home. The property is level and has long views of Dry Creek. The property sold
for $635,000.

Lot Sale No. 8 is the April, 2010 sale of a 5.0 acre parcel located at 585 V. Grant Street
in the unincorporated area of Healdsburg. The property represents a level parcel that
requires septic and well services. The property can be developed with a single family
home. The property is level and has long views of Dry Creek. The property sold for
$740,000.

_5] -



Address

APN

Seller

Buyer

Doc No.
Confirmation
Sale Date

Sales Price

Site Area (Acres)

$/Potential Lot

Zoning

Location (View)

Topography

Development Pot.

Utilities

Subject .

Fitch Mountain -

" Healdsburg

Various

3.3to 12.4 acres

Partial Views

Steep
Single family house
on each lot

Mutual water
and septic

COMPARABLE SMALLER LOT SALES

Compa

320 East Street

Healdsburg - .

002-192-001 & 014
City of Healdsburg
Plaza East Partners
2011-14586
Seller
2/1442011
$1,100,000
0.49

$366,667

DRD

Central city

Level

(3) SFH's

City services

Group Three Sales

Comp5 -

"' Clear Ridge Road
" Healdsburg - -

003-200-011
Barnes Family Trust
Dunham
2010-91852
MLS, Broker
10/22/2010
$112,500
0.20

$112,500

R-1-40,000, BC

Neighborhood views

Sloping

Single family house

City services

- Comps . .
1026 Sunset Drive
Healdsburg .
087-234-010
Wittke Trust
Sacks
2008-73115
NDC, MLS
8/11/2008
$298,000
0.25

$298,000

R-1-10,000
Long views
Partially Level
Single family house

City Services

o C"_Dmp 7

/822 Dry Creek Road .-
" 'Healdsburg

089-090-002 . :
Mariani Ranch
Mauren
2010-7087
NDC, MLS
1/28/2010
$635,000
8.00

$635,000

LIABB 20 Z

Neighborhood views

Level

Single family house

Septic and well

S Comp 8.

565 W. Grant Strest

: _Héaldsburg A

089-110-003
Robbins
Coston
2010-33622
NDC, MLS
4/23/2010
$740,000
5.00

$740,000

LiA B6 20
Neighborhood views
Level
Single family house

Septic and well



ADJUSTMENT GRID

Subject Comp 4 Comp 5 Compé6 Comp 7 Comp 8
$ Value/Lot $366,667 $112,500 $298,000 $635,000 $740,000
Property Rights Fee Simple Fee Simple Fee Simple Fee Simple Fee Simple Fee Simple
Financing Cash Eq. Cash Eq. Cash Eq. Cash Eq. Cash Eq. Cash Eg.
Conditions of Sale Market Market Market Market Market Market
Market Conditions 121152010 2/14/2011 10/22/2010 8/11/2008 1/28/2010 4/23/2010
Date of Sale Similar Similar Superior Similar Similar

-15%
$/lot $366,667 $112,500 $253,300 $635,000 $740,000
Access Superior Superior Similar Superior Superior
Views inferior Similar Similar Superior Superior
Location Similar Similar Similar Similar Similar
Topo Superior Superior Superior Superior Superior
Overall Adj. -5% -10% -5% -15% -15%
Size of Property Smaller Smaller Smaller Similar Similar
25% 25% 25%
City services Superior Superior Superiar Inferior Inferior
-10% -10% -10% 5% 5%
Total Adjustments 10% 5% 10% -10% -10%

Adjusted Value $403,333 $118,125 $278,630 $571,500 $6686,000



COMPARABLE SALES MAP

- N D2 N
| ; \«%\
L paxe | & (e A _
e ‘~§ CLEARLAKE
SNDOCTHO 7w G R
e
o . \
1
—— —_— —_— —L
[ -—w 3 v——)lL N
R P L e T i B A R 5T
,‘H_—'**_—‘——J:a,ufg \""\-v \"“a ™~ mﬁﬁ
- i CLOVERDALE : pids.
%Eg 5 ! E 1 . FOREST
LAKE %\ r \
o SONGHA LAKE
Y RECREATION \\\‘“‘ 4 3 Y
g AREA M\}T ‘ A6 \_m__ co ) e
e P = \ - B&?R?ES%
SUBJECT s }
§ 6 }" ROBERT QU1 7 &g 3‘&\
SO# OMP& L STEVENSD)
0 ; STATE PARK
aa_
Lo CALISTOGA f: N
AUSFIR N e 5
CREEK STATE N
RECREATIOH WINDSOR - ‘%;E;:
3 ™ S
: HELENA
) SANTA b AN
b ) : "W ROSA v
- N
B~ - ¢ HAPA
i / SUSARLOAF o
N RIDSE
= SEBASTOPOL \srArf PARK YOUNTVILLE
< %
ROHNERT 3 >
oARK
Lk SONOMA ~, wr
RN Fpossnse, f’* COTAR o \1
e 102 - -
wﬁg&g)i"égj Ny \\ sanomal’ }- 1 ] .
R yﬁ‘ i PEPRLUMA § 1 [ o
} hgemeie . ~
s - e T]
R e i |
R & a; |
- : 52 &
a’\fit@? . -
i AMERICAN [
MARIN o N\l ool 7
& SN LA == (T
cr,:;!‘a.m “‘tﬁtv - \\ &
LasE L d A _
NOVATC Bl - \\ ‘é:\}: 20
/ PABLO e P
/ i[ BAY H\\‘
/ A K




Analysis of Market Data

Property Rights Conveved

All the sales were analyzed represent fee simple fransactions. The subject Lot 8 is
partially encumbered by a Forever Wild Conservation Easement, which is an
encumbrance upon the fee simple interest in the property. The conservation easement
requires the property owner to maintain the property to certain preservation standards
with oversight by the District. This is considered a burden on ownership and | have
adjusted Sale Nos. 1 through 3 downward by 10% for the encumbrances associated with
the subject's conservation easement. The subjeci's Lots 1 through 7 are not
encumbered by a conservation easement, thus; no adjustment was required to the

comparable sales for this element.

Financing Terms

Adjustments for financing terms are warranted when a property is purchased subject to
non-market financing arrangements. Non-market financing can include seller-carried
notes or assumable loans with interest rates below (or above) terms currentty
achievable. All sales utilized involved the transfer of all-cash, or included notes reported

to be at market rates at the time of sale. No adjustments were required for financing.

Condition of Sale

Each of the property transfers included herein were "arms-length" transactions where
the sellers and buyers were not under undue duress or atypical motivations. No

adjustments were applied for condition of sale.
Date of Sale
Adjustments for date of sale are due to changing market conditions in the investment,

leasing or development of similar properties. The sale dates range from August, 2008 to

February, 2011 with the oldest sale having occurred over three years ago. | have

-52 .-



adjusted the older sale that occurred in 2008 downward by 15%. The remaining sales

occurred in 2010 and 2011 and reflect current market conditions.
Amenities

Amenity adjustments are necessary when access, view, location, topo and natural
attributes characteristics of the comparable properties are different than those of the
subject. Group Two and Three comparable sales have been adjusted downward from

16% to upward 10% for these features.

Physical Characteristics

Adjustments for physical characteristics are necessary when these differences are
reflected in the prices paid for comparable properties. Physical differences of

significance include size, utility services and entitliements for development.

Size

Group Two sale comparables range in size from 160.0 to 170.3 acres, bracketing the
subject’s Lot 8 which contains 147.9 gross acres. No adjustment was made for size.
Group Three sale comparables range in size from 0.20 acres to 8 acres, as compared to
the subject lots than range in size from 3.3 acres to 12.4 acres. | have adjusted Sale

Nos. 4, 5 and 6 upward by 25% for smaller size.

Utilities

Sale Nos. 1, 2 and 3 are slightly inferior to the subject's Lot 8 in terms of available
utilities and have been adjusted upward by 5%. Sale Nos. 4, 5 and 6 are superior to the
subject’s Lots 1 through 7 and have been downward by 10%. Sale Nos. 7 and 8 have
inferior utility services to the subject’s Lots 1 through 7 and have been adjusted upward
by 5%.

Entitlements
The Group Two comparable sales could be developed with a single family house, based
on zoning, similar to the development potential of Lot 8. Group Three comparable sales

were single family lots, similar to the subject’s Lots 1 through 7. However, Saie No. 4

-53-



can be divided into three lots. However, the proposed development on this property is

only for one unit. No adjustment was made for development potential.
Conclusion of Retail Value for Subject Lots

The adjusted parcel values reflecting the Group Two comparables range from $3,445
per acre to $9,234 per acre. Based on Lot 8's central location but modified by it steep
terrain and heavy wooded areas, | have selected a unit value at the lower end of the
range, or $5,000 per acre for the value of Lot 8. The conclude value for Lot 8 is
$739,500 ($5,000/acre x 147.9 acres), rounded to $740,000.

The adjusted lot values for the Group Three comparables range from $118,125 per lot to
$666,000 per lot. The wide range reflects the different characteristics of each
comparable sale. Comparable Sale Nos. 4 through 8 represent city lots that are
substantially smaller than the subject lots but are considered by market participants as
desirabie locations for single family development. The market supply of city lots is
substantially greater than that of rural lots. Comparable Sale Nos. 7 and 8 are rural
parcels that are similar to the subject lots due to their more rural location and simitar
size. They provide a good indication of value for smaller rural lots within the greater
Healdsburg area. However, smaller rural lots rarely come on the market and are in
greater demand due to their limited supply. The subject’s smaller lots, representing Lots
1 through 7, are closely matched to the combined characteristics of all of the comparable
sales. Thus, a unit value for the subject lots should be toward the middle of the range of
the comparable sales. Each of the subject lots has slightly different locational attributes
and gross size. The more desirable lots are Lots 1, 2 and 7 due to their higher elevation,
location at the terminus of Hilitop Road and the close proximity of the building envelope
to Hilltop Road. | have assigned a unit value of $450,000 to each of these lots. The
remainder of the lots are located at the lower elevation of the development, lack some
level of privacy and require more extensive driveway construction to reach the building

envelope. | have assigned a value of $350,000 to Lots 3 through 6.

A table with each retail lot value is provided on the foliowing page.

-54 .



RETAIL VALUE OF FITCH MOUNTAIN LOTS

LOT1

LOT2

LOT 3

LOT 4

LOT 5

LOT 6

LOT7

LOT 8

Retail
Size Value Lot Description
7.2 $450,000  Building envelope at upper
elevation of parcel
124 $450,000 Building envelope at upper
glevation of parce!
6.5 $350,000 Located at lower elevation
6.5 $350,000 Located at lower elevation
3.3 $350,000 Located at lower elevation
3.5 $350,000  Parcel split by subdivision road
11.4 $450,000 Building envelope located at
lower elevation of parcel
147.9 $740,000 Building envelope near Lot 1
and Lot 2 building envelope
Includes misc. lots
198.7 $3,490,000 Total Retail Value

- 55 -



INCOME APPROACH TO VALUE

Methodology

The Income Approach to Value is based upon the economic principle that the value of an
income producing property is the present worth of anticipated future benefits; which are
comprised of the annual income stream (cash flow or net income) and the reversion benefits
(resale value). The net operating income is estimated by deducting from the gross annual
income an appropriate allowance for vacancy and operating expenses. The net income can
be converted into a present value estimate using a capitalization process. There are various
methods of capitalization that are based upon inherent assumptions concerning the pattern of

the income stream as well as the quantity, quality and durability of the income stream.

The Direct Capitalization Method applies an overall capitalization rate to a single year net
operating income (NOI). By dividing the estimated NOI by an appropriate capitalization rate,
the value estimate by the Income Approach is derived. This is appropriate where the income

stream, either actual or estimated, is generated by rental rates at or near the fair market level.

When the pattern of the anticipated income stream is irregular due to an absorption or
stabilization period for a new project, or due to existing leases that will terminate during a
future period, the Discounted Cash Flow Analysis is considered to be a valid and appropriate
method. The Discounted Cash Flow Analysis is a method to estimate the present worth of the
future income stream by discounting each successive period of anticipated cash flow or net
income by an appropriate discount rate. The indicated Market Value utilizing this method is
the sum of the present worth of each projected annual net income stream (before depreciation

and taxes); and the present worth of the reversion, or potential resale benefits.

Application

The subject property is an eight lot rural residential subdivision. The Income Approach
projects the gross lot sales over a sell-out period. Deductions from gross lots sales include
sales commission, site development costs, escrow fees, real estate taxes and profit incentive

over the sales period. The resulting cash flow is discounted to the present at a range of

- 56 -



discount rates to arrive at the net present value of the development. The following

assumptions have been made in the analysis. The DCF is provided on the table below.
Sell-out Period for Lots

it is projected that the proposed subdivision will be able to sell-out over a three year period.
This represents the sale of three lots in Year 1, three lots in Year 2 and two lots in Year 3. The
subject development will be competing with listings of other rural and city lots. However,
based on my research, it appears that there is a shortage of rural lot listings and the subject’s
smaller scale project should be competitive with other rural lots in the greater Healdsburg area.
A sell-out period of three years reflects current market conditions and would be indicative of a
DOM of 4 to 6 months.

Gross Revenue
Gross revenue for the project is the aggregate retail value of the lots, or $3,490,000.
Deductions for Costs

The cost necessary to sell the lots are broker's commission estimated at 5%, escrow fees
estimated at 0.50% and real estate taxes over the three year seli-out period. Site
development costs have been estimated at $755,000. Real estate taxes are based on the net
present value of the project times the tax rate. The tax declines at the lots are sold on a
percentage basis of retail value basis. Broker's commission is estimated at $139,500 and
escrow fees are estimated at $13,950. Profit to the developer is estimated at 12% of gross
proceeds, or $334,800. Total costs to develop and market the project are estimated at
$1,266,277, or $158,285 per lot and 36.3% of gross lot sales. Net proceeds from the
development are estimated at $583,053 in Year 1, $940,670 in Year 2 and $575,852 in Year 3.

Discount Rate

The most significant risk in the development is the underlying risk of significant changes in the
real estate market and any drastic changes in interest rates. The local real estate market is

relatively stable although has been slightly impacted by the greater impact on state wide real

-57-



estate prices. Interest rates are not projected to increase significantly over the next three
years. The project is relatively small, consisting of eight rural lots, and the entire development
and sell-out is projected to occur within three years. Thus, a range in discount rates from 12%
to 18% has been applied in the analysis of the development. The selected discount rates are
typical for residential real estate development and reflect the risk of development and changes

in holding costs.

| have concluded with a discount rate of 15% to reflect the lower risk exposure of the
development due to its smaller development size. The total return to the developer would be
the profit incentive of 12% plus the discount rate of 15%, or 27%. Discussions with developers
indicate that current total yields on real estate development should be in the range of 25% to
30% to reflect the risk of market conditions. Thus, the overall return for the subject

development appears reasonable.

The estimated value of the property is as follows:

ONE MILLION SIX HUNDRED THOUSAND DOLLARS
($1,600,000)

-58 -



Period

Lot 1
Lot 2
Lot 3
Lot 4
Lot5s
Lot 6
Lot 7
Lot 8

Gross Lot Sales
Number of Lot Sales

Sales Commisions

Site Development Costs
Escrow Fees

Real Estate Taxes*
Profit at 12%

Total Costs

Cash Flow

Discount Rate

Net Present Value

*RE Tax calc

FITCH MOUNTAIN SUBDIVISION ANALYSIS

5.0%

0.5%

12.0%
15.0%
18.0%

Year 1

Year 2
Year 3

Projected Lot Sell-out

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Total
$450,000
$450,000
$350,000
$350,000
$350,000
$350,000
$450,000
$740,000
$1.640,000 $1,150,000 $700,000 $3,490,000
3 3 2
-$82,000 -$57,500  -$35,000 -$139,500
-$755,000 -$755,000
-$8,200 -$5,750 -$3,500 -$13,950
-$14,947 -$8,080 -$1,648 -$23,027
-$196,800 -$138,000 -$84,000 -$334,800
-$1,056,947  -$209,330 -$124,148 -$1,266,277
$583,053 $940,670 $575,852 32,223,723
PV PViLot PV/iAcre
$1,680,359 $210,045 $8,538
$1,596,916 $198.615 $8,114
$1,620,169 $190,021 $7.724
$1,600,000 $200,000 $8,052

-50.

PV times tax rates plus direct charges
2% increase in taxes x 53% for remaning unsoid retail units
2% increase in taxes x 20% for remaning unsold retail units

$/Lot

$436,250

-$17,438
-$94,375
-$1,744
-$2,878
-$41,850

-$158,285

$277,965



SUMMARY AND VALUE CONCLUSION

The appraisal process has considered two standard Approaches to Value. A

summary of the values derived from each approach are as follows:

Sales Comparison Approach: $ 1,990,000
income Approach to Value: $ 1,600,000

The reconciliation of value is the final step in the appraisal process and involves
weighing the value techniques in relationship to their substantiation by market
and other sources of data, as well as their reliability and comparability to the

subject.

The Sales Comparison Approach is considered reliable where there is sufficient
sales data from comparable properties in the same or similar markets available
for analysis. In this case, | had a number of sales of larger rural parcels that
were being developed with rural home sites. The properties were in differing
stages of development and included rural lots that on average were similar than
the subject lots. Most of the properties also required septic systems and water
from either individual wells or a mutual water system. The sales were analyzed
based on sales price per acre. | relied heavily upon this approach due to the
similarity of each sale to the subject and their rural residential development

potential.

The Income Approach to Value is based on the assumption that the value of an
income producing property is measured by its earning ability. | have analyzed
the subject property based on a Discounted Cash Flow analysis. Retail Iot
prices were researched for the smaller Lots 1 though 8. From the gross lot sale
revenue was deducted marketing costs, profit and site development costs. The

resulting cash flows were discounted to the present and represent the value of

- 60 -



the property in a subdivision analysis format. This approach is more detailed in
its analysis and provides strong support for the concluded value. | also relied

heavy on this approach due to its detailed analysis.

Both approaches support each other and are a good reflection of the
methodology a potential buyer would utilize in analyzing the subject property. |

have concluded with a value at the middle of both values.
Based on the data presented herein, it is the opinion of the appraiser that the
estimated market value of the Fee Simple Interest in the property, as of

December 15, 2010 is:

ONE MILLION EIGHT HUNDRED THOUSAND DOLLARS
($1,800,000)

-61 -



Dana W. Burwell, MAI, ASA

Real Estate Valuation - Consultation
Post Office Box 115, Healdsburg, CA 95448
Tel: 707-433-7490 - Fax: 707-633-1727
email: danaburwell@aol.com

June 27, 2013

Mr. Stuart Martin, SR/WA

Sonoma County Agricultural Preservation & Open Space District
747 Mendocino Avenue, Suite 100

Santa Rosa, California 95401

Re: Fitch Mountain Property

Six Rural Residential Lots

Unincorporated Healdsburg, Sonoma County, California
Dear Mr. Matrtin:
I have modified my value conclusion for the six lot development located on Fitch Mountain in Healdsburg,
California, based on both new information and modified assumptions concerning the development of the
property. This amendmentis intended to be used in conjunction with the original appraisal dated December

15, 2010. Thus, the original unit values have been relied on in determining retail value per lot and value per
gross acreage.

The following changes have been incorporated into the new analysis:

e The entire property contains 167.94 acres, a reduction from the previous appraisal assumption.

e Lot 4 and 7 are not included in the valuation. However, these lots will benefit from site
improvements to the remainder of the development.

e Lot 8 acreage has been reduced to 135.07 acre, a reduction of 12.83 acres.

e Lot 4 and 7 will have access/utility easements to each lot.

The following new values have been applied in the analysis:

The gross value for the entire 167.94 acre Fitch Mountain property remains at $10,000 per acre. The value
of the entire property is $1,679,400, rounded to $1,700,000.

Lot 8 has also been valued at $5,000 per acre, as presented in the original appraisal. The retail value of Lot
8 is estimated at $675,000 for the 135.07 acre property, a reduction from the previous value of $740,000,
based on 147.9 acres. The retail values of the remaining lots are the same as before. The retail value for
the entire property is $2,625,000.

Attachment 11A


mailto:danaburwell@aol.com
sjackson
Typewritten Text
Attachment 11A


The entire project has been reduced from 8 lots to 6 lots and this reduction in number of lots has reduced
the absorpt